
 

 

 
 

 
 

County Hall 
Rhadyr 

Usk 
NP15 1GA 

 
Wednesday, 2 March 2022 

 

Notice of meeting  
 

Strong Communities Select Committee 
 

Thursday, 10th March, 2022 at 2.00 pm, 
 
 

Please note that a pre meeting will be held 30 minutes prior to the start of the 
meeting for members of the committee.  

 

AGENDA 
 

Item No Item Pages 
 

PART A: SCRUTINY AND CRIME DISORDER MATTERS 
 
No matters to discuss. 

 

PART B STRONG COMMUNITIES SELECT COMMITTEE 

1.   Apologies for absence 

 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest 

 
 

3.   Public Open Forum. 
 

Select Committee Public Open Forum ~ Guidance  
 

Our Select Committee meetings are live streamed and a link to the live 
stream will be available on the meeting page of the Monmouthshire 
County Council website 
 
If you would like to share your thoughts on any proposals being 
discussed by Select Committees, you can submit your representation 
via this form 
 

 Please share your views by uploading a video or audio file (maximum of 
4 minutes) or; 

 Please submit a written representation (via Microsoft Word, maximum 
of 500 words) 
 

 

Public Document Pack

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk%2FmgCalendarMonthView.aspx%3FGL%3D1%26bcr%3D1&data=04%7C01%7CRichardWilliams%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7Cdea1dfae480341d0457108d93bb35f02%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637606464744676017%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=2coXXLd7oTGoOlkC5mfbfQVSnmvKVa8zWwDLn5yNqfA%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fiweb.itouchvision.com%2Fportal%2Ff%3Fp%3Dcustomer%3Acategory_link%3A%3A%3A%3A%3ACUID%2CLANG%3AAF982C24C2572B3224E054315401AAED8CC0A7A0%2CEN%26P_LANG%3Den&data=04%7C01%7CRichardWilliams%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7Cdea1dfae480341d0457108d93bb35f02%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637606464744685972%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=zVeAfmo8771iiapn7U8Uw8v8O67hn0Vnag7A4Isrc30%3D&reserved=0


 

 

You will need to register for a My Monmouthshire account in order to 
submit the representation or use your log in, if you have registered 
previously.  
 
The deadline for submitting representations to the Council is 5pm three 
clear working days in advance of the meeting. 
 
If representations received exceed 30 minutes, a selection of these 
based on theme will be shared at the Select Committee meeting.  All 
representations received will be made available to councillors prior to 
the meeting. 
 
If you would like to suggest future topics for scrutiny by one of our 
Select Committees, please do so by emailing 
Scrutiny@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 

4.   Public Spaces Protection Order on Dog Controls 
 
 
To consider the findings of a 3 month public consultation on a Public Spaces 
Protection Order for Dog Controls (dog fouling, dog exemption areas, dogs on 
leads areas) and make recommendations to Cabinet. 

 

1 - 106 

5.   Budget Monitoring 
 
Scrutiny of the budgetary position (revenue and capital) for services falling 
within the committee’s remit at Month 9. 

 

107 - 154 

6.   To confirm minutes of the previous meeting 

 
155 - 158 

7.   Action list 

 
 

8.   Strong Communities forward work programme 

 
159 - 160 

9.   Cabinet & Council forward work programme 

 
161 - 174 

10.   Date and time of next meeting 

 
 

 
Paul Matthews 

 
Chief Executive / Prif Weithredwr 

 
 

 

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fiweb.itouchvision.com%2Fportal%2Ff%3Fp%3Dcustomer%3Acategory_link%3A%3A%3A%3A%3ACUID%2CLANG%3AAF982C24C2572B3224E054315401AAED8CC0A7A0%2CEN%26P_LANG%3Den&data=04%7C01%7CRichardWilliams%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7Cdea1dfae480341d0457108d93bb35f02%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637606464744685972%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=zVeAfmo8771iiapn7U8Uw8v8O67hn0Vnag7A4Isrc30%3D&reserved=0
mailto:Scrutiny@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

 

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
CYNGOR SIR FYNWY 

 

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE COMMITTEE IS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

County Councillor Tony Easson Dewstow; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Christopher Edwards St. Kingsmark; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Linda Guppy Rogiet; Liberal Democrats 
County Councillor Roger Harris Croesonen; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Val Smith Llanbadoc; Independent Group 
County Councillor Jamie Treharne Overmonnow; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Ann Webb St Arvans; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Sheila Woodhouse Grofield; Welsh Conservative Party 

 
Public Information 

 
Access to paper copies of agendas and reports 
A copy of this agenda and relevant reports can be made available to members of the public 
attending a meeting by requesting a copy from Democratic Services on 01633 644219. Please 
note that we must receive 24 hours notice prior to the meeting in order to provide you with a hard 
copy of this agenda.  
 
Watch this meeting online 
This meeting can be viewed online either live or following the meeting by visiting 
www.monmouthshire.gov.uk or by visiting our Youtube page by searching MonmouthshireCC. 
 
Welsh Language 
The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public through the medium of Welsh or 
English.  We respectfully ask that you provide us with adequate notice to accommodate your 
needs. 

 

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/


 

 

  

Aims and Values of Monmouthshire County Council 
 
Our purpose 
 
Building Sustainable and Resilient Communities 
 
Objectives we are working towards 
 

 Giving people the best possible start in life 

 A thriving and connected county 

 Maximise the Potential of the natural and built environment 

 Lifelong well-being 

 A future focused council 
 

Our Values 
 
Openness. We are open and honest. People have the chance to get involved in decisions that 

affect them, tell us what matters and do things for themselves/their communities. If we cannot do 

something to help, we’ll say so; if it will take a while to get the answer we’ll explain why; if we can’t 

answer immediately we’ll try to connect you to the people who can help – building trust and 

engagement is a key foundation. 

Fairness. We provide fair chances, to help people and communities thrive. If something does not 

seem fair, we will listen and help explain why. We will always try to treat everyone fairly and 

consistently. We cannot always make everyone happy, but will commit to listening and explaining 

why we did what we did.  

Flexibility. We will continue to change and be flexible to enable delivery of the most effective and 

efficient services. This means a genuine commitment to working with everyone to embrace new 

ways of working. 

Teamwork. We will work with you and our partners to support and inspire everyone to get involved 

so we can achieve great things together. We don’t see ourselves as the ‘fixers’ or problem-solvers, 

but we will make the best of the ideas, assets and resources available to make sure we do the 

things that most positively impact our people and places. 

Kindness: We will show kindness to all those we work with putting the importance of relationships 

and the connections we have with one another at the heart of all interactions. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

Monmouthshire Scrutiny Committee Guide 

Role of the Pre-meeting 

1. Why is the Committee scrutinising this? (background, key issues) 

2. What is the Committee’s role?  

3. What outcome do Members want to achieve?  

4. Is there sufficient information to achieve this? If not, who could provide this?  

5. Discuss the committee’s approach:  

- Agree the order of questioning and which Members will lead  

- Agree questions for officers and questions for the Cabinet Member  

Questions for the Meeting  

Scrutinising Performance  

1. How does performance compare with previous 
years? Is it better/worse? Why?  

2. How does performance compare with other 
councils/other service providers? Is it 
better/worse? Why?  

3. How does performance compare with set 
targets? Is it better/worse? Why?  

4. How were performance targets set? Are they 
challenging enough/realistic?  

5. How do service users/the public/partners view 
the performance of the service?  

6. Have there been any recent audit and 
inspections? What were the findings?  

7. How does the service contribute to the 
achievement of corporate objectives?  

8. Is improvement/decline in performance linked 
to an increase/reduction in resource? What 
capacity is there to improve?  

Scrutinising Policy  

1. Who does the policy affect ~ directly and 
indirectly? Who will benefit most/least?  

2. What is the view of service 
users/stakeholders? Do they believe it will 
achieve the desired outcome? 

3. What is the view of the community as a whole - 
the ‘taxpayer’ perspective?  

4. What methods were used to consult with 
stakeholders? Did the process enable all those 
with a stake to have their say?  

5. What practice and options have been 
considered in developing/reviewing this policy? 
What evidence is there to inform what works? 

6. Have all relevant sustainable development, 
equalities and safeguarding implications been 
taken into consideration? For example, what are 
the procedures that need to be in place to protect 
children?  

7. How much will this cost to implement and what 
funding source has been identified?  

8. How will performance of the policy be 
measured and the impact evaluated.  

Questions for the Committee to conclude…  

Do we have the necessary information to form conclusions/make recommendations to the executive, 
council, other partners? If not, do we need to:  

(i) Investigate the issue in more detail?  

(ii) Obtain further information from other witnesses – Executive Member, independent expert, 



 

 

members of the local community, service users, regulatory bodies…  

(iii) Agree further actions to be undertaken within a timescale/future monitoring report…  

 

 



 

 

  
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

 

1.1 To inform Members of the findings of a public consultation on plans to introduce a Public 

Spaces Protection Order, (PSPO), for dog controls in Monmouthshire under the provisions 

of the Anti–Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.  

 

1.2 To seek endorsement from Members to progress consultation with stakeholders 

responsible for public spaces in the county, including relevant council departments, town 

and community councils and private landowners, regarding the controls needed (dog 

fouling, dogs on leads / exemption locations) and areas in the county to be covered in a 

PSPO by such controls. 

 

1.3 To seek endorsement from Members for a draft PSPO, when progressed, to include: an 

offence for a person in charge of a dog when in a public space in the county failing to put a 

dog on a lead, of no more than 2 metres length, when directed to do so by an authorised 

officer where the dog is considered to be out of control or causing alarm or distress or to 

prevent a nuisance. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

2.1 Members consider the findings of the public consultation and comment accordingly on the 

potential introduction of a PSPO for dog controls relating to fouling, exclusion areas and 

dogs on leads areas for public spaces in the county. 

 

2.2 Environmental Health share the findings of the public consultation on dog fouling and dogs 

on leads / exemption areas, with relevant stakeholders responsible for public spaces in the 

county, to establish what controls, if any,  they consider are needed and to identify specific 

locations accordingly.  

 

2.3 Members consider, comment on and endorse the proposal for a draft PSPO, when 

progressed, to include for the following  offence: for a person in charge of a dog when in a 

public space in the county failing to put a dog on a lead, of no more than 2 metres length, 

when directed to do so by an authorised officer where the dog is considered to be out of 

control, or causing alarm or distress or to prevent a nuisance.  

SUBJECT: PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER FOR DOG CONTROLS 
 
MEETING:    Strong Communities Select Committee 
 
DATE:           10th March 2022 
 
DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED:   All 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

 

2.4      That a third report is presented to this Committee, following engagement with relevant 

stakeholders (as outlined in 2.2), to endorse a further public consultation on a draft Public 

Spaces Protection Order, if one is considered to be needed. 

 

2.5      That a fourth and final report is then provided to this Committee, further to public 

consultation feedback on the draft PSPO, for pre-decision scrutiny before the Order goes 

to Cabinet or Individual Cabinet Member, (Cabinet Member for Social Justice & 

Community Development), for decision.  

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 

3.1 A report to Members on the 12th March 2020 illustrated that, despite the efforts of 

responsible dog owners and many partners, dog fouling continues to be a problem in 

public spaces in the county. Fouling issues are often the trigger for requests for controls to 

be introduced in public spaces such as dogs on leads or exemption areas. While it is 

important that collaborative working on a local level continues through initiatives such as 

the Give Dog Fouling the Red Card group, it is also important that the Authority makes full 

use of the tools provided by legislation.  

 
3.2 The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 introduced new powers for use by 

Councils to address anti-social behaviour, including Public Spaces Protection Orders 

(PSPOs). Under the provisions of the Act, local authorities must be satisfied on reasonable 

grounds that the activity subject to an Order: 

- has, or is likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality. 

- is, or is likely to be, persistent or continuing in nature. 

- is, or is likely to be, unreasonable. 

- justifies the restrictions being imposed. 

 

3.3 The aim is to stop the unreasonable behaviour in public spaces by introducing restrictions 

on the use of an area. A public space is defined as ‘any place to which the public or 

any section of the public has access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by 

virtue of express or implied permission.’ 

3.4 When assessing what is ‘unreasonable’ activity, there is a need to balance the rights of the 

community to enjoy public spaces, with the civil liberties of individuals and groups who 

may be affected by any restrictions imposed. The March 2020 report recommendation to 

Members to endorse a public consultation on the introduction of a PSPO for dog controls, 

was agreed. 

3.5      The public consultation was delayed by the emergence of Covid 19. A wide ranging 3 

month consultation was undertaken from the 26th July to 26th October 2021.This 

comprised a bilingual introductory note explaining the PSPO considerations and a 

questionnaire. It was provided on the Council’s website for completion online, with a paper 

copy available on request. Awareness to the survey was raised on the Council’s social 

media accounts and direct messaging including to elected members, local business 

Page 2



3 
 

groups, dog interest organisations (RSPCA, Dogs Trust, Kennel Club), private landowners 

with responsibility for public areas and registered sports clubs. 

3.6      The introductory note and questionnaire is provided in Appendix 1. A total of 1330 were 

completed online and 4 paper copy returns, the vast majority 1264 (94.8%), marked as 

completed by residents; 931 (69.8%) of the returns by dog owners.  

3.7     The consultation sought views on the need for dog controls in a PSPO with regard to 

fouling, dog exemption areas and dogs on leads. The summary headlines are as follows, 

with a more detail analysis of the results inserted, for ease of reference, in each relevant 

section of the questionaire in Appendix 1. 

3.8      Dog Fouling. Currently the issue of dog fouling is addressed in the County through the 

Dogs (Foulng of Land) Act 1996. However the offence of failing to remove the faeces only 

covers certain designated land, as detailed in the Monmouthshire County Council (Fouling 

of Land by Dogs) (Monmouthshire) Designation Order (No 1) 1998, in Part 1 by general 

description and Part 2 specifically. It does not include all public spaces.  

3.9      PSPOs enable a more wide ranging application and may apply to any public place as 

defined in paragraph 3.3. 

3.10    The consultation results provide: 

• 798 (59.8%) consider dog fouling to be a problem, 536 (40.2%) that it is not.  

 

• Of the 798 who said fouling is a problem the majority 646 (81%) state they notice 

uncollected dog waste Always / Frequently, while 152 (19%) Sometimes / Rarely. 

 

• Of the 931 dog owners, 470 (50.5%) said that it is a problem, 461 (49.5%) that its 

not.  

 

• Of the 403 non dog owners, 328 (81.4%) said that it is a problem, 75 (18.6%) that 

its not. 

 

• 795 (59.6%) said they typically see uncollected dog waste on pavements or public 

footpaths; 158(11.8%) on parkland; 78 (5.8%) on sports pitches; 19 (1.4%) on 

playgrounds; 6 (0.5%) in cemeteries; 278 (20.8%) other locations. 

 

• 1163 (87.2%) support a control requiring dog owners to remove dog faeces if their 

dog fouls any land to which the public have access across the county; 171 (12.8%) 

do not. 

 

•  A response was received from the Dog’s Trust (full response provided in Appendix 

2) which included the following: 

 

Dogs Trust consider ‘scooping the poop’ to be an integral element of responsible 

dog ownership and would fully support a well-implemented order on fouling.  We 

urge the Council to enforce any such order rigorously. In order to maximise 

Page 3



4 
 

compliance we urge the Council to consider whether an adequate number of 

disposal points have been provided for responsible owners to use, to consider 

providing free disposal bags and to ensure that there is sufficient signage in place.  

3.11    It is evident from the consultation that the failure to ‘pick up’ after a dog has fouled 

continues to be an important issue in our environment which has a detrimental effect on 

the quality of life. This is likely to continue, despite the continuing efforts of responsible 

dog owners and the ongoing collaborative work with Town and Community Councils.  

3.12    Therefore a provision in a draft PSPO requiring people to clean up after their dogs, which 

foul on any public space in the county, appears to be a justified, proportionate response to 

the ongoing fouling problems. A public space may be privately owned, eg by the Canal 

and Rivers Trust, Registered Social landlords, Woodland Trust, NRW etc. These and other 

landowners were included in the consultation but minimal response received. It is 

therefore recommended that a further approach is made to inform them of the findings of 

the consultation, and seek their endorsement for all public space to be included in a draft 

PSPO. 

3.13    Dogs on Leads by Direction. Of those who responded to the consultation 1073 (80.4%) 

agreed to a new offence for failing to put a dog on a lead, of no more than 2 metres length, 

when directed to do so by an authorised officer where the dog is considered to be out of 

control or causing alarm or distress or to prevent a nuisance. This proposal was 

‘enthusiastically’ supported by the  Dogs Trust in their response: 

We consider that this order is by far the most useful, other than the fouling order, because 

it allows enforcement officers to target the owners of dogs that are allowing them to cause 

a nuisance without restricting the responsible owner and their dog. As none of the other 

orders, less fouling, are likely to be effective without proper enforcement we would be 

content if the others were dropped in favour of this order.  

3.14    In view of this consistent consultation response it is recommended that when a draft 

PSPO is progressed and consulted on it includes a county wide offence for failing to put 

a dog on a lead, of no more than 2 metres length, when directed to do so by an 

authorised officer where the dog is considered to be out of control or causing alarm 

or distress or to prevent a nuisance. This is a fair, proportionate means of dealing with 

dog control issues as they occur. 

3.15    Dogs on Leads Areas and Dog Exclusion Areas. These were considered in the 

consultation in response to concerns regarding fouling, dogs not properly controlled and 

the need for certain areas to be child or sporting user friendly. 

3.16    A summary of the consultation responses is provided in the table below: 

 Dogs on Leads Areas 
 

Dog Exclusion Areas 

Children’s playgrounds 
 

1237 (92.7%) agree / 
strongly agree. 
 

955 (71.6%) agree / 
strongly agree. 

Marked sports pitches 
 

1000 (75%) agree / strongly 
agree 

743 (55.7%) agree / 
strongly agree. 

Page 4



5 
 

 

School grounds 
 

1239 (92.8%) agree / 
strongly agree. 
 

897 (67.2%) agree / 
strongly agree. 

Cemeteries 
 

1141 (85.5%) agree / 
strongly agree. 
 

676 (50.7%) disagree / 
strongly disagree. 

   

3.17    Specifically with regard to Dogs on Leads Areas over 2100 comments were received for 

the 2 open dialogue questions. Reasons given for agreeing to such areas include owners 

having more control over their dogs so reducing the amount of uncollected faeces; reduce 

fouling levels on marked sports pitches / school grounds; and safety of children from out of 

control dogs. Reasons given for those in disagreement include dogs can be under control 

without being on leads and dogs require off lead exercise. 

3.18    Other public spaces are proposed in a number of survey responses for dogs to be kept on 

a lead including parks, canal tow paths etc as detailed in Appendix 1. 

3.19    The Dogs Trust accepted that ‘there are some areas where it is desirable that dogs should 

be kept on a lead’ but ‘urge the Council to consider the Animal Welfare Act 2006 section 9 

requirements (the 'duty of care') that include the dog's need to exhibit normal behaviour 

patterns – this includes the need for sufficient exercise including the need to run off lead in 

appropriate areas’. 

3.20    Specifically with regard to Dog Exclusion Areas over 1650 comments were received for 

the 2 open dialogue questions. Again the main themes for those who agree / disagree and 

other public spaces proposed are given in Appendix 1. 

3.21    The Dogs Trust ‘accepts that there are some areas where it is desirable that dogs should 

be excluded, such as children’s play areas, however we would recommend that exclusion 

areas are kept to a minimum and that, for enforcement reasons, they are restricted to 

enclosed areas’. The Trust advised ‘excluding dogs from all sports pitches for long 

stretches of the year is unnecessary. In some cases sports pitches may account for a 

large part of the open space available in a public park, and therefore excluding dogs could 

significantly reduce available dog walking space for owners’. 

3.22    The consultation shows that there are public spaces where the control of dogs can be 

cause for concern, particularly children’s playgrounds and school grounds. However the 

appropriateness and practicality of such controls needs further detailed consideration. 

There will be cost implications attributable to controls not least ensuring the areas 

concerned are properly enclosed or otherwise demarcated, sign posted and other 

provisions such as ‘tieing up posts’. Again some of these public spaces will be privately 

owned, for example by Registered Social landlords, Woodland Trust, NRW etc and there 

will be an expectation for any costs to be borne by the landowner. 

3.23    It is therefore recommended that a further approach is made to the stakeholders with 

responsibility for the areas under consideration, including relevant sections of the council, 

together with each Town and Community Council, to inform of the findings of the 

Page 5



6 
 

consultation and seek their view on the need for controls, if any, the nature of such 

controls and the location(s) concerned. 

 4. EQUALITY AND FUTURE GENERATIONS EVALUATION, (includes social justice, 

safeguarding and corporate parenting): 

 

4.1 The completed ‘Equalities & Future Generations Evaluation’ form is provided as Appendix 

Three, attached. 

 

4.2 There is a clear need to consider carefully the potential impact of a PSPO on different 

sections of our communities. Consultation responses include concerns for persons with 

certain disabilities not being able to pick up dog faeces, and consideration will need to be 

given to the application of appropriate exemptions in any draft PSPO. A common theme in 

the responses was concern regarding the impact of restricting access to parks, playing 

fields etc may have on persons with mobility issues. Walking dogs in such areas is cited 

as benefiting both dog and the owner.This will be conveyed to the stakeholders to take 

account of in their Dogs on Leads / Exclusion Area considerations. Any PSPO will need to 

ensure the varied needs of our communities are considered, positively impacting the 

wellbeing goal of a healthier Wales. 

 

5. OPTIONS APPRAISAL: 

 

5.1 To continue using the Monmouthshire County Council (Fouling of Land by Dogs) 

(Monmouthshire) Designation Order (No 1) 1998 or, as proposed, to further fully consider 

the legislative tools available in dealing with dog control issues in the county. 

 

5.2 The findings of the public consultation to help properly inform the next steps. In particular 

engagement with the sections in the council and other stakeholders responsible for public 

spaces, together with Town and Community Councils, to list the areas where controls are 

needed, their nature and reasons why needed. To consider the outcomes of the further 

engagement in a third report to Stronger Communities Select, and to seek endorsement of 

a further public consultation on a draft Public Spaces Protection Order 

 

6. EVALUATION CRITERIA: 

 

6.1 A progress report to Stronger Communities Select one year after implementation of a 

PSPO.  

 

6.2  A PSPO can be made for a maximum duration of up to three years, after which it may be 

extended if certain criteria under the Act are met. This includes that an extension is 

necessary to prevent activity recurring. Extensions can be repeated, with each lasting for a 

maximum of three years. A further consultation process is required if a PSPO time period 

is to be extended. 

 

 

 

 

Page 6



7 
 

7. REASONS: 

 

7.1 To ensure fair, transparent, efficient and effective discharge of powers available to the 

Council under the Act. 

  

8. RESOURCE IMPICATIONS: 

 

8.1 Costs of consultation to be absorbed by existing budgets. If a PSPO for dog controls is 

introduced there will be cost implications including for enclosing or otherwise demarcating 

designated areas, signage and enforcement, to be considered when appropriate in later 

reports. 

 

9. CONSULTEES  

           Social Care & Health DMT 

Strategic Leadership Team 

Head of Public Protection 

Head of Commercial, Property, Fleet & Facilities 

Head of Waste & Street Services 

Monitoring Officer and Head of Legal Services 

Chief Operating Officer for Mon Life 

Environment & Culture Manager  

Head of Governance, Engagement and Improvement 

Youth Offending Team Service Manager 

 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 

           Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and  Policing Act 2014: Anti-social behaviour powers 

Statutory guidance for frontline professionals. Updated August 2019. 

 

           Report to Strong Communities Select Committee ‘Public Spaces Protection Order’ for Dog 

Controls, 12th March 2020. 

 

11 AUTHOR: Huw Owen, Principal Environmental Health Officer 

 

12. CONTACT DETAILS: 

 Tel:  01873 735433 

 E-mail: huwowen@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix One: Public consultation on plans to introduce a PSPO on dog controls in the county, 

26th July to 26th October 2020, including results analysis. 

 

Appendix Two: Consultation response from Dogs Trust dated 13th August 2021. 

 

Appendix Three: Equality & Future Generations Evaluation 

Page 7

mailto:huwowen@monmouthshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

                                                              PUBLIC CONSULTATION  

HAVE YOUR SAY ON PLANS TO INTRODUCE A PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER ON DOG 

CONTROLS IN MONMOUTHSHIRE 

CONSULTATION START DATE 26th July 2021   CONSULTATION END DATE 26th October 2021 

BACKGROUND: 

Monmouthshire County Council has responsibility for the management and maintenance of public 

spaces across the county, of which we are fortunate to have so many amazing locations. The wealth 

of our open spaces is a huge attraction to residents, businesses and visitors to the county and 

supports good dog ownership. 

We recognise that the majority of dog owners act responsibly and keep their dog(s) under control, 

which includes clearing up after them in a public place. However the council receives a significant 

number of complaints regarding issues with dogs in public areas, in particular fouling. These 

continue despite the best efforts of the council and its partners to raise awareness of the anti-social 

nature of dog fouling and related matters. 

It is appropriate now to review the current controls in place to ensure they remain relevant and 

effective in maintaining a cleaner, healthier and safer place to live, work and visit. 

The Council is considering the introduction of a Public Spaces Protection Order to set out the dog 

controls in the county.  

WHAT IS A PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER (PSPO)? 

Introduced by the Anti - social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 a PSPO is intended to deal 

with any particular persistent and unreasonable behaviour that is having, or likely to have, a 

detrimental effect on the quality of life of persons in a defined area.  

The aim is to stop the unreasonable behaviour in public spaces by introducing restrictions on the use 

of an area. A public space is defined as ‘any place to which the public or any section of the public has 

access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by virtue of express or implied permission.’ 

A PSPO would replace any current related restrictions in place. Breach of a PSPO restriction is an 

offence liable on conviction in court to a fine of up to £1000. An authorised officer can issue a Fixed 

Penalty Notice of up to £100 In order to give an offender the opportunity of avoiding a breach going 

to court. 

So that fully informed decisions can be made we want to know your views. 

SURVEY 

Please tell us what you think by date 26th October 2021 

Visit: https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/public-spaces-protection-order-on-dog-controls-in-

monmouthshire/ Telephone to request a survey form: 01873 735420 

Page 9

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.monmouthshire.gov.uk%2Fpublic-spaces-protection-order-on-dog-controls-in-monmouthshire%2F&data=04%7C01%7CHuwOwen%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7C3196f051a82c4cfa653f08d9503299e2%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637629000517925453%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=ZmnUeFKTkPOpMb%2BrveaUow%2BryKcx2VMqDL7PQro4wzk%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.monmouthshire.gov.uk%2Fpublic-spaces-protection-order-on-dog-controls-in-monmouthshire%2F&data=04%7C01%7CHuwOwen%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7C3196f051a82c4cfa653f08d9503299e2%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637629000517925453%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=ZmnUeFKTkPOpMb%2BrveaUow%2BryKcx2VMqDL7PQro4wzk%3D&reserved=0


                                                                     PUBLIC CONSULTATION 

HAVE YOUR SAY ON PLANS TO INTRODUCE A PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER ON DOG 

CONTROLS IN MONMOUTHSHIRE 

 

CONSULTATION START DATE 26th July 2021 

CONSULTATION END DATE 26th October 2021 

 

1. I am competing this survey as: 

O a resident of Monmouthshire 

O a business person 

O an elected member 

O representing a charity or organisation  

O other: 

 

 

Results: 

A resident of Monmouthshire – 1264 
(94.8%) % 
 

A business person – 15 (1.1%) 
 
An elected member – 13 (1%) 
 

Representing a charity or organisation – 15 
(1.1%) 
 

Other – 27 (2%) 
 

 

 

2. Are you a dog owner? 

O Yes  

O No 

Results: 

Yes – 931 (69.8%) 

 No  - 403 (30.2%) 
 

Page 10



3. What is your postcode? 

 

 

DOG FOULING 

Current provisions: 

If a dog fouls at any time on designated land in Monmouthshire and the person in charge of the dog 

fails to remove the faeces, that person is guilty of an offence unless there is a reasonable excuse for 

failing to do so. 

The designated land is provided in the Monmouthshire County Council (Fouling of Land by Dogs) 

(Monmouthshire) Designation Order (No 1) 1998, in Part 1 by general description and Part 2 

specifically. It does not include all public spaces. 

4. Do you consider uncollected dog waste to be an issue where you live, work or visit in 

Monmouthshire? 

O Yes 

O No  

Results: 

Yes – 798 (59.8%) 

 No  - 536 (40.2%) 

 

 

Of the 931 dog owners, 470 (50.5%) said that it is a problem, 461 (49.5%) that its not.  

Of the 403 non dog owners, 328 (81.4%) said that it is a problem, 75 (18.6%) that its not. 

 

5. If yes please give details below: 

 
 

 

Results: 

798 comments provided. In the main responses relate to fouling on pavements, footpaths, 

sports pitches and parks, with a significant number also citing concerns of fouling in more 

remote locations such as canal tow paths, woods etc 

 

Page 11



6. If yes how frequently do you notice uncollected dog waste? 

O Always 

O Frequently 

O Sometimes 

O Rarely 

Results: 

Always – 232 
 

Frequently – 414 
 

Sometimes – 146 
 

Rarely – 6 
 

 

7. Where do you typically see uncollected dog waste: 

O Pavements  

O Public footpaths 

O Play grounds 

O Park land 

O Sports pitches 

O Cemetery 

O Other: 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Results: 

Pavements – 437 
 

Public footpaths – 358 
 

Play grounds – 19 
 

Parkland – 158 
 

Page 12



Sports Pitches – 78 
 
Cemetery – 6 
 

Other – 278 
 

 

278 comments provided in relation to ‘other’ locations including canal tow paths, forestry 

paths, river banks, country lanes. 

 

Do you support a control requiring dog owners to remove dog faeces if their dog fouls any land to 

which the public have access across the county, unless that person can show that: 

- has a reasonable excuse for failing to do so. Please note, being unaware of the fouling, 
whether by reason of not being in the vicinity or otherwise, or not having a device for or 
other suitable means of removing the faeces, shall not be a reasonable excuse. 

- putting the faeces in a receptacle eg a bin, which is provided for the purpose, shall be 
sufficient removal from the land. 

 
8. Do you agree or disagree with this control?  
 
O Yes (agree) 

O No (disagree) 

Results: 

 

 

 

9. Please give reasons for your answer in the box below: 

 

 

Results: 

1304 comments provided. The main theme is public health and responsible dog 

ownership. 

 

 

 

 

Yes – 1163 (87.2%) 

 No  - 171 (12.8%) 

Page 13



DOGS ON LEADS AREAS 

The Council recognises the need for dogs to be exercised off the lead in open spaces. The majority of 

dog owners are able to do so while still keeping their dogs under control. However where dogs are 

not properly controlled this can cause nuisance to other persons and other dogs using the area.  

The Council is mindful that there may be certain public areas where it is not appropriate to allow 

dogs to run free off the lead and is therefore considering the need to require dogs to be on a lead in 

some specified locations. 

10. To what extent do you agree or disagree with requiring dogs to be on leads in the following: 

 Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly 

Disagree 

Children’s 

playgrounds 

    

Marked sports 

pitches 

    

School grounds     

Cemeteries     

 

Results: 

Children’s playgrounds: 1237 agree / strongly agree 92.7%     

 

  

 

 

School grounds: 1239 agree / strongly agree 92.8% 

 

   

 

Strongly Agree 944    70.8% 

Agree 293     22% 

Disagree 66        4.9% 

Strongly 
Disagree 

31        2.3% 

Strongly Agree 878    65.7% 

Agree 361    27.1% 

  Disagree 69       5.2% 

Strongly 
Disagree 

26       2% 

Page 14



Cemeteries: 1141 agree / strongly agree 85.5%     

 

 

Marked sports pitches: 1000 agree / strongly agree 75% 

 
 

 

11. Please give reasons for your answer in the box below. If any area(s) concern you please tell us 

where: 

 

 

Results: 

1272 comments provided. 

Main reasons for agreement include:  

> Safety of children from both out of control dogs and faeces. 

> Children and adults may have a fear of dogs which dog owners do not appear to 

appreciate. 

> Fencing off playground areas would stop dogs having access to a place where children are 

playing. 

> Dogs on leads would lead to owners having more control over their dogs and would 

reduce the amount of uncollected faeces. 

> Dogs on leads would reduce fouling levels on marked sports pitches and school grounds.  

Some people mentioned that it is disrespectful to let dogs roam around in cemeteries 

without being on a lead. 

Strongly Agree 688     51.6% 

Agree 453     34% 

Disagree 150     11.2% 

Strongly 
Disagree 

43        3.2% 

Strongly Agree 727      54.5% 

Agree 273      20.5% 

Disagree 254     19% 

Strongly 
Disagree 

80         6% 

Page 15



Main reasons for disagreement include:  

> Dogs can be under control without being on leads, and dogs require off lead exercise. 

> If the pitches are not being played on it is ok for dogs to be off a lead.   

> Owners should be able to exercise judgement in relation to their dogs. 

> Dogs need a place where they can exercise freely and sports pitches and school grounds, 

outside school times, are such valued spaces. 

> Why the need to over control everything? Do not penalise responsible dog owners with 

well trained dogs. 

12. Are there any other public spaces where you feel dogs should be on a lead? If so please let us 

know the area(s) and your reason: 

 

 

Results: 

872 comments provided. Other than the options given in Q10 other public spaces include: 

public footpaths through fields, cycle paths, Bailey Park, Castle Meadows, Linda Vista 

Gardens, Caldicot Castle, Monmouth Brecon Canal. 

 

DOGS ON LEADS BY DIRECTION 

The Council is considering a new offence for failing to put a dog on a lead, of no more than 2 metres 

length, when directed to do so by an authorised officer where the dog is considered to be out of 

control or causing alarm or distress or to prevent a nuisance. This would assist officers dealing with 

problems when they arise without introducing overly restrictive measures on all dog owners. 

13. Do you agree or disagree with this as a new offence? 

O Yes (agree) 

O No (disagree)  

Results: 

Yes – 1073 (80.4%) 

 No  - 261 (19.6%) 

 

 

Of the 931 dog owners, 702 (75.4%) agreed with this as a new offence. 

Of the 403 non dog owners, 371 (92.1%) greed with this as a new offence. 

 

Page 16



14. Please give reasons for your answer in the box below: 

 

 

Results: 

1242 comments provided, the main response that it is a sensible, reasonable approach; 

although a number of strong opinions against including concerns over the practicality and 

nature of enforcement. 

DOG EXCLUSION AREAS 

The Council recognises the importance of outdoor exercise and play to good health and well being. It 

is vital that public spaces are accessible and child friendly as possible. Concern is raised on occasions 

that dogs should not be allowed access to certain areas as they impact on the use and enjoyment of 

those areas. 

The Council is therefore considering the need to exclude dogs from some specified public spaces. 

15. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the exclusion of dogs from the following: 

 Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly 

Disagree 

Children’s 

playgrounds 

    

Marked sports 

pitches 

    

School grounds     

Cemeteries     

 

Results: 

Children’s playgrounds: 955 agree / strongly agree 71.6% 

  

 

School grounds: 897 agree / strongly agree 67.2% 

Strongly Agree 700    52.5% 

Agree 255    19.1% 

Disagree 257    19.3% 

Strongly 
disagree 

122     9.1% 

Strongly Agree 607   45.5% 

Agree 290    21.7% 

Disagree 312   23.4% 

Page 17



  

 

 

Marked sports pitches: 743 agree / strongly agree 55.7% 

  

 

 

 

Cemeteries: 676 disagree / strongly disagree 50.7% 

 

 

 

 

 

16. Please give reasons for your answer in the box below. If any area(s) concern you please tell us 

where: 

 

 

Results: 

1229 comments provided. 

Main reasons for agreement include: 

These places are not suitable for dogs: 

- Dogs shouldn’t be in these areas. 

- Plenty of other places to walk dogs without being in these places 

- These places are not suitable as dog exercising places.  

- Unless a support dog  

- Even responsible owners may miss fouling, let alone irresponsible who do not pick 

up 

Public health / safety:  

- Fouling can cause public health issues  

- Not all mess is collected by responsible / irresponsible owners 

Strongly 
disagree 

125     9.4% 

Strongly Agree 531    39.8% 

Agree 212    15.9% 

Strongly 
disagree 

218    16.3% 

Disagree 373     28% 

Disagree 464      34.8% 

Strongly 
Disagree 

212      15.9% 

Agree 297      22.2% 

Strongly agree 361     27.1% 

Page 18



- People / elderly/children can feel intimidated/scared around dogs- should be 

protected 

- Dog mess is a health hazard, and these places should be protected 

- Not everyone likes dogs  

 

Not in children’s areas:  

- Dogs should not be around areas where kids are playing 

- Children should feel safe when playing 

- Kids areas should be fenced off to distinguish playground areas.  

- If play areas are fenced off, it allows the rest of the area to be safe for dogs  

 

Main reasons for disagreement include:  

No Exclusion- Leads/control preferred:  

- Exclusion too far, dogs on leads in these areas is suitable 

No exclusion- Family members:  

- Dogs are part of the family so should be included.  

- Many dogs are walked as part of the school run / sports matches to spectate so this 

will limit the access for families and be detrimental to all concerned. As long as the 

dogs are on a lead and owners responsible should not exclude.  

 

No Exclusions- responsible owners:  

- As responsible dog owners, people feel this is too far 

- Majority of people are responsible owners  

Allow dogs in cemeteries:  

- Many people take dogs to graves to help with support and grief 

- They are part of the family.  

- As long as they are on leads they should still be allowed in to cemeteries.  

- They act as a support to many elderly residents visiting graves 

17. Are there any other public spaces you feel dogs should be excluded from? If so please let us 

know the area(s) and your reason: 

 

 

Results: 

446 comments provided. Other than the options provided in Q15 other public spaces 

include:  

- Town centre/shops/eateries 

- Parks/gardens/picnic areas 

Page 19



- Canal towpaths/cycle paths 

- Farm land/Nature reserves 

- Public areas/green spaces/public events 

Comments not in favour of Dog Exclusion Areas include following themes: 

- To many restrictions as it is 

- Shouldn’t be excluded just on a lead is suffice 

- Biased against dog owners 

- Restricting where dogs can be walked 

- Owners with dogs should be encouraged as part of tourism 

- Increase enforcement and education- punish those irresponsible.  

- Dogs are family members, as long as under control should be with the family.  

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS 

18. Please add any further comments regarding the proposed Public Spaces Protection Order on 

dog controls in the box below: 

 

 

Results: 

591 comments provided.  

Main themes: 

> Generally not supportive of further restrictions / feel is unnecessary / should not be a 

focus for the council (87 comments). 

> Generally Supportive of intervention (51 comments). 

> Suggest should enforce existing laws / more wardens or improve signage (43 

comments). 

> Suggest it is punishing the majority due to the actions of a minority (42 comments). 

> Should provide dog friendly areas for dogs off leads etc / if restrictions imposed (36 

comments). 

> Questions how it will be enforced/policed/cost implications (32 comments). 

> Emphasise the importance of or suggest the need more dog bins (31 comments). 

> Suggest there should be a focus on education/training for dog owners of dogs (17 

comments). 

19. If you feel that any of these proposals will affect you as an individual because of any of the 

following (age, disability, gender reassignment, marital status, pregnancy and maternity, race, 

Page 20



religious belief, sex, sexual orientation, use of Welsh language, BSL or other languages) please give 

details below. 

 

 

Results: 

234 comments provided.  

Main themes: 

> concerns for persons with certain disabilities not being able to pick up dog faeces. 

> impact of restricting access to parks, playing fields etc may have on persons with mobility 

issues and the elderly. 

Other matters include: 

> Impact on tax payer/financial implication. 

> Bring standards up for irresponsible dog owners, better protection of children. 

> Physical and mental well being negatively affected for dog owners. 

> Enforcement. 

> Dog owners rights, increase abandonment. 

> Safety of dog owners especially females having to walk dogs in more isolated areas. 

 

Thank you for taking the time to complete the survey. If completing a paper version please return to 

Environmental Health, Monmouthshire County Council, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA 

Data Protection and Confidentiality - We comply with all legislation governing the protection of 

personal information, including the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection 

Regulations (GDPR). Any personal information you supply will remain strictly confidential and 

anonymous and will be held and used in line with the Data Protection Act 2018. For more 

information about privacy, please visit: https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/your-privacy/  

If you have any concerns or questions about the survey, require the questionnaire in another 

language or format or simply require assistance in completing the form please telephone 01873 

735420 or email environmentalhealth@monmouthshire.gov.uk and we will be happy to help. 

 

Page 21

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.monmouthshire.gov.uk%2Fyour-privacy%2F&data=04%7C01%7CHuwOwen%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7Ccf44135ec5f84210808b08d9451a1239%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637616800532084223%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=5vVan9oYnrMcZeiKIQFo9F518Dnhf4ynHhezWlpsV1w%3D&reserved=0
mailto:environmentalhealth@monmouthshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

Consultation response from Dogs Trust, 13th August 2021 

Dogs Trust has been made aware that Monmouthshire City Council is planning to introduce a series 

of Public Space Protection Orders. As the UK’s largest dog welfare charity, we would like to make 

some comments for consideration.  

Dogs Trust’s Comments 
 
1. Re; Fouling of Land by Dogs Order: 

• Dogs Trust consider ‘scooping the poop’ to be an integral element of responsible dog 
ownership and would fully support a well-implemented order on fouling.  We urge the 
Council to enforce any such order rigorously. In order to maximise compliance we urge the 
Council to consider whether an adequate number of disposal points have been provided for 
responsible owners to use, to consider providing free disposal bags and to ensure that there 
is sufficient signage in place.  

• We question the effectiveness of issuing on-the-spot fines for not being in possession of a 
poo bag and whether this is practical to enforce. 
 

2. Re; Dog Exclusion Order: 

• Dogs Trust accepts that there are some areas where it is desirable that dogs should be 
excluded, such as children’s play areas, however we would recommend that exclusion areas 
are kept to a minimum and that, for enforcement reasons, they are restricted to enclosed 
areas.  We would consider it more difficult to enforce an exclusion order in areas that lack 
clear boundaries.  

• Dogs Trust would highlight the need to provide plenty of signage to direct owners to 
alternative areas nearby in which to exercise dogs. 
 

3. Re; Dog Exclusion Order and beaches:  

• With phone calls often being made to the RSPCA and Police alerting to dogs being left in hot 
cars in coastal areas, we would urge you to consider the danger animals may be put in, and 
the difficult decisions owners have to make, by not being allowed to take their dogs onto 
the beach.   

• If the Council does choose to implement this order, Dogs Trust would encourage looking 
into a compromise between beach goers and dog owners, e.g. allowing dogs onto the beach 
in the evenings or early mornings, or having dog friendly sections on the beaches.   

• Strict dog exclusion restrictions can also lead to a decrease in dog friendly tourism for 
businesses along the coast, which in turn could have a negative impact on the local 
economy.  
 

4. Re; Dog Exclusion and sport pitches 

• Excluding dogs from areas that are not enclosed could pose enforcement problems - we 
would consider it more difficult to enforce an exclusion order in areas that lack clear 
boundaries. 

• We feel that exclusion zones should be kept to a minimum, and that excluding dogs from all 
sports pitches for long stretches of the year is unnecessary. In some cases sports pitches 
may account for a large part of the open space available in a public park, and therefore 
excluding dogs could significantly reduce available dog walking space for owners. 

Page 23



• We would urge the Council to consider focusing its efforts on reducing dog fouling in these 
areas, rather than excluding dogs entirely, with adequate provision of bins and provision of 
free disposal bags  

5. Re; Dogs on Leads Order: 

• Dogs Trust accept that there are some areas where it is desirable that dogs should be kept 
on a lead. 

• Dogs Trust would urge the Council to consider the Animal Welfare Act 2006 section 9 
requirements (the 'duty of care') that include the dog's need to exhibit normal behaviour 
patterns – this includes the need for sufficient exercise including the need to run off lead in 
appropriate areas.  Dog Control Orders should not restrict the ability of dog keepers to 
comply with the requirements of this Act. 

• The Council should ensure that there is an adequate number, and a variety of, well sign-
posted areas locally for owners to exercise their dog off-lead.   

 
6. Re; Dogs on Lead by Direction Order: 

• Dogs Trust enthusiastically support Dogs on Leads by Direction orders (for dogs that are 
considered to be out of control or causing alarm or distress to members of the public to be 
put on and kept on a lead when directed to do so by an authorised official).  

• We consider that this order is by far the most useful, other than the fouling order, because it 
allows enforcement officers to target the owners of dogs that are allowing them to cause a 
nuisance without restricting the responsible owner and their dog. As none of the other 
orders, less fouling, are likely to be effective without proper enforcement we would be 
content if the others were dropped in favour of this order.  

 
7. Re; Taking more than a specified number of dogs onto a land: 

• The behaviour of the dogs and the competency of the handler need to be taken into 
consideration if considering this order. Research from 2010 shows that 95% of dog owners 
have up to 3 dogs. Therefore, the number of dogs taken out on to land by one individual 
would not normally be expected to exceed four dogs.   

 
The PDSA’s ‘Paw Report 2018’ found that 89% of veterinary professionals believe that the welfare of 
dogs will suffer if owners are banned from walking their dogs in public spaces such as parks and 
beaches, or if dogs are required to be kept on leads in these spaces. Their report also states that 78% 
of owners rely on these types of spaces to walk their dog.  
 
I would also like to bring your attention to the similar recommendations stated in the Government’s 
‘Anti-social behaviour powers -Statutory guidance for frontline professionals’ document, pages 
52/53.  
 
We believe that the vast majority of dog owners are responsible, and that the majority of dogs are 
well behaved. In recognition of this, we would encourage local authorities to exercise its power to 
issue Community Protection Notices, targeting irresponsible owners and proactively addressing anti-
social behaviours. 
 
Dogs Trust works with local authorities across the UK to help promote responsible dog ownership. 
Please do not hesitate to contact should you wish to discuss this matter.  
 
We would be very grateful if you could inform us of the consultation outcome and subsequent 
decisions made in relation to the Public Space Protection Order. 
Yours faithfully, Dogs Trust  

Page 24

https://www.pdsa.org.uk/media/4371/paw-2018-full-web-ready.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/679712/2017-12-13_ASB_Revised_Statutory_Guidance_V2.1_Final.pdf


 

 
     
 

Name of the Officer completing the evaluation 
Huw Owen 
 
Phone no: 01873 735433 
E-mail: huwowen@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal 

To inform Members on: 

> the findings of a public consultation on plans to introduce a Public Spaces 

Protection Order for dog controls in Monmouthshire;  

 

> to seek endorsement from Members to further consult with stakeholders on 

controls;  

 

> to seek endorsement from Members for a draft PSPO, when progressed, 

to include a new offence for a person in charge of a dog when in a 

public space in the county failing to put a dog on a lead, of no more than 

2 metres length, when directed to do so by an authorised officer where 

the dog is considered to be out of control or causing alarm or distress or 

to prevent a nuisance. 

 

Name of Service area 

Public Protection  

Date 

10th March 2022 

 

1. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the 

evidence you have used and any action you are taking below.  

Equality and Future Generations Evaluation  
 

P
age 25



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Age Young children are most likely to be exposed to 
dog fouling through their outside play activities 
and potential health impacts if personal hygiene 
has not fully developed. 
 

Concern regarding impact of restricting 
access to parks, playing fields etc may 
have on elderly dog owners, particularly 
those with mobility issues. 

Implications to be considered by 
stakeholders responsible for public 
spaces. For example accessibility of 
alternative public spaces for dog 
exercise where Dogs on Leads / 
Exclusion areas are proposed. 
 

Disability Wheelchair users particularly affected by 

dog fouling on streets, pathways etc. 

Concerns for persons with disabilities 
being able to pick up dog faeces.  
 

Application of appropriate 
exemptions in any draft PSPO 

Gender 

reassignment 

None None N/A 

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

None None N/A 

Pregnancy or 

maternity 

None 
 

Potential accessibility issues if parks, 
playing fields etc are designated Dog 
Exclusion Areas. 

For consideration by stakeholders 
responsible for public spaces if Dogs on 
Leads / Exclusion areas are proposed. 

Race None None N/A 

Religion or Belief .None None N/A 

Sex None None N/A 

Sexual Orientation None None N/A 

Welsh Language Future public consultations and PSPO 

signage will need to be bi lingual 

None N/A 

P
age 26



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Poverty None None N/A 

 

2. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together 

with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.  There’s no need to put something in every box if it is 

not relevant! 

Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs 

Positive: Aim is to ensure the Council uses 

legislative tools available to be efficient and effective 

in carrying out its responsibilities to help provide a 

clean, healthy environment. 

N/A 

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and 
can adapt to change (e.g. climate 
change) 

Positive: To help secure a behavioural change so 

that dog fouling is socially unacceptable and reduce 

pressure on the county, town and community 

councils to deal with it. Resources then freed up to 

deal with other priorities. 

N/A 

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental 
wellbeing is maximized and health 
impacts are understood 

Positive: Further appraisal promotes consideration of 

the best way to deal with dog control issues which 

negatively affect the community’s quality of life, in a 

proportionate and efficient manner. 

N/A 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Positive: dog fouling is considered to be the 

environmental problem which has the greatest 

N/A 

P
age 27



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

 

Communities are attractive, viable, 
safe and well connected 

impact on the look and feel of a neighbourhood. 

Further appraisal of options will help guide officers in 

the best way to help deliver behavioural change. 

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 
social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing 

Positive: setting an example for developing 

communities which are attractive, viable and safe. 

N/A 

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh language 
are promoted and protected.  People 
are encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation 

Positive: aim is to ensure sports and play areas in 

Monmouthshire are free from dog fouling 

N/A 

 

 

 

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or 
circumstances 

N/A N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 28



3. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Balancing 

short term 

need with 

long term and 

planning for 

the future 

The ongoing considerations are aimed at guiding officers on the 

best way to reduce fouling and other dog control issues in public 

areas both in the short and long term. 

To be considered, but will need to include appropriate 
exemptions. 

Working 

together with 

other 

partners to 

deliver 

objectives  

Further consultation with stakeholders responsible for 

public spaces in the county on the controls needed and 

locations.  

Further consultation feedback to be fully considered in 
due course. 

Involving 

those with 

an interest 

and seeking 

their views 

The findings of the wide ranging public consultation to 

inform further contact with stakeholdrers responsible for 

public spaces in the county. 

Further consultation feedback to be fully considered in 
due course. 

Putting 

resources 

into 

preventing 

problems 

occurring or 

getting 

worse 

Intention is to consider and where appropriate use the 

legislative tools available with the aim of helping to 

achieve behavioural change in the small percentage of 

dog owners who are not acting responsibly. 

Further consultation feedback to be fully considered in 
due course. 

P
age 29



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Considering 

impact on all 

wellbeing 

goals 

together and 

on other 

bodies 

The findings of the wide ranging public consultation to 

inform further contact with stakeholders responsible for 

public spaces in the county. To be followed at a later 

date by a further public consultation on a draft Order if 

considered needed. 

Further consultation feedback to be fully considered in 
due course. 

 
4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on the following important responsibilities: Social Justice, 

Corporate Parenting and Safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect any of these responsibilities?   
 

 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has  

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has  

What will you do/ have you done 
to mitigate any negative impacts 
or better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Social Justice Public Spaces Protection Order powers 
being considered enable a proportionate 
response / penalty for an offence. 
 

Further consultation feedback to be fully 
considered in due course. 

 

Safeguarding  Having the legislative powers available 
helps protect the public health of all age 
groups. 
 

  

Corporate Parenting  .    

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 30



5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
 
 
Complaints received by Environmental Health, Waste and Street Services and participants in Give Dog Fouling The Red Card Working Group. Public 
consultation 26th July to 26th October 2022 – 1334 responses. 
 

 

6. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have 
they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future? 

 

Proposals will help consider further the dog control issues in the county and how best to use the legislation available to improve 

the situation and secure cleaner, healthier public areas. 

 

A third report to Stronger Communities Select following the consultation with stakeholders responsible for public spaces is 

proposed with recommendations on the merits of making a Public Spaces Protection Order and the detail of controls to be included 

in such an Order. 

 

Further public consultation on a draft Order if such an Order is considered appropriate. 

 

A fourth report to Stronger Communities Select will be needed for pre decision scrutiny before the Order goes to Individual Cabinet 

Member Decision. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 31



7. ACTIONS: As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if 
applicable. 

 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible  

 

Further consultation with stakeholders responsible for public spaces on 

controls if endorsed by Select. 

 

Expediate consultation once 

endorsed, proposed 

consultation period 3 months. 

Huw Owen 

   

   

 

8. VERSION CONTROL: The Equality and Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stage, such as informally 

within your service, and then further developed throughout the decision making process.  It is important to keep a record of this 

process to demonstrate how you have considered and built in equality and future generations considerations  wherever 

possible. 

 

Version 

No. 

Decision making stage  Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following 

consideration 

1 Stronger Communities Select Committee 
 

10/3/2022  

    

    

 

 

 

P
age 32



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

 

1.1 To seek endorsement from Members to commence public consultation on the introduction 

of a Public Spaces Protection Order for dog controls in Monmouthshire under the 

provisions of the Anti–Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

2.1 Members consider the proposed approach, comment accordingly and endorse the 

proposal for public consultation on the introduction of a Public Spaces Protection Order 

(PSPO) for dog controls, potentially relating to fouling, exclusion areas and dogs on leads 

areas. 

 

2.2 The findings of the public consultation and appraisal of the options are reported back to 

Stronger Communities Select Committee, together with recommendations on the merits of 

making a Public Spaces Protection Order and the detail of controls to be included in such 

an Order. 

 

2.3      Following the second report to Stronger Communities Select Committee a further public 

consultation is commenced on a draft Public Spaces Protection Order if one is considered 

to be needed. 

 

2.4      In the context of public consultation feedback a third report is then provided to Stronger 

Communities Select Committee for pre-decision scrutiny before the Order goes to Cabinet 

or Individual Cabinet Member, (Cabinet Member for Social Justice & Community 

Development), for decision.  

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 

3.1 Despite the efforts of responsible dog owners and many partners, dog fouling continues to 

be a problem nationwide. As provided in Keep Wales Tidy ‘Litter in Wales Understanding 

Littering and Litterers Executive Summary Report 2010’, the Welsh public considers dog 

fouling the environmental problem which has the greatest impact on the look and feel of a 

SUBJECT: PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER FOR DOG CONTROLS 
 
MEETING:    Strong Communities Select Committee 
 
DATE:           12th March 2020 
 
DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED:   All 

 

Page 33



neighbourhood. This position is reflected in Monmouthshire with a significant number of 

complaints to Members and Officers. 

 
3.2 A working group has been established in Monmouthshire since early 2015 comprised of a 

number of Town and Community Councils, (currently 22 involved), working in partnership 

with Environmental Health and Waste and Street Services.The primary focus of the Group 

is to raise awareness of the anti-social nature of dog fouling, and help develop a social 

conscience that dog owners should ‘pick up’ under the brand Give Dog Fouling the Red 

Card. This collaborative working has helped target ‘hot spot’ areas, fund signage with 

consistent messaging, and deliver awareness raising days several times a year in 

locations where fouling has been highlighted as a problem. 

3.3  The legislative backdrop to this ongoing work is the Monmouthshire County Council 

(Fouling of Land by Dogs) (Monmouthshire) Designation Order (No 1) 1998 which is 

provided in Appendix 1. The Order which came into force on the 29th June 1998 

designates the areas of land in Monmouthshire, Part 1 by description, Part 2 specifically, 

to which the provisions of the Dogs (Fouling of Land) Act 1996 apply. Currently if a dog 

defecates at any time on designated land in Monmouthshire and a person who is in charge 

of the dog fails to remove the faeces from the land forthwith, that person is guilty of an 

offence unless there is a reasonable excuse for failing to do so. 

3.4  However as with many issues relating to the quality of our local environment, dog fouling 

continues to prove a complex issue to tackle. Many factors influence whether persons 

‘pick up’ after their dogs such as time of day, weather, footfall, the location, facilities (bags, 

bins) etc. While there has been a generally improving picture in Monmouthshire, complaint 

levels to Environmental Health remain substantial:  

           2015 – 120 complaints 

           2016 – 100 complaints 

           2017 – 122 complaints 

           2018 – 90 complaints 

           2019 – 89 complaints 

 

3.5      In addition Keep Wales Tidy carry out an annual All Wales Local Environmental Audit to 

provide a ‘snap shot’ of litter, which includes dog fouling, across local authority areas. The 

2019 – 20 survey encountered dog fouling on 16.7% of streets across Monmouthshire, (48 

streets surveyed), and while no streets were found to have a significant or a severe 

presence, it is the highest recorded in the county since 2013 – 14 and significantly higher 

than the national average of 8.8%. 

3.6      It is clear from research that a holistic approach is needed to help bring about behavioural 

change and long lasting impact. It is important therefore that collaborative working on a 

local level continues through initiatives such as the Give Dog Fouling the Red Card group.  

3.7      It is important as well for the Authority to make full use of the tools provided by 

legislation.The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 introduced new powers 

for use by councils to address anti-social behaviour including Public Spaces Protection 

Page 34



Orders (PSPOs). Under the provisions of the Act local authorities must be satisfied on 

reasonable grounds that the activity subject to an Order: 

- has, or is likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality. 
- is, or is likely to be, persistent or continuing in nature. 
- is, or is likely to be, unreasonable. 
- justifies the restrictions being imposed. 

 
3.8      When assessing what is ‘unreasonable’ activity, there is a need to balance the rights of 

the community to enjoy public spaces, with the civil liberties of individuals and groups who 

may be affected by any restrictions imposed. Early engagement with our communities is 

therefore essential in order to fully understand the many views that are likely, consider the 

evidence of need for a PSPO and what it needs to contain. 

3.9      A 3 month wide ranging open public consultation is therefore proposed which will include, 

but not limited to, the Chief of Police, the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, 

elected Members, Council Officers, the general public and external agencies, especially 

those with a vested interest such as Keep Wales Tidy, Dogs Trust and the Kennel Club. 

The consultation will explain that the aim is to help ensure there is a balance so that dog 

owners can enjoy their dogs and ensure their welfare, whilst at the same time others can 

still enjoy public spaces without interference or impact from dogs and irresponsible dog 

ownership. 

3.10    The consultation will seek views on the need for dog controls such as, but not limited to, 

the following areas: 

          Dog Fouling  

• To make it an offence to fail to remove dog faeces from any land to which the public 

have access across the county. 

Dog Exclusion Areas  

• Such as school grounds, children’s play areas and marked sports pitches. 

Dogs on Leads Areas 

• Specified areas such as cemeteries. 

• On any land to which the public have access when directed to do so by an 

Authorised Officer where a dog is considered to be out of control or causing alarm 

and distress. 

3.11    As is the case with the existing Order, breach of a PSPO is a criminal offence with a fine 

liable on prosecution in court of up to £1000. Authorised Officers can issue a Fixed 

Penalty Notice (FPN) to offer the recipient the opportunity to discharge liability for the 

offence. FPN levels for breach of a PSPO were agreed by Cabinet on the 7 September 

2016 and are £100 payable within 14 days, reduced to £75 if paid within 10 days.This 

reflects a slight increase for breach of the existing Order of £75 discounted to £50 for early 

payment. 

Page 35



 4. EQUALITY AND FUTURE GENERATIONS EVALUATION, (includes social justice, 

safeguarding and corporate parenting): 

 

4.1 The completed ‘Equalities & Future Generations Evaluation’ form is provided as Appendix 

Two, attached. 

 

4.2 There is a clear need to consider carefully the potential impact of a PSPO on different 

sections of our communities. For example exemptions for particular groups may be 

appropriate such as those using assistance dogs, emergency services etc.The public 

consultation is proposed to ensure the varied needs of our communities are considered 

fully with any resultant PSPO positively impacting the wellbeing goal of a healthier Wales. 

 

5. OPTIONS APPRAISAL: 

 

5.1 To continue using the Monmouthshire County Council (Fouling of Land by Dogs) 

(Monmouthshire) Designation Order (No 1) 1998 or, as proposed, to fully consider the 

legislative tools available in dealing with dog control issues in the county.The findings of 

the public consultation will help properly inform the next steps with an appraisal of the 

options presented in a second report to Stronger Communities Select. 

 

6. EVALUATION CRITERIA: 

 

6.1 A progress report to Stronger Communities Select one year after implementation of a 

PSPO.  

 

6.2  A PSPO can be made for a maximum duration of up to three years, after which it may be 

extended if certain criteria under the Act are met. This includes that an extension is 

necessary to prevent activity recurring. Extensions can be repeated, with each lasting for a 

maximum of three years. A further consultation process is required if a PSPO time period 

is to be extended. 

  

7. REASONS: 

 

7.1 To ensure fair, transparent, efficient and effective discharge of powers available to the 

Council under the Act. 

  

8. RESOURCE IMPICATIONS: 

 

8.1 Costs of consultation to be absorbed by existing budgets. If a PSPO for dog controls is 

introduced there will be cost implications including for signage and enforcement, to be 

considered when appropriate in later reports. 

 

9. CONSULTEES: 

            

           Social Care & Health DMT 

Strategic Leadership Team 

Page 36



Head of Public Protection 

Head of Waste & Street Services 

Monitoring Officer and Head of Legal Services 

Chief Operating Officer for Mon Life 

Environment & Culture Manager  

Head of Governance, Engagement and Improvement 

Youth Offending Team Service Manager 

 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 

 Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and  Policing Act 2014: Anti-social behaviour powers 

Statutory guidance for frontline professionals. Updated August 2019. 

  

11 AUTHOR: 

 

 Huw Owen, Principal Environmental Health Officer 

 

12. CONTACT DETAILS: 

 

 Tel:  01873 735433 

 E-mail: huwowen@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

 

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix One: Monmouthshire County Council (Fouling of Land by Dogs) (Monmouthshire)      

                         Designation Order (No 1) 1998 

Appendix Two: Equality & Future Generations Evaluation 

Page 37

mailto:huwowen@monmouthshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and  
Policing Act 2014: 
Reform of anti-social behaviour powers
Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

July 2014

Page 39



Contents

Introduction.................................................................................................................................. 1

Part 1: Putting victims first.......................................................................................................... 2

1.1 Community Trigger.................................................................................................................. 3

1.2 Community Remedy...............................................................................................................11

Part 2: More effective powers....................................................................................................16

2.1 Early and informal interventions.............................................................................................17

2.2 Civil injunction....................................................................................................................... 20

2.3 Criminal behaviour order........................................................................................................27

2.4 Dispersal power.................................................................................................................... 32

2.5 Community protection notice................................................................................................ 38

2.6 Public spaces protection order............................................................................................. 46

2.7 Closure power....................................................................................................................... 53

2.8 New absolute ground for possession................................................................................... 58

Page 40



1Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Anti-social behaviour is a broad term used to describe the day-to-day incidents of crime, 
nuisance and disorder that make many people’s lives a misery – from litter and vandalism, to 
public drunkenness or aggressive dogs, to noisy or abusive neighbours. Such a wide range of 
behaviours means that responsibility for dealing with anti-social behaviour is shared between a 
number of agencies, particularly the police, councils and social landlords. 

Victims can feel helpless, bounced from one agency to another and then back again. In many 
cases, the behaviour is targeted against the most vulnerable in our society and even what is 
perceived as ‘low level’ anti-social behaviour, when targeted and persistent, can have devastating 
effects on a victim’s life.

Our reforms are designed to put victims at the heart of the response to anti-social behaviour, and 
give professionals the flexibility they need to deal with any given situation. 

This is statutory guidance issued under sections 19, 32, 41, 56, 73 and 91 of the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 and replaces the draft guidance issued in October 2013. 

This guidance is written primarily for the police officers, council staff and social landlords who 
will use the new powers. Part 1 looks at the new measures being introduced to give victims a 
greater say in the way their reports of anti-social behaviour are dealt with. Part 2 then outlines 
the new powers. We have worked closely with frontline professionals, victims and others in the 
development of the legislation, and we will continue to work to ensure that this guidance helps 
professionals make best use of the new powers to protect the public. 

In addition to this guidance, the Government has produced specific advice on how the new anti-
social behaviour powers can be used to deal with irresponsible dog ownership. That document 
has been produced in conjunction with the Welsh Assembly Government and is available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-irresponsible-dog-ownership-draft-
practitioners-manual

Introduction

Page 41

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-irresponsible-dog-ownership-draft-practitioners-
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-irresponsible-dog-ownership-draft-practitioners-
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-irresponsible-dog-ownership-draft-practitioners-manual


2 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

This Government has set out a new approach to crime, policing and community safety, based 
on a fundamental shift from bureaucratic to democratic accountability through directly elected 
Police and Crime Commissioners, increased transparency, and increasing professional discretion. 
This new approach includes overhauling the whole system of dealing with anti-social behaviour to 
ensure agencies are putting the needs of victims first. 

This marks a decisive shift from the target-driven, top-down, directive approach of the past. It 
makes no sense for officials in Whitehall to decide local anti-social behaviour priorities, say how 
agencies should respond to specific issues, or set crude targets that can result in perverse 
working practices and outcomes. 

Over the past few years, the police, councils and others have started to adopt a range of 
effective mechanisms that improve the response they provide to victims. From Multi-Agency Risk 
Assessment Conferences to taking on board the lessons identified in the anti-social behaviour 
call handling trials, victims have now become the focus of the response in many areas. This has 
resulted in an end-to-end risk assessment process, ensuring that vulnerable victims are better 
supported in cases of anti-social behaviour. 

In terms of the behaviour itself, what is seen as ‘anti-social’ will vary from victim to victim, 
and community to community. This is one reason why we changed the way in which incidents 
of anti-social behaviour are reported, no longer focusing on the behaviour, but on the impact it has 
on the victim. 

The right response will depend on a range of factors, but most importantly, on the needs of the 
victim and the impact the behaviour is having on their lives. Solutions need to be jointly developed 
by local agencies, each bringing their own experience and expertise to work together with 
communities and victims. Frontline professionals must be free to use their judgment rather than 
following a prescribed ‘one size fits all’ approach.  

Giving victims a say

The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 includes two new measures which are 
designed to give victims and communities a say in the way anti-social behaviour is dealt with:

•	 The Community Trigger, gives victims the ability to demand action, starting with a review of 
their case, where the locally defined threshold is met. 

•	 The Community Remedy, gives victims a say in the out-of-court punishment of perpetrators for 
low-level crime and anti-social behaviour. 

These measures are covered in more detail in this section of the guidance.

Part 1: Putting victims first

Page 42



3Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

1.1	 Community Trigger 

Purpose Gives victims and communities the right to request a review of their case and bring 
agencies together to take a joined up, problem-solving approach to find a solution. 

Relevant bodies and 
responsible authorities

•	 Councils;

•	 Police;

•	 Clinical Commissioning Groups in England and Local Health Boards in Wales; 

•	 Registered providers of social housing who are co-opted into this group. 

Threshold To be defined by the local agencies but not more than:

•	 three complaints in the previous six month period.

May also take account of:

•	 the persistence of the anti-social behaviour;

•	 the harm or potential harm caused by the anti-social behaviour;

•	 the adequacy of response to the anti-social behaviour.

Details •	 When a request to use the Community Trigger is received, agencies must decide 
whether the threshold has been met and communicate this to the victim;

•	 If the threshold is met, a case review will be undertaken by the partner agencies. 
Agencies will share information related to the case, review what action has 
previously been taken and decide whether additional actions are possible. The 
local Community Trigger procedure should clearly state the timescales in which the 
review will be undertaken; 

•	 The review encourages a problem-solving approach aimed at dealing with some of 
the most persistent, complex cases of anti-social behaviour;

•	 The victim is informed of the outcome of the review. Where further actions are 
necessary an action plan will be discussed with the victim, including timescales. 

Who can use the 
Community Trigger?

•	 A victim of anti-social behaviour or another person acting on behalf of the victim 
such as a carer or family member, Member of Parliament or councillor.

•	 The victim can be an individual, a business or a community group.

Page 43



4 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Purpose

Victims will be able to use the Community Trigger to demand action, starting with a review of their 
case. Agencies including councils, the police, local health teams and registered providers of social 
housing will have a duty to undertake a case review when someone requests one and the case 
meets a locally defined threshold.

The Community Trigger can also be used by any person on behalf of a victim, for example a 
family member, friend, carer, councillor, Member of Parliament or other professional person. This 
is intended to ensure that all victims are able to use the Community Trigger. However, the victim’s 
consent should be sought by the person using the Community Trigger on their behalf. 

The Community Trigger can be used by a person of any age, and agencies should make it as 
accessible as possible to all victims. 

Putting victims first: The Community Trigger will help to reassure victims that agencies take their 
reports of anti-social behaviour seriously, but it cannot in itself increase reporting from vulnerable 
victims. Agencies should consider how to maximise awareness of the Community Trigger, in 
particular among vulnerable people and professionals who work with vulnerable people.

Community 
Trigger

Action plan

Repeat incidents 
of anti-social 
behaviour 
reported to 
agencies.

Problem persists 
because of no 
or inadequate 
response from 
agencies.

The victim feels 
ignored by 
agencies.

Victim applies 
to activate the 
Community 
Trigger and 
supplies details 
of incidents.

The Community 
Trigger is activated 
and a case review is 
required if the victim 
has met the local 
threshold of a 
number of 
complaints within an 
agreed timescale, 
for example three 
complaints in six 
months.

In any other 
situation, the local 
agencies may take 
into account the 
persistence, harm or 
potential harm 
caused by the anti-
social behaviour or 
the adequacy of the 
response from 
agencies. 

Collectively 
the agencies 
decide whether 
further action 
can be taken 
and produce an 
action plan. 

The action plan 
is discussed 
with the victim 
and a resolution 
to the problem 
is found.

ASB stops

Community Trigger

ASB

Council ASB 
team

Police

Housing 
provider

Health

ASB

Page 44



5Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Relevant bodies and responsible authorities

‘Relevant bodies’ are those organisations which have a statutory duty to have a Community 
Trigger procedure and to undertake case reviews when a person asks for one (and the threshold 
is met). The relevant bodies are:

•	 district councils, unitary authorities or London borough councils;

•	 police forces; 

•	 clinical commissioning groups in England, local health boards in Wales; and

•	 social housing providers who are co-opted into the group.

There must be arrangements for the inclusion of local providers of social housing among the 
relevant bodies in an area. 

The Act does not determine which housing providers should be co-opted into the procedures. 
It may be more effective to co-opt the larger housing providers so that they can be involved 
in developing and reviewing the Community Trigger procedures on behalf of the sector. 
Smaller housing providers need only be involved in the Community Trigger when a case 
involves one of their tenants. For the purposes of the Community Trigger, a ‘local provider of 
social housing’ includes:

In England:

•	 A private registered provider of social housing that: 

–– grants tenancies of dwelling-houses in that area; or

–– manages any house or other property in that area.

In Wales:

•	 A body registered as a social landlord under section 3 of the Housing Act 1996 that: 

–– grants tenancies of dwelling-houses in that area; or

–– manages any house or other property in that area.

Box A: How to co-opt a social landlord

Where there are a number of housing providers in an area, they could be represented by 
one housing provider on behalf of the sector. There may be an established working group or 
organisation which can provide this role, for example, in Birmingham there is an established 
partnership organisation. 

Birmingham Social Housing Partnership is the representative organisation for housing 
providers in Birmingham, representing in excess of 35 housing providers. The purpose of 
the organisation is to ensure that registered housing providers are engaged in community 
safety in the city. An important part of the work is to lead the development of an action plan 
for providers to contribute to reducing crime, disorder and anti-social behaviour. The group 
supports partner agencies in their operational responses to community safety issues, 
anti-social behaviour, hate crime, domestic abuse and gang violence.

Page 45



6 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Role of the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC): The local PCC must be consulted on 
the Community Trigger procedure when it is set up, and must also be consulted whenever the 
procedure is reviewed. Depending on how the local council areas are arranged for the purposes 
of the Community Trigger, there may be a number of different procedures in one police force area. 
Arrangements may be made for the PCC to be directly involved in the Community Trigger, for 
example by:

•	 auditing case reviews;

•	 providing a route for victims to query the decision on whether the threshold was met or the way 
a Community Trigger review was carried out; or

•	 monitoring use of the Community Trigger to identify any learning and best practice. 

Threshold

The relevant bodies should work together to agree an appropriate Community Trigger threshold, 
taking into consideration the nature of anti-social behaviour experienced by victims in their area 
and working practices of the agencies involved. The threshold must be no higher than three 
complaints of anti-social behaviour in a six months period. Where a person makes an 
application for a case review and the number of qualifying complaints has been made, the 
threshold for a review is met.

In any other situation, in setting the threshold, reference may be had to any of the following matters:

•	 the persistence of the anti-social behaviour; 

•	 the harm or potential harm caused by the anti-social behaviour; 

•	 the adequacy of the response from agencies. 

The relevant bodies may wish to consult the local community about what they would consider to 
be an appropriate threshold in their area. 

The harm, or the potential for harm to be caused to the victim, is an important consideration 
in determining whether the threshold is met because those who are vulnerable are likely to be 
less resilient to anti-social behaviour. People can be vulnerable for a number of reasons, and 
vulnerability or resilience can vary over time depending on personal circumstances and the nature 
of the anti-social behaviour. The relevant bodies should use their risk assessment procedure as 
part of the decision on whether the threshold is met. Risk assessment matrices cannot provide 
a definitive assessment of someone’s needs, but will assist agencies in judging an appropriate 
response. It may be beneficial for the relevant bodies to adopt a common risk assessment matrix, 
or to have one agreed matrix for the Community Trigger. 

Behaviour which falls below the level of harassment, alarm or distress, may not meet the 
threshold, but when assessed on the grounds of potential harm to the victim, the impact of the 
behaviour may be such that the threshold will be met. 

One of the aims of the Community Trigger is to encourage those who are most vulnerable, or may 
not otherwise engage with agencies, to report incidents of anti-social behaviour. 

When the victim is considered vulnerable, the relevant bodies should consider what additional 
practical and emotional support is offered to the victim. 

Page 46



7Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Qualifying complaints: The legislation sets out what will be considered a ‘qualifying complaint’ 
for using the Community Trigger. The purpose of this is to prevent someone reporting historical 
incidents of anti-social behaviour in order to use the Community Trigger. The legislation sets out 
the following standards but agencies can set different levels if appropriate for their area as long as 
it does not lower the standard as set out:

•	 the anti-social behaviour was reported within one month of the alleged behaviour taking place; 
and

•	 the application to use the Community Trigger is made within six months of the report of anti-
social behaviour. 

For the purpose of the Community Trigger, anti-social behaviour is defined as behaviour causing 
harassment, alarm or distress to a member, or members, of the public. However, when deciding 
whether the threshold is met, agencies should consider the cumulative effect of the incidents and 
consider the harm or potential harm caused to the victim, rather than rigidly deciding whether 
each incident reached the level of harassment, alarm or distress. 

Even though housing-related anti-social behaviour has a lower test of nuisance or annoyance for 
an injunction under Part 1 of the Act, because of the victim’s inability to separate themselves from 
the anti-social behaviour the harm experienced is highly likely, depending upon the circumstances, 
to result in harassment, alarm or distress for the purposes of the Community Trigger.

The Community Trigger is specifically designed to deal with anti-social behaviour. However anti-
social behaviour can often be motivated by hate and the relevant bodies may wish to include 
reports of these incidents in their Community Trigger. 

Box B: Hate crime

A hate crime is any criminal offence which is perceived by the victim or any other person to be 
motivated by hostility or prejudice based on a personal characteristic. Incidents can range from 
harassment, abusive language, criminal damage/damage to property, to threats and physical 
violence. Incidents of hate crime may manifest themselves in low level forms of anti-social 
behaviour, which on the surface may appear minor but the impact on the victim and their 
families may be devastating and life changing. Hate crime can also have a negative impact on 
cohesion and integration in communities if incidents are not dealt with quickly and effectively. 

There are a number of laws in place to deal with those who commit hate crimes, including 
public order offences and racially and religiously aggravated offences and the courts also have 
powers to enhance a perpetrator's sentence for any offence that is motivated by hatred or 
hostility towards the victim. 

In March 2012, the Government published ‘Challenge it, Report it, Stop it: The Government's 
Plan to Tackle Hate Crime’ (https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/97849/action-plan.pdf). The plan brings together the work of a number of 
departments and agencies under three important objectives: to prevent hate crime happening 
in the first place; to increase reporting and access to support, and to improve the operational 
response to hate crime. Whilst the Government plays a vital role in setting a national direction, 
the response to hate crime should be led at the local level. An effective multi-agency response 
to hate crime will involve professionals, the voluntary sector and communities working together 
to develop effective responses to tackle incidents early before they can escalate.

Page 47

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/97849/action-plan.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/97849/action-plan.pdf


8 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Details

The Community Trigger was piloted in Manchester, Brighton and Hove, West Lindsey and Boston, 
and Richmond upon Thames. The Home Office report 'Empowering Communities, Protecting 
Victims: summary report on the community trigger trials', published in May 2013 (https://www.
gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/207468/community-
trigger-trials-report-v4.pdf), highlights the lessons identified by the pilot areas and will help assist 
the relevant bodies which are setting up their Community Trigger procedures.

Information sharing: The effective operation of the legislation requires the relevant bodies to 
share relevant information for the purpose of carrying out the case review. This may include details 
of previous complaints made by the victim, information about the effect the problem has had on 
others in the area, and details of what action has previously been taken. Relevant bodies should 
therefore have agreements in place for information sharing, risk assessments and a common 
understanding of the aims of the Community Trigger.

The relevant bodies may request any person to disclose information for the purpose of a 
Community Trigger review. If the request is made to a person who exercises public functions and 
they possess the information they must disclose it. The only exception to that is where to share 
the information would be either:

•	 in contravention of any of the provisions of the Data Protection Act 1998; or

•	 prohibited by Part 1 of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000.

Other than these two exceptions, disclosing information for the Community Trigger does not 
breach any obligation of confidence or any other restriction on the disclosure of information.

Housing providers undertake several functions, including some that are public in nature and some 
that are not. If a request is made in relation to their functions that are considered to be public 
in nature, the information sharing duty applies. This is the case for housing providers who are 
co-opted into the group of relevant bodies as well as those who are not. 

Box C: Sharing information

The Homes and Communities Agency’s Regulatory Framework, Neighbourhood and 
Community Standard, requires registered housing providers:

•	 to co-operate with relevant partners to help improve social, environmental and economic 
wellbeing in areas where they own properties; and 

•	 to work in partnership with other agencies to prevent and tackle anti-social behaviour in the 
neighbourhoods where they own homes. 

Publishing the Community Trigger procedure and contact details: The relevant bodies must 
publish the Community Trigger procedure, including the point of contact for making an application 
to use the Community Trigger. The relevant bodies can decide an appropriate method and format 
for publishing this depending on the needs of the community, for example, it may be necessary to 
translate the information into different languages. 

The relevant bodies must publish a ‘point of contact’ for victims (or anyone acting on their behalf) 
who have decided to use the Community Trigger. This may include a phone number, email 
address, postal address, and a form which can be completed online.

Page 48

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/207468/community-trigger-trials-report-v4.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/207468/community-trigger-trials-report-v4.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/207468/community-trigger-trials-report-v4.pdf


9Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Putting victims first: Using the Community Trigger must be straightforward for the victim. It is 
good practice to have a number of methods to contact an agency, and consideration should 
be given to the fact that some victims may feel more comfortable contacting one agency than 
another. The Community Trigger can be used by any person and agencies should consider 
how to make it as accessible as possible to young people, those who are vulnerable, have 
learning difficulties or do not speak English.

The Community Trigger procedure: The relevant bodies must work together to devise and agree 
the procedure for the Community Trigger. The procedure must include provision for a person to 
request a review of the way an application for a Community Trigger was dealt with, and also the 
way their Community Trigger review was carried out.

Box D: Basic procedure for a Community Trigger 

Each area should agree a procedure that suits the needs of victims and communities locally. 
However, the basic outline of that procedure is likely to include the following steps:

•	 A victim of anti-social behaviour (or someone acting on their behalf) makes an application to 
use the Community Trigger.

•	 The relevant bodies decide whether the threshold is met.

•	 If it has been, then the relevant bodies share information about the case, consider whether 
any new relevant information needs to be obtained, review previous actions taken and 
propose a response. The victim is informed of the outcome or agencies will work with the 
victim to devise and implement an action plan.

•	 If necessary, escalation and review.

The case review: The relevant bodies should have an agreed procedure for carrying out the 
Community Trigger review. The review will look at what action has previously been taken in 
response to the victim’s reports of anti-social behaviour. 

When setting up the procedure the relevant bodies should consider how the Community Trigger 
can be built into existing processes. Many areas have a regular multi-agency meeting to discuss 
cases of anti-social behaviour, such as an Anti-social Behaviour Risk Assessment Conference or 
a Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference. These may be the best-placed forums to undertake 
the case review. Alternatively, the relevant bodies may decide that it is more appropriate to have a 
separate forum to discuss cases. It will be up to local relevant bodies to decide what works best 
in their area. If the perpetrator is under the age of 18 the youth offending team should be invited to 
attend the review. 

The Community Trigger will not prompt a review of decisions previously made by the Crown 
Prosecution Service (CPS). If a victim is not satisfied with a decision made by the CPS they should 
refer to the CPS complaints process, and the Victims’ Right to Review Scheme. The Victims’ Right to 
Review Scheme makes it easier for victims to seek a review of a CPS decision not to bring charges 
against a suspect or to terminate proceedings, in relation to decisions made after 5 June 2013.

Making recommendations: The relevant bodies who undertake a case review may make 
recommendations to other agencies. The legislation places a duty on a person who carries 
out public functions to have regard to those recommendations. This means that they are not 
obliged to carry out the recommendations, but that they should acknowledge them and may be 
challenged if they choose not to carry them out without good reason. 

Page 49



10 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

The recommendations are likely to take the form of an action plan to resolve the anti-social 
behaviour. Whenever possible, the relevant bodies should involve the victim in devising the action 
plan to help ensure it meets the needs of the victim. The relevant bodies will not be able to 
recommend the CPS to take action. The CPS operates independently under the superintendence 
of the Attorney General, and must make decisions in accordance with the Code for Crown 
Prosecutors. 

Responding to the victim: The Act places a duty on the relevant bodies to respond to the victim 
at particular points in the process. These include:

•	 the decision as to whether or not the threshold is met;

•	 the outcome of the review; and

•	 any recommendations made as an outcome of the review.

The relevant bodies should agree as part of the procedure whether one agency will communicate 
with all victims, or whether an appropriate agency will lead in a specific case. People who use 
the Community Trigger may feel that they have been let down by agencies in the past so it is 
important that victims receive timely and consistent communication regarding their case. 

Publishing data: The legislation states that relevant bodies must publish information covering:

•	 the number of applications for Community Triggers received; 

•	 the number of times the threshold for review was not met;

•	 the number of anti-social behaviour case reviews carried out; and

•	 the number of anti-social behaviour case reviews that resulted in recommendations being made.

This data can represent the whole area; it does not need to be broken down by relevant body. 
One relevant body can publish the information on behalf of all the relevant bodies in the area. 
The data must be published at least annually. The relevant bodies may wish to publish data 
more frequently, or to publish additional details. For example, the relevant bodies may publish 
information about which area the triggers came from, or which the relevant bodies they related 
to, if this information is useful to communities and victims. Published information must not include 
details which could identify the victim.

Who can use the Community Trigger?

Individuals, businesses and community groups can all use the Community Trigger. Relevant bodies 
may decide to have a different threshold for the community to use it collectively to encourage 
them to work together to share and find solutions to problems. Forums such as Neighbourhood 
Watch, Home Watch, residents’ associations, community groups, Safer Neighbourhood meetings 
and Neighbourhood Policing community meetings are among the ways in which communities can 
share experiences and problems.

Page 50



11Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

1.2	 Community Remedy 

Purpose The Community Remedy gives victims a say in the out-of-court punishment of 
perpetrators for low-level crime and anti-social behaviour. 

The Community 
Remedy document

The Act places a duty on the Police and Crime Commissioner to consult with 
members of the public and community representatives on what punitive, reparative 
or rehabilitative actions they would consider appropriate to be on the Community 
Remedy document.

Applicants / who can 
use the Community 
Remedy 

•	 Police officer;

•	 An investigating officer (which can include Police Community Support Officers for 
certain offences, if designated the power by their chief constable);

•	 A person authorised by a relevant prosecutor for conditional cautions or youth 
conditional cautions.

Community resolutions When dealing with anti-social behaviour or low-level offences through a community 
resolution the police officer may use the Community Remedy document as a means 
to engage the victim in having a say in the punishment of the perpetrator.

Test •	 The officer must have evidence that the person has engaged in anti-social 
behaviour or committed an offence;

•	 The person must admit to the behaviour or the offence (and agree to participate);

•	 The officer must think that the evidence is enough for court proceedings including 
for a civil injunction, or impose a caution, but considers that a community 
resolution would be more appropriate.

Conditional cautions The Community Remedy document should be considered when it is proposed that a 
perpetrator be given a conditional caution or youth conditional caution as a means of 
consulting the victim about the possible conditions to be attached to the caution.

Failure to comply If the perpetrator fails to comply with a conditional caution or youth conditional caution 
they can face court action for the offence.

Important changes/
differences

The Community Remedy document is a list of actions which may be chosen by the 
victim for the perpetrator to undertake in consequence of their behaviour or offending.

Page 51



12 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Purpose

This section explains how the Community Remedy document should be developed and how it 
should be used when a community resolution, conditional caution or youth conditional caution is 
the chosen disposal. 

The Community Remedy document will be used as part of the existing process for delivering 
community resolutions. It will give victims of low-level crime and anti-social behaviour a say in 
the punishment of perpetrators out of court. The Community Remedy may also be used when a 
conditional caution or youth conditional caution is given, as a means of consulting the victim about 
the possible conditions to be attached to the caution. 

The community remedy is for anti-social behaviour and low-level criminal offences.

The Community Remedy document

The Community Remedy document is a list of actions that the victim will be invited to choose from 
when a community resolution is to be used. The list of actions may vary from one police force area to 
another, based on what is available in the area and what the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) 
and chief constable agree are appropriate. The Community Remedy document must be published.

The Police and 
Crime Commissioner 
consults the local 
community about 
what actions should 
be included in the 
Community Remedy 
document.

The list is agreed with 
the chief constable 
and published.

Someone commits 
a low-level crime or 
anti-social behaviour. 

They admit to the 
offence and the police 
officer considers 
that a community 
resolution is 
appropriate.

The perpetrator 
agrees to this course 
of action.

The police officer 
invites the victim 
to choose an 
appropriate action 
from the Community 
Remedy document.

The police officer 
will make the final 
decision as to what 
action is appropriate.

The perpetrator agrees 
to the action, signs an 
agreement and carries 
out the action. 

The perpetrator 
provides proof that 
they have completed 
the action and the 
matter is resolved. 

The victim is informed 
that the action has 
been completed.

Community Remedy

Graffiti

ASB

Low-level 
criminal 
damage

Cleaning 
graffiti

Written 
apology

Acceptable 
Behaviour 
Contract

Consultation

Police 
officer

Victim

Community 
remedy 

document

Page 52



13Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Consultation 

There is a duty on the PCC to consult with members of the public and community representatives on 
what actions they would consider appropriate to be included in the Community Remedy document. 
The PCC has a statutory duty to consult the local authority and chief officer of police for the area on 
what actions they consider should be included. The local authority youth offending and community 
safety teams will know what resources and facilities are available locally. 

The public consultation could be undertaken as part of another consultation, for example, when 
consulting on the Police and Crime Plan. The Community Remedy document may be revised at 
any time and it may be desirable to do this if new options are to be added. Consultation may be 
undertaken in whatever format the PCC considers appropriate (for example, online consultation, talking 
to community groups and local victims groups, via local newspapers or a combination of formats).

Actions in the Community Remedy document

The PCC and the chief constable will agree the actions listed on the Community Remedy 
document. These actions must be appropriate and proportionate to the types of offences for 
which community resolutions are used, and seek to have a positive impact on the perpetrator. 
Each of the actions must have a:

•	 punitive element: reflecting the effects on the victim and the wider community; or

•	 reparative element: achieving appropriate restitution/reparation to the victim; or

•	 rehabilitative element: helping to address the causes of the perpetrator’s behaviour; or

•	 combination of these. 

The actions available must help improve public confidence in the use of out-of-court disposals and 
must be compatible with the perpetrator’s human rights.

Box E: What could be included?

The legislation does not specify what actions should be included in the Community Remedy 
document. This will vary from one police force to another depending on the views of local people 
and the availability of actions or activities. Actions in the Community Remedy document may include:

•	 mediation (for example, to resolve a neighbour dispute);

•	 a written or verbal apology;

•	 the perpetrator signing an Acceptable Behaviour Contract – where they agree not to behave 
anti-socially in the future – or face more formal consequences;

•	 take part in a restorative justice activity such as a neighbourhood justice panel;

•	 paying an appropriate amount for damage to be repaired or stolen property to be replaced;

•	 participation in structured activities that are either educational or rehabilitative, funded by the 
PCC as part of their efforts to reduce crime; or

•	 reparation to the community (for example, by doing local unpaid work for a short period).

Page 53



14 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Community Resolutions

Typically, community resolutions are used when dealing with low-level criminal damage, low value theft, 
minor assaults (without injury) and anti-social behaviour.

Community resolutions can be used by a police officer or an investigating officer. Police community 
support officers (PCSOs) can carry out community resolutions for offences which their chief constable 
has designated them powers to deal with. Community resolutions may also be delivered by PCSOs on 
the authority of a police officer of the appropriate rank. 

Section 38 of the Police Reform Act 2002 defines an investigating officer as a person employed by a 
police force or Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, or who is under the direction and control 
of the chief officer, and has been designated as an investigating officer. 

Before deciding on a community resolution the police officer must: 

•	 have evidence that the person has engaged in anti-social behaviour;

•	 have an admission of guilt from the person engaged in the behaviour (and they agree to 
participate and are capable of understanding the situation and process);

•	 believe that the evidence is sufficient for taking proceedings for a civil injunction, or other court 
proceedings, caution, or fixed penalty notice, but considers that a community resolution would 
be more appropriate. 

Further information can be found in the ACPO Guidelines on the use of Community Resolutions (CR) 
Incorporating Restorative Justice (RJ) 2012 (http://www.acpo.police.uk/documents/criminaljustice/2012/2
01208CJBAComResandRJ.pdf).

Using the community remedy document with community resolutions

When a community resolution is to be used, the officer must make reasonable efforts to obtain 
the views of the victim as to whether the perpetrator should carry out any of the actions listed in 
the Community Remedy document. If the officer considers that the action chosen by the victim 
is appropriate, the perpetrator should be asked to carry out that action. The police officer or 
investigating officer in question will have ultimate responsibility for ensuring that the action offered 
to the perpetrator is appropriate and proportionate to the offence.

If there are multiple victims of the offence, the officer must make reasonable efforts to take the 
views of all the victims into account. If the victims have different views then the officer should 
consider these but will make the final decision as to which action it is appropriate for the 
perpetrator to undertake. 

Community resolutions are entirely voluntary. The officer should ensure the victim understands 
the purpose of community resolutions and that the victim knows that they can choose not to be 
involved. This will help to ensure the victim has realistic expectations of what can be achieved. 
For example, the resolution may not be legally enforceable if the perpetrator fails to complete the 
agreed action. 

It is not necessary for the victim to meet the perpetrator in order to choose the action in the 
Community Remedy document. The officer may consider undertaking a risk assessment, particularly 
if the victim is known to the perpetrator, or if the resolution involves the victim meeting the perpetrator. 

Page 54

http://www.acpo.police.uk/documents/criminaljustice/2012/201208CJBAComResandRJ.pdf
http://www.acpo.police.uk/documents/criminaljustice/2012/201208CJBAComResandRJ.pdf


15Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Putting victims first: The Community Remedy is intended to give victims more say in the 
punishment of perpetrators out of court. However, the victim’s involvement is voluntary and the 
victim must not be made to feel they should take part in a process they are not comfortable 
with, that they think may put them at risk, or that they do not believe will be of benefit to them. 

When using the Community Remedy the officer should consider the most appropriate way to 
involve the victim. If the victim is under 18 or vulnerable, they may require a family member or carer 
to assist them understand the purpose of community resolutions and choose an action from the 
Community Remedy document. 

If the victim is not contactable, or it cannot be ascertained who the victim is, for example, if the offence 
is graffiti in a public place, the officer will choose an appropriate action for the perpetrator to undertake.

Conditional caution and youth conditional caution

When a conditional caution or a youth conditional caution is to be used, the officer or authorised 
person must make reasonable efforts to obtain the views of the victim as to whether the 
perpetrator should carry out any of the actions listed in the Community Remedy document. If the 
officer issuing the conditional caution considers that the action chosen by the victim is appropriate, 
the action can form part of the conditions of the caution. The police officer or investigating officer 
in question (or prosecutor in some cases) will have ultimate responsibility for ensuring that the 
sanction offered to the perpetrator is appropriate and proportionate to the offence.

If there are multiple victims of the offence, the officer must make reasonable efforts to take the 
views of all the victims into account. If the victims have different views then the officer should 
consider these but will make the final decision as to which action it is appropriate for the 
perpetrator to undertake. 

Conditional cautions are available for all offences except domestic violence and hate crimes, which 
are excluded from the conditional caution scheme. For full details of the considerations to apply 
when deciding whether to use a conditional caution, see the Ministry of Justice's Statutory Code 
of Practice for Adult Conditional Cautions. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/code-of-practice-for-adult-conditional-cautions

A youth conditional caution is available for any offence, except for domestic violence or hate crime, 
which scores four on the ACPO Gravity Matrix. Full details can be found in the Ministry of Justice's 
Statutory Code of Practice for Youth Conditional Cautions. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/code-of-practice-for-youth-conditional-
cautions--2

Page 55

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/code-of-practice-for-adult-conditional-cautions 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/code-of-practice-for-youth-conditional-cautions--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/code-of-practice-for-youth-conditional-cautions--2


16 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Dealing with anti-social behaviour is rarely simple. The new powers are designed to be flexible, 
allowing professionals to adapt them to protect victims in a wide range of situations. However, the 
new powers will work best when complemented by more effective ways of working – in particular, 
working in partnership, sharing information and using early and informal interventions.

Working together and sharing information

The new powers will allow the police, councils, social landlords and others to deal with problems 
quickly. However, local agencies should still work together where appropriate to ensure the best 
results for victims. Each agency brings with it a range of expertise and experience that when 
brought together can assist in resolving issues more effectively.

As part of this joined-up approach, an effective information-sharing protocol is essential. There is 
already a duty on some bodies (such as the police and councils) to work together and in areas where 
this works well, with information flowing between partners quickly, victims can see a real difference in 
the response to their reports of anti-social behaviour. The Community Trigger outlined in Part 1 of this 
guidance includes a specific duty on some bodies to share information when the trigger is activated, 
however, partners should not wait until a victim feels they are being ignored before coming together 
to prepare a response.

Case management

Effective case management should underpin all activity to deal with anti-social behaviour, starting 
from when a complaint is received until the matter is resolved. The welfare, safety and well-being 
of victims whose complaints form the basis of any action must be the main consideration at every 
stage of the process. This will ensure that agencies provide a fair and consistent service to the 
public, taking timely appropriate action to tackle anti-social behaviour.

Assessing the risk to victims

It is good practice for agencies to assess the risk of harm to the victim, and their potential 
vulnerability, when they receive a complaint about anti-social behaviour. This should mark the start 
of the case-management process. It is important to identify the effect the anti-social behaviour 
is having on the victim, particularly if repeated incidents of anti-social behaviour are having a 
cumulative effect on their well-being. A continuous and organised risk assessment will help identify 
cases that are causing, or could result in serious harm to the victim, either as a one-off incident or 
as part of a targeted and persistent campaign of anti-social behaviour against the victim.

Part 2: More effective powers

Page 56



17Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

2.1 Early and informal interventions

Early intervention, especially through informal approaches, can be successful in stopping the 
anti-social behaviour committed by the majority of perpetrators. For example, a 2013 HouseMark 
survey showed that over 80% of anti-social behaviour cases dealt with by social landlords were 
successfully resolved through some form of early or informal intervention. 

Early and informal interventions can establish clear standards of behaviour and reinforce the 
message that anti-social behaviour will not be tolerated. In many cases, awareness of the impact 
of their behaviour on victims, and the threat of more formal enforcement tools, can be a sufficient 
incentive for an individual to change their behaviour. It should be for frontline professionals to 
decide when and how to use these approaches, but the Government encourages use of informal 
methods where it is deemed to be appropriate.

Informal interventions should be considered first in most cases, particularly when dealing with 
young people, as they can stop bad behaviour before it escalates. This should be determined by 
professionals on a case by case basis. However, some of the most common forms of informal 
intervention are included below for reference. Alternatively, in cases where informal intervention is 
not the appropriate first step, perhaps because the victim is at risk of harm, professionals should 
consider progressing directly to formal sanctions.

Warnings

Verbal warnings: In deciding to use a verbal warning, the officer should still consider the 
evidence. For instance, the officer should have reason to believe that the anti-social behaviour 
has occurred, or is likely to occur, and that the individual’s behaviour could be considered to be 
unreasonable. In issuing a verbal warning, the police, council or housing officer should make clear 
to the individual what behaviour is causing the issue and what effect this is having on the victim or 
community and the consequences of non-compliance are explained clearly. 

Written warnings: As with a verbal warning, a written warning should contain specifics about 
what behaviour has occurred and why this is not acceptable, including the impact on any victims 
or local community. Local agencies should alert each other that the warning has been given so 
that it can be effectively monitored. 

Each agency needs to ensure that it keeps a record of any verbal or written warning given so that 
it may be used as evidence in court proceedings if required.

Local agencies may wish to consider what level of detail they go into at this stage regarding 
the consequences of further anti-social behaviour and more serious sanctions – for instance, 
an Acceptable Behaviour Contract, court proceedings for a civil injunction or even criminal 
proceedings if the behaviour escalates.

Community resolution

‘Community resolution’ is the nationally recognised term for the resolution of a less serious offence 
or anti-social behaviour, through informal agreement between the parties involved as opposed to 
progression through the criminal justice process. A community resolution may be used with both 
youth and adult perpetrators. It enables the police to deal more proportionately with lower level 
crime and anti-social behaviour in a timely and transparent manner that takes into account the 
needs of the victim, perpetrator and wider community, outside the formal criminal justice system. 

Page 57



18 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Community resolutions are primarily aimed at first time perpetrators where genuine remorse has 
been expressed, and where an out-of-court disposal is more appropriate than taking more formal 
action. Community resolutions can help to reduce reoffending by encouraging perpetrators to face 
up to the impact of their behaviour and to take responsibility for making good the harm caused. 

Further information can be found in the ACPO Guidelines on the use of Community Resolutions 
(CR) Incorporating Restorative Justice (RJ) 2012.

The new Community Remedy document outlined in Part 1.2 must be used when dealing with anti-
social behaviour or lower-level offences out of court through community resolutions.

Mediation

In many cases of anti-social behaviour, mediation can be an effective tool, solving the issue by 
bringing all parties to the table. This can be very effective in neighbour disputes, family conflicts, 
lifestyle differences such as noise nuisance complaints and similar situations where it can 
sometimes be difficult to identify the victim and the perpetrator.

Mediation does not work if it is forced on those involved. All parties must be willing to come to the 
table and discuss their issues and agencies should consider whether mediation is appropriate, 
who should attend and set clear ground rules for participation.

It is not for the mediator to establish a solution to the issue as, in most cases, they will have 
already tried this with each party unsuccessfully. For mediation to deliver long-term solutions, 
those in dispute should agree a solution. The mediator should facilitate this conversation and 
ensure all parties adhere to the ground rules. They can also draw up an agreement if required for 
all parties to sign to formalise what has been agreed.

Acceptable Behaviour Contracts

Acceptable behaviour contracts (ABCs), sometimes called acceptable behaviour agreements, can 
be an effective way of dealing with anti-social individuals, especially where there are a number 
of problem behaviours. They can also be very effective at dealing with young people early, to nip 
problem behaviours in the bud before they escalate.

ABCs are a written agreement between a perpetrator of anti-social behaviour and the agency or 
agencies acting locally to prevent that behaviour. The terms of an ABC can be discussed with the 
perpetrator before they are drafted and signed to encourage compliance. However, there is no 
formal sanction associated with refusing to sign an ABC, so if an individual does not wish to sign, 
they cannot be forced to do so. However, refusal to sign an ABC may persuade a court that only a 
civil injunction or a criminal behaviour order will prevent the anti-social behaviour.

While there are no formal sanctions associated with breaching the conditions of an ABC, agencies 
should consider further steps if the individual does not change their behaviour. Potential further 
action should be made clear in the ABC so that the perpetrator is aware of the consequences 
of failing to comply. In the case of graffiti, for example, this could be the issue of a community 
protection notice or an application for a civil injunction. 

In cases where court proceedings are subsequently deemed necessary, the work undertaken 
as part of drafting an ABC can form part of the evidence pack. For instance, any discussion 
with victims and communities to assess the impact of the behaviour could form the basis of a 
community impact statement for the court.

Page 58



19Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Parenting contracts

Where informal interventions are used against under 18s, the parents or guardians of the young 
person should be contacted in advance of the decision to take action. In many cases, the parents 
or guardians can play an important role in ensuring the individual changes their behaviour. While 
there are formal routes such as parenting orders, at this stage it may be appropriate to include a 
role for the parent in an ABC. In addition, if the behaviour of the parent is part of the issue (either 
because they are a bad influence on the child or fail to provide suitable supervision) agencies 
could consider a parenting contract. These are similar to an ABC but are signed by the parent 
or guardian. They could also be considered where the child in question is under 10 and so other 
interventions are not appropriate for the perpetrator themselves.

With a potentially troubled family, agencies should consider discussing the matter with other 
bodies with an interest – for instance the local youth offending team, social services and school to 
assess the scale of the problem. Family intervention programmes and the local Troubled Families 
Unit should also be contacted where appropriate to discuss potential interventions.

Support and counselling

In many cases, there are underlying causes of the anti-social behaviour. The new powers allow 
professionals to actively deal with these through the use of positive requirements. However, there 
is no need to wait until formal court action before offering help.

Substance misuse or alcohol dependency can drive anti-social behaviour and low-level crime, and 
support can have a positive impact. Catching someone before they fall into a criminal way of life by 
supporting them to escape addiction can save thousands of pounds in enforcement action over a 
person’s lifetime.

The Troubled Families Programme has already identified many of the issues faced by young 
people (https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/helping-troubled-families-turn-their-lives-around). 
The young person being dealt with may already be known by the Troubled Families Unit, but if not, 
it may be useful to discuss the issues with local experts to see whether there is a wider support 
programme that can be put in place.

Conclusion

These are only a selection of the informal approaches that have been successful across England 
and Wales in recent years. In many cases, informal early intervention is successful in changing 
behaviours and protecting communities. Local enforcement agencies should develop a framework 
of early and informal interventions that reflects the needs of victims and communities. Early and 
informal interventions may be included in a plan to deal with anti-social behaviour locally, but 
should not replace formal interventions where they are the most effective means of dealing with 
anti-social behaviour.

Page 59



20 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

2.2	 Civil injunction

Purpose To stop or prevent individuals engaging in anti-social behaviour quickly, nipping 
problems in the bud before they escalate. 

Applicants •	 Local councils;

•	 Social landlords;

•	 Police (including British Transport Police); 

•	 Transport for London;

•	 Environment Agency and Natural Resources Wales; and

•	 NHS Protect and NHS Protect (Wales)

Test •	 On the balance of probabilities;

•	 Behaviour likely to cause harassment, alarm or distress (non-housing related    
anti-social behaviour); or

•	 Conduct capable of causing nuisance or annoyance (housing-related anti-social 
behaviour); and

•	 Just and convenient to grant the injunction to prevent anti-social behaviour. 

Details •	 Issued by the county court and High Court for over 18s and the youth court for 
under 18s.

•	 Injunction will include prohibitions and can also include positive requirements to get 
the perpetrator to address the underlying causes of their anti-social behaviour. 

•	 Agencies must consult youth offending teams in applications against under 18s.

Penalty on breach •	 Breach of the injunction is not a criminal offence, but breach must be proved to the 
criminal standard, that is, beyond reasonable doubt.

•	 Over 18s: civil contempt of court with unlimited fine or up to two years in prison. 

•	 Under 18s: supervision order or, as a very last resort, a civil detention order of up 
to three months for 14-17 year olds.

Appeals •	 Over 18s to the High Court; and

•	 Under 18s to the Crown Court.

Important changes/
differences

•	 Available to a wider range of agencies than Anti-Social Behaviour Injunctions.

•	 Obtainable on a civil standard of proof unlike Anti-Social Behaviour Orders 
(ASBOs).

•	 No need to prove “necessity” unlike ASBOs. 

•	 Breach is not a criminal offence. 

•	 Scope for positive requirements to focus on long-term solutions.

Page 60



21Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Purpose

The injunction under Part 1 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 is a civil 
power which can be applied for to deal with anti-social individuals. The injunction can offer fast 
and effective protection for victims and communities and set a clear standard of behaviour for 
perpetrators, stopping the person’s behaviour from escalating. 

Although the injunction is a civil power, it is still a formal sanction and many professionals will want 
to consider informal approaches before resorting to court action, especially in the case of under 
18s. However, where informal approaches have not worked or professionals decide that a formal 
response is needed more quickly, they should be free to do so.

Applicants

A number of agencies can apply for the injunction to ensure that the body best placed to lead on 
a specific case can do so. These are:

•	 A local council; 

•	 A housing provider;

Injunction 
sought

test met Injunction 
sought

Anti-social 
individual 
‘has engaged 
or threatens 
to engage 
in conduct 
causing 
nuisance or 
annoyance’.

Agency (e.g. 
police, local 
council, social 
landlord) 
applies for an 
injunction to 
prevent or stop 
the harassment, 
alarm or 
distress or 
the nuisance 
or annoyance 
in a housing 
context.

Case heard in 
county court or 
High court for 
over 18s.

Case heard in 
youth court for 
under 18s.

Court agrees that 
behaviour meets 
harassment, 
alarm or distress 
test for non-
housing related 
anti-social 
behaviour or 
meets nuisance 
or annoyance 
test for housing-
related anti-social 
behaviour (using 
civil standard 
of proof - 'on 
the balance of 
probabilities') 
and that it is just 
and convenient 
to grant the 
injunction for 
the purposes of 
preventing such 
behaviour.

Court issues 
injunction 
– prohibits 
individual from 
doing X, and 
requires them to 
do Y to address 
their anti-social 
behaviour.

Sanctions for 
breach, 
if proven:

• Adults – up 
to two years 
in prison or 
unlimited fine 

• Under 18s 
– supervision, 
curfew, activity 
requirement, 
or detention in 
most serious 
cases.

county 
court/High 

Court

youth 
court

Alcohol

Drugs

Bullying

Graffiti

Dogs

Noise

Individual 
complies with 
injunction

Breach –  
a civil matter 
punishable as 
contempt of 
court

Civil injunction

Page 61



22 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

•	 The chief officer of police for the local area;

•	 The chief constable of the British Transport Police;

•	 Transport for London;

•	 The Environment Agency and Natural Resources Wales;

•	 NHS Protect and NHS Protect (Wales).

Putting victims first: Anti-social behaviour should be tackled with agencies working together, 
rather than in isolation. Agencies may consider establishing local consultation protocols and 
arrangements for applying for injunctions.

Test

There are two tests for an injunction under Part 1 of the 2014 Act.

Non-housing related

For anti-social behaviour in a non-housing related context the test is conduct that has caused, or is 
likely to cause, harassment, alarm or distress to any person. This will apply, for example, where the 
anti-social behaviour has occurred in a public place, such as a town or city centre, shopping mall, or 
local park, and where the behaviour does not affect the housing management functions of a social 
landlord or people in their homes. 

Housing-related

For anti-social behaviour in a housing context the nuisance or annoyance test will apply, that is, 
where the conduct is capable of causing nuisance or annoyance to a person in relation to that 
person’s occupation of residential premises or the conduct is capable of causing housing-related 
nuisance or annoyance to any person. Only social landlords, local councils or the police will be able 
to apply for an injunction under these provisions in the legislation. In the case of social landlords only, 
“housing-related” means directly or indirectly relating to their housing management function. 

The injunction can be applied for by the police, local councils and social landlords against perpetrators 
in social housing, the private-rented sector and owner-occupiers. This means that it can be used 
against perpetrators who are not even tenants of the social landlord who is applying for the order. 

The injunction can also be used in situations where the perpetrator has allowed another person to 
engage in anti-social behaviour, as opposed to actively engaging in such behaviour themselves. For 
example, in a case where another person, such as a visitor or lodger, is or has been behaving anti-
socially, the injunction could be used against the problem visitor, lodger or owner if applicable. An 
agency seeking to apply for the injunction must produce evidence (to the civil standard of proof, that 
is, ‘on the balance of probabilities’) and satisfy the court that it is both ‘just and convenient’ to grant 
the order. 

Putting victims first: In deciding whether the individual’s conduct has caused or is likely to 
cause harassment, alarm or distress or is capable of causing nuisance or annoyance, agencies 
should communicate with all potential victims and witnesses to understand the wider harm to 
individuals and the community. Not only will this ensure that victims and communities feel that 
their problem is being taken seriously, but it will also aid the evidence-gathering process for 
application to the court. 

Page 62



23Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Details

Who can the injunction be issued against? A court may grant the injunction against anyone 
who is 10 years of age or over. Applications against individuals who are 18 years of age or over 
must be made in the county court or High Court, whilst applications against individuals who are 
under 18 years of age must be made in the youth court. 

Intergenerational or ‘mixed aged’ cases: Mostly, hearings for injunction applications will be 
heard in the youth court for under 18s and the county court for over 18s. However, there are some 
cases of anti-social behaviour where the individuals involved include both over 18s and under 
18s. In such cases, the applicant can apply to the youth court to have such cases heard together 
as joint hearings. The youth court must find that it is in the interests of justice to hear the ‘mixed 
aged’ case and, if it does so, the case can only be heard in that court – the joint hearing cannot 
be heard in the county court. However, subsequent hearings (breach etc.) involving individuals over 
18 will take place in the county court. 

Dealing with young people: Applicants must consult the local youth offending team (YOT) if 
the application is against someone under the age of 18 and inform any other body or individual 
the applicant thinks appropriate, for example, a youth charity that is already working with the 
young person. Although the consultation requirement does not mean that the YOT can veto the 
application, it is important that applicants fully consider and take into account representations from 
the YOT as part of developing good partnership working in cases involving young people. YOTs 
play a central role in preventing and reducing anti-social behaviour by young people, working with 
them to try and help them stay away from crime. For more information on YOTs and how to find 
your local team you should visit https://www.gov.uk/youth-offending-team. 

YOTs will be important in getting the young person to adhere to the conditions in the injunction 
and that they are understood. The conditions will be overseen by a responsible officer in the YOT 
or children’s and family services. YOTs will also work with applicants as part of a multi-agency 
approach to ensure that positive requirements in the injunction are tailored to the needs of the 
young person. 

When can injunctions be used? The injunction can be used to deal with a wide range of 
behaviours, many of which can cause serious harm to victims and communities in both housing-
related and non-housing related situations. This can include vandalism, public drunkenness, 
aggressive begging, irresponsible dog ownership, noisy or abusive behaviour towards neighbours, 
or bullying. Agencies must make proportionate and reasonable judgements before applying for 
the injunction. Injunctions should not be used to stop reasonable, trivial or benign behaviours 
that have not caused, or are not likely to cause, anti-social behaviour to victims or communities. 
Failure to make such reasonable and proportionate judgements will increase the likelihood that an 
application will not be successful.

What to include: The injunction will include relevant prohibitions to get individuals to stop 
behaving anti-socially. It can also include positive requirements to get the individual to deal with 
the underlying cause of their behaviour. Agencies will have the discretion to tailor the positive 
requirements in each case to address the respondent’s individual circumstances, behaviour and 
needs. Positive requirements could include the following: 

•	 The respondent attending alcohol awareness classes for alcohol-related problems; 

•	 Irresponsible dog owners attending dog training classes provided by animal welfare charities; or

•	 The respondent attending mediation sessions with neighbours or victims. 

Page 63

https://www.gov.uk/youth-offending-team


24 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

The prohibitions or requirements in the injunction must be reasonable and must not, so far as 
practicable:

•	 interfere with the times, if any, at which the respondent normally works or attends school or any 
other educational establishment; or

•	 conflict with the requirements of any other court order or injunction to which the respondent 
may be subject.

In addition to these factors, applicants should consider the impact on any caring responsibilities 
the perpetrator may have and, in the event that they have a disability, whether he or she is capable 
of complying with the proposed prohibitions or requirements.

A draft of the proposed terms of the injunction should include all proposed prohibitions and 
requirements, their duration and any powers of arrest attached. Applicants will need to be 
prepared for the court to examine each prohibition and requirement, and will need to be able 
to prove how each will help stop or prevent the respondent from engaging in or threatening to 
engage in anti-social behaviour in the future. 

Putting victims first: Keeping victims and communities updated on enforcement action at key 
points can help them deal with the impact the behaviour is having. Victims may feel that their 
complaint has been ignored if they don’t see immediate changes to the behaviour. However, 
simply informing them of what is happening can make a huge difference.

Duration of injunctions: Prohibitions or requirements in the injunction can be for a fixed or 
indefinite period for adult perpetrators. In the case of under 18s the prohibitions or requirements 
must have a specified time limit, and the maximum term is 12 months. 

Exclusion from the home: The court may exclude a perpetrator over the age of 18 from any 
premises or an area specified within the terms of the injunction. This can include their home, where 
the court thinks that the anti-social behaviour includes the use, or threatened use, of violence 
against other persons, or there is a significant risk of harm. The word harm is defined in section 
20 of the legislation as including “serious ill-treatment or abuse, whether physical or not” – which 
means that it could include emotional or psychological harm, such as harassment or racial abuse. 

Social landlords will only be able to apply to the court to exclude their own tenants and visitors to 
properties managed by them, whilst councils and the police will be the lead agencies in applying 
to exclude private tenants or owner-occupiers from their homes. In cases where the police or the 
local council is the lead agency in an application to exclude a social tenant, they should consult 
the landlord. If the exclusion is applied against someone in privately rented accommodation or 
in residential leasehold housing, the police force or council should, where circumstances permit, 
inform and consult the landlord (generally referred to in the leasehold as the freeholder) beforehand.

We do not expect the power of exclusion to be used often and the court will pay special attention 
to proportionality in light of the Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life, European 
Convention on Human Rights) implications. As such, applications should only be made for 
exclusion in extreme cases that meet the higher threshold set out above.

Publicising the injunction issued to a young person: Making the public aware of the 
perpetrator and the terms of the order can be an important part of the process in dealing with 
anti-social behaviour. It can provide reassurance to communities that action is being taken when 
they report anti-social behaviour. It will also provide the information local people need to identify 
and report breaches. The decision to publicise the injunction will be taken by the police or council 
unless the court has made a section 39 order (Children and Young Persons Act 1933) prohibiting Page 64



25Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

publication. When deciding whether to publicise the injunction, public authorities (including the 
courts) must consider that it is necessary and proportionate to interfere with the young person’s 
right to privacy, and the likely impact on a young person’s behaviour. This will need to be balanced 
against the need to provide re-assurance to the victims and the wider community as well as 
providing them with information so that they can report any breaches. Each case should be 
decided carefully on its own facts. 

‘Without notice’ applications: Injunctions can be applied for ‘without notice’ being given to 
the perpetrator in exceptional cases to stop serious harm to victims. They should not be made 
routinely or in place of inadequate preparation for normal ‘with notice’ applications. The notification 
and consultation requirements that apply to ‘with notice’ applications do not apply to ‘without 
notice’ applications. 

Interim injunctions: The court will grant an interim injunction if a ‘without notice’ application 
is successful. The court may also grant an interim injunction where a standard application is 
adjourned. The interim injunction can only include prohibitions, not positive requirements. When 
applying for an interim injunction, the applicant should ensure that the application presents the 
victim’s case and also why the interim injunction is necessary. 

Variation and discharge of injunctions: The court has the power to vary or discharge the injunction 
upon application by either the perpetrator or the applicant. If the applicant wishes to discharge or 
vary the injunction, they should notify the people and organisations they consulted as part of the 
initial application process. Applicants may consider applying to vary the injunction in response to 
changes in the respondent’s behaviour. The powers of the court to vary the injunction include: 

•	 to remove a prohibition or requirement in the injunction;

•	 to include a prohibition or requirement in the injunction;

•	 to reduce the period for which a prohibition or requirement has effect;

•	 to extend the period for which a prohibition or requirement has effect; or

•	 to attach a power of arrest, or extend the period for which a power of arrest has effect.

If the court dismisses an application to vary the injunction, the relevant party is not allowed to 
make a further application without the consent of the court or the agreement of the other party. 

Power of arrest: The court can attach a power of arrest to any prohibition or requirement in the 
injunction, except a positive requirement, that is, a requirement that the respondent participates in 
a particular activity. The court can only attach a power of arrest if: 

•	 the anti-social behaviour in which the respondent has engaged, or threatens to engage, consists 
of or includes the use, or threatened use, of violence against other persons; or

•	 there is a significant risk of harm to other persons from the respondent. 

If the applicant believes a power of arrest is appropriate, they should present this by way of written 
evidence. Such evidence may indicate that the respondent poses a high level of risk to the victim 
or the community should any of the conditions in the injunction be breached, for example, a 
history of violent behaviour. Where a power of arrest is attached to a condition of the injunction, 
a police officer can arrest the respondent without warrant if he or she has reasonable cause to 
believe that a breach has occurred. The police must present the respondent to court within 24 
hours of their arrest (except on Sunday, Christmas Day and Good Friday). 

If the applicant thinks that the respondent has breached a term of the injunction to which a power 
of arrest has not been attached, they may apply to the court for an arrest warrant. The application 
must be made to a judge in the county court in the case of an adult and a justice of the peace in 

Page 65



26 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

the case of respondents who are below the age of 18. The court may then issue a warrant for the 
respondent’s arrest and to be brought before the court but only if it has reasonable grounds for 
believing the respondent has breached a provision in the injunction. The police must inform the 
applicant when the respondent is arrested. 

Hearsay evidence: Hearsay and professional witness evidence allow for the identities of those 
who are unable to give evidence due to fear or intimidation, to be protected. This is especially 
important as cases can involve anti-social behaviour in residential areas where local people and 
those targeted by the behaviour may feel unable to come forward for fear of reprisals. Hearsay 
evidence could be provided by a police officer, healthcare official, or any other professional who 
has interviewed the witness directly. 

Penalty on breach

The breach of the injunction is not a criminal offence. However, due to the potential severity of the 
penalties which the court can impose on respondents, the criminal standard of proof – ‘beyond 
reasonable doubt’ – is applied in breach proceedings. 

For adults, breach is dealt with by a civil contempt of court, which is punishable by up to two 
years in prison and/or an unlimited fine. The imprisonment is for contempt of court, not for the 
conduct. For under 18s, breach proceedings are dealt with in the youth court and could result in 
a supervision order with a supervision, curfew or activity requirement. In the most serious cases, 
(that is, ‘where the court determines that because of the severity or extent of the breach no other 
power available to it is appropriate’) the court may impose a detention order on a young person for 
breaching the terms of the injunction – including breach of a positive requirement. For under 18s, 
only those between 14 and 17 years of age can be detained for breaching the injunction and they 
cannot be detained for longer than three months. 

Remands: The court has the power to remand a perpetrator in custody or on bail after they 
have been arrested for suspected breach of the injunction (with or without warrant). An under 18 
can only be remanded in custody on medical grounds, that is, after obtaining evidence from a 
registered medical practitioner the court is satisfied that the young person is suffering from a mental 
disorder and it would be impracticable to get a medical report for the young person if they were 
granted bail. The court has discretion as to whether to remand a person on bail or in custody.

Appeals

Appeals may be lodged by both the applicant and perpetrator following the grant, refusal, variation 
or discharge of the injunction. A decision by the county court (in the case of proceedings in 
respect of an adult) may be appealed to the High Court. Appeals against decisions of the youth 
court in under 18 cases are heard in the Crown Court.

Page 66



27Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

2.3	 Criminal behaviour order

Purpose Issued by any criminal court against a person who has been convicted of an 
offence to tackle the most persistently anti-social individuals who are also engaged 
in criminal activity. 

Applicants The prosecution, in most cases the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS), either at its 
own initiative or following a request from the police or council. 

Test •	 If the court is satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that the offender has engaged 
in behaviour that has caused or is likely to cause harassment, alarm or distress to 
any person; and

•	 The court considers that making the order will help prevent the offender from 
engaging in such behaviour.

Details •	 Issued by any criminal court for any criminal offence.

•	 The anti-social behaviour does not need to be part of the criminal offence.

•	 Order will include prohibitions to stop the anti-social behaviour but it can also 
include positive requirements to get the offender to address the underlying causes 
of the offender's behaviour.

•	 Agencies must find out the view of the youth offending team (YOT) for applications 
for under 18s.

Penalty on breach •	 Breach of the order is a criminal offence and must be proved to a criminal 
standard of proof, that is, beyond reasonable doubt. 

•	 For over 18s on summary conviction: up to six months imprisonment or a fine or 
both.

•	 For over 18s on conviction on indictment: up to five years imprisonment or a fine 
or both.

•	 For under 18s: the sentencing powers in the youth court apply. 

Appeals •	 Appeals against orders made in the magistrates’ court (which includes the youth 
court) lie to the Crown Court.

•	 Appeals against orders made in the Crown Court lie to the Court of Appeal.

Important changes/
differences

•	 Consultation requirement with YOTs for under 18s.

•	 No need to prove “necessity” unlike Anti-Social Behaviour Orders.

•	 Scope for positive requirements to focus on long-term solutions.

Page 67



28 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Purpose

The Criminal Behaviour Order (CBO) is available on conviction for any criminal offence in any 
criminal court. The order is aimed at tackling the most serious and persistent offenders where their 
behaviour has brought them before a criminal court. 

Applicants

The prosecution, usually the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS), but in some cases it could be a local 
council, may apply for the CBO after the offender has been convicted of a criminal offence. The 
prosecution can apply for a CBO at its own initiative or following a request from a council or the police. 
The CBO hearing will occur after, or at the same time as, the sentencing for the criminal conviction. 

Good relationships will be important between local agencies and the CPS to ensure the CBO 
application can be properly reviewed and notice of it served as soon as practicable, without 
waiting for the verdict in the criminal case. The court cannot consider an application for a CBO 
at a hearing after the offender has been sentenced, unless the court has adjourned proceedings 
from the sentence date for the application to be considered. Agencies should consider setting up 
local information exchanges to make sure that the CBO is considered every time an anti-social 
behaviour offender is brought to a criminal court.

The test

For a CBO to be made:

•	 the court must be satisfied, beyond reasonable doubt, that the offender has engaged in 
behaviour that caused, or was likely to cause, harassment, alarm or distress to any person; and

•	 that the court considers making the order will help in preventing the offender from engaging in 
such behaviour.

Criminal behaviour order

CBO 
requested

Test met Injunction 
sought

Anti-social 
individual 
commits 
criminal 
offence and is 
prosecuted.

The prosecution 
applies for a 
CBO after the 
offender has 
been convicted 
of the criminal 
offence.

The court is 
satisfied beyond 
reasonable 
doubt that the 
perpetrator 
has caused, 
harassment, 
alarm or distress 
to others and 
the CBO will 
help prevent it.

The CBO 
prohibits 
individual from 
doing X for 
two years and 
requires them 
to do Y to 
address their 
behaviour.

Criminal 
Damage

Hate 
crime

Verbal 
abuse

Assault 

Vandalism

Individual breaches prohibition – 
if proven, a criminal offence 
with a sentence of up to five years 
in custody

Individual breaches requirement – 
if proven, a criminal offence 
with a sentence of up to five years 
in custody

Individual complies with CBO. 
Order can be discharged by the 
court 

Criminal conviction

or any 
other 

criminal 
offence

Page 68



29Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Details

When can a CBO be used? The CBO can deal with a wide range of anti-social behaviours 
following the individual’s conviction for a criminal offence, for example, threatening violence against 
others in the community, persistently being drunk and aggressive in public or criminal damage. 
Agencies must make proportionate and reasonable judgements before applying for a CBO and 
conditions of an order should not be designed to stop reasonable, trivial or benign behaviours 
that have not caused, or are not likely to cause, anti-social behaviour to victims or communities. 
An application for a CBO does not require a link between the criminal behaviour which led to the 
conviction and the anti-social behaviour for it to be issued by the court. 

Consultation: The only formal consultation requirement applies where an offender is under 18 
years of age. In those cases, the prosecution must find out the views of the local youth offending 
team (YOT) before applying for the CBO. The views of the YOT must be included in the file of 
evidence forwarded to the prosecution. In practice, the consultation with the YOT must be carried 
out by the organisation preparing the application for the CBO, namely the council or police force. 

The legislation has deliberately kept formal consultation requirements to a minimum, to enable 
agencies to act quickly where needed to protect victims and communities. However, in most 
cases it is likely there would be a number of agencies the police or local council would wish to 
consult with. This could include local organisations that have come into contact with the individual, 
such as schools and colleges of further education, providers of probation services, social services, 
mental health services, housing providers or others. 

These views should be considered before the decision is made to ask the CPS to consider 
applying for a CBO. This will ensure that an order is the proper course of action in each case and 
that the terms of the order are appropriate. 

Evidence not heard in the criminal case can still be admissible at the CBO hearing, for example, 
evidence of other anti-social behaviour by the offender and information about why an order is 
appropriate in the terms asked for. Witnesses who might be reluctant to give evidence in person 
may have their evidence accepted as a written statement, or given by someone such as a police 
officer as hearsay evidence, but this will depend on the circumstances of the individual case. 

Special measures are available in proceedings for CBOs in the case of witnesses who are under 
18 and vulnerable and intimidated adult witnesses (sections 16 and 17, Youth Justice and Criminal 
Evidence Act 1999). The court has to satisfy itself that the special measure, or combination of 
special measures, is likely to maximise the quality of the witness’s evidence before granting an 
application for special measures. 

Interim orders: In cases where an offender is convicted of an offence but the court is adjourned 
for sentencing, or the CBO hearing is adjourned after sentence, an interim order can be granted, if 
the court thinks that it is just to do so. The prosecution can apply for the interim order. 

Duration of a CBO: The terms of the CBO must include the duration of the order. For adults this 
is a minimum of two years up to an indefinite period. For under 18s the order must be between 
one and three years.

Prohibitions and requirements: The CBO must clearly describe the details of what the offender 
is not allowed to do (prohibitions) as well as what they must do (requirements). Orders can include 
prohibitions or requirements or both. It is up to the court to decide which are needed to help 
prevent further anti-social behaviour and which measures are most appropriate and available, 
to tackle the underlying cause of the behaviour. So far as practicable, these must not interfere 
with an offender’s education or work commitments or conflict with any other court order or Page 69



30 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

injunction the offender is subject to. In addition to these factors, practitioners should, in proposing 
prohibitions or requirements to the court, also consider the impact on any caring responsibilities 
the respondent may have and, in the event that the respondent has any disability, whether he or 
she is capable of complying with the proposed prohibitions or requirements.

Local agencies will be familiar with the prohibitions element of the order. However, as with the civil 
injunction, requirements could also be included if the court believes that it will help stop further anti-
social behaviour by the offender. Requirements should aim to tackle the underlying cause of the 
anti-social behaviour and be tailored to the specific needs of each offender. They could include: 

•	 attendance at an anger management course where an offender finds it difficult to respond 
without violence; 

•	 youth mentoring;

•	 a substance misuse awareness session where an offender’s anti-social behaviour occurs when 
they have been drinking or using drugs; or 

•	 a job readiness course to help an offender get employment and move them away from the 
circumstances that cause them to commit anti-social behaviour. 

The court must receive evidence about the suitability and enforceability of any requirement from the 
person or organisation who will be responsible for supervising compliance with the requirement.

Putting victims first: The potential impact on the victim(s) will be at the heart of the 
considerations of the terms of the order. Stopping the anti-social behaviour is for the benefit of 
the victim and the CBO is not a punitive measure. Always stop to think how the terms of the 
order will impact on the victim(s): What would they think? Would they be satisfied? It is also 
good practice to take the time to explain the terms of the order to the victim(s) so that they are 
aware of the outcome of the court case.

Publicising a CBO issued to a young person: Making the public aware of the offender and the 
terms of the order can be an important part of the process in dealing with anti-social behaviour. 
It can provide reassurance to communities that action is being taken when they report anti-social 
behaviour. It will also provide the information local people need to identify and report breaches. 
The decision to publicise a CBO will be taken by the police or council unless the court has made 
a section 39 order (Children and Young Persons Act 1933) prohibiting publication. When deciding 
whether to publicise a CBO, public authorities (including the courts) must consider that it is 
necessary and proportionate to interfere with the young person’s right to privacy, and the likely 
impact on a young person’s behaviour. This will need to be balanced against the need to provide 
re-assurance to the victims and the wider community as well as providing them with information 
so that they can report any breaches. Each case should be decided carefully on its own facts.

Applications to vary or discharge the order: A CBO may be varied or discharged by the court 
which made the original order. Either the offender or the prosecution can make an application 
but if this is dismissed by the court neither party can make a subsequent application without the 
consent of either the court or the other party. 

The power to vary the order includes extending the term of the order or including additional 
prohibitions or requirements in the order. This flexibility allows for those monitoring the progress of 
offenders to alter the conditions of the order to suit any developing new circumstances. 

Page 70



31Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Annual reviews for under 18s: Where the order is made against someone under 18 years of age, 
there is a requirement to conduct annual reviews. The review must include consideration of: 

•	 the extent to which the offender has complied with their order; 

•	 the adequacy of any support available to help them to comply with the order; and 

•	 anything else relevant to the question of whether an application should be made to vary or 
discharge the order. 

Under the legislation, the police have overall responsibility for carrying out such a review, with 
a requirement to act in co-operation with the council. The police may invite any other person 
or body to participate in the review. This could include youth offending teams, educational 
establishments or other organisations who have been working with the young person. As a result 
of the review an application to vary or discharge the CBO may be made to the court.

Penalty on breach

It is a criminal offence if an offender fails to comply, without reasonable excuse, with either the 
requirements or prohibitions in the CBO. Failure to comply with a prohibition or requirement should 
be notified to the police. The court has the power to impose serious penalties on conviction, including: 

•	 on summary conviction in the magistrates' court: a maximum of six months in prison or a fine or both.

•	 on conviction on indictment in the Crown Court: a maximum of five years in prison or a fine or both.

Hearings for those under 18 will take place in the youth court where the maximum sentence is a 
two year detention and training order.

Page 71



32 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

2.4	 Dispersal power

Purpose Requires a person committing or likely to commit anti-social behaviour, crime or 
disorder to leave an area for up to 48 hours. 

Used by •	 Police officers in uniform; and

•	 Police Community Support Officers (if designated the power by their chief 
constable).

Test •	 Contributing or likely to contribute to members of the public in the locality being 
harassed, alarmed or distressed (or the occurrence of crime and disorder); and

•	 Direction necessary to remove or reduce the likelihood of the anti-social behaviour, 
crime or disorder.

Details •	 Must specify the area to which it relates and can determine the time and the route 
to leave by.

•	 Can confiscate any item that could be used to commit anti-social behaviour, crime 
or disorder.

•	 Use in a specified locality must be authorised by a police inspector and can last for 
up to 48 hours.

•	 A direction can be given to anyone who is, or appears to be, over the age of 10.

•	 A person who is under 16 and given a direction can be taken home or to a place 
of safety. 

Penalty on breach •	 Breach is a criminal offence.

•	 Failure to comply with a direction to leave: up to a level 4 fine and/or up to 
three months in prison although under 18s cannot be imprisoned.

•	 Failure to hand over items: up to a level 2 fine. 

Appeals A person who is given a direction and feels they have been incorrectly dealt with 
should speak to the duty inspector at the local police station. Details should be given 
to the person on the written notice. 

Important changes/
differences

•	 It is a more flexible power; it can be used to provide immediate respite to a 
community from anti-social behaviour, crime or disorder.

•	 An area does not need to be designated as a dispersal zone in advance.

•	 Although there is no requirement to consult the local council, the authorising 
officer may consider doing so in some circumstances before authorising use of 
the dispersal.

•	 Police Community Support Officers may use all elements of the dispersal power 
(if designated the power by their chief constable).

Page 72



33Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Purpose

The dispersal power is a flexible power which the police can use in a range of situations to 
disperse anti-social individuals and provide immediate short-term respite to a local community. 
The power is preventative as it allows an officer to deal instantly with someone’s behaviour and nip 
the problem in the bud before it escalates. In areas where there are regular problems, the police 
force should work with the local council to find sustainable long-term solutions. In all instances, the 
impact on the local community should be considered before using the dispersal power. 

Who can use it?

The dispersal power can be used by police officers in uniform. Police Community Support Officers 
(PCSOs) can also use this power if designated by their chief constable. Use of the dispersal power 
must be authorised by an officer of at least the rank of inspector before use. This will ensure that 
the dispersal power is not used to stop reasonable activities such as busking or other types of 
street entertainment which are not causing anti-social behaviour. It may be appropriate for an 
officer of a more senior rank than inspector to authorise the use of the dispersal power where, for 
example, there is not an inspector on duty who knows the specific circumstances of the area. The 
authorising officer can sanction use of the power in a specified locality for a period of up to 48 
hours or make a decision on a case by case basis. 

The inspector (or above) must record the authorisation in writing, specifying the grounds on which 
it is given and sign the authorisation. The decision should be based on objective grounds; this 
may include local knowledge of the area and intelligence that there are likely to be problems at a 
specific time. The authorising police officer should ensure that the wider impacts on, for example, 
community relations, are considered properly before use. The written authorisation may be 
admitted in evidence if the making of the authorisation is in dispute.

There is likely to 
be ASB, crime 
or disorder 
in an area 
and it may 
be necessary 
to use the 
dispersal power. 
An inspector 
authorises 
officers to use 
the dispersal 
power for a 
period of up to 
48 hours.

Someone’s 
behaviour is 
causing or 
likely to cause 
harassment, 
alarm or 
distress, 
or crime or 
disorder in the 
public place 
specified in the 
authorisation.

Uniformed 
police officer 
or Police 
Community 
Support 
Officer issues 
a direction to 
leave the area 
for up to 48 
hours.

The direction 
is given in 
writing, or if 
necessary 
verbally.

The police 
officer or Police 
Community 
Support Officer 
can confiscate 
any item.

A person under 
16 can be taken 
home or to a 
place of safety. 

A direction 
cannot be 
given to 
someone under 
10 years old.

Not complying 
with the 
direction is 
an offence:

• three months' 
imprisonment

• up to a level 
4 fine (on 
conviction). 

Not handing 
over items is an 
offence:

• up to a level 
2 fine 
(on conviction).

Dispersal power

Causing 
harassment, 
alarm and 
distress to 

members of the 
public

Likely to cause 
disorder or 

commit crime

Police officer in 
uniform

Police 
Community 

Support Officer

Authorisation  
to use 

dispersal power

Direction to 
leave

Direction to 
leave

LEVEL 2 
FINE

LEVEL 4 
FINE

Page 73



34 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

It is important that this power is used proportionately and reasonably in a manner compatible with 
the Human Rights Act 1998. As such, when pre-authorising or authorising an area, the locality 
should be defined as a specific geographic location, for example by listing the streets to which it 
applies or the streets which form the boundary of the area rather than stating ‘in and around the 
area of’. The authorisation should not cover an area larger than necessary. 

The dispersal power can only be used in the specific location authorised by the inspector. If the 
anti-social behaviour is occurring outside the authorised area, the inspector (or above) will have to 
increase the area or the officer cannot issue the dispersal.

The authorising police officer may wish, where practical, to consult with the local council or 
community representatives before making the authorisation. This may help to understand the 
implications of using the power within a particular community or whether the community will 
benefit from the authorisation or use of the dispersal power. Working with the local authority can 
also assist the police in gaining community consensus and support when it is necessary to use 
the dispersal power or assist community relations where there are concerns about the use of the 
dispersal power in a particular area. When it has not been practical to consult the local authority, 
the authorising officer may wish to notify the local authority if authorisation of the dispersal power 
has been given or the dispersal power has been used. 

In authorising the dispersal power the inspector (or above) must have regard to Articles 10 and 
11 of the European Convention on Human Rights that provide for the right for lawful freedom of 
expression and freedom of assembly.

The test

Two conditions need to be met for a direction to be given:

•	 The officer must have reasonable grounds to suspect that the behaviour of the person has 
contributed, or is likely to contribute, to:

–– members of the public in the locality being harassed, alarmed or distressed; or 

–– crime and disorder occurring in the locality.

•	 The officer considers that giving a direction to the person is necessary for the purpose of 
removing or reducing the likelihood of anti-social behaviour, crime or disorder.

The test includes behaviour that is likely to cause harassment, alarm or distress, allowing the 
dispersal to be used as a preventative measure. The dispersal power is for use in public places; 
this includes places to which the public has access by virtue of express or implied permission, for 
example a shopping centre.

Details

Written notice: The direction must be given in writing, unless that is not reasonably practicable. The 
written notice will specify the locality to which the direction relates and for how long the person must 
leave the area. The officer can also impose requirements as to the time by which the person must 
leave the locality and the route they must take. The officer must also tell the person that failure to 
comply, without reasonable excuse, is an offence unless it is not reasonably practicable to do so. 

The information should be provided as clearly as possible and the officer should ensure the 
person has understood it. If the direction is given verbally a written record of it must also be kept 
in order to enforce it in the event that it is breached, and for the police force to be able to monitor 
use of the power. The written notice may also be admitted in evidence in breach proceedings.

Page 74



35Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Many forces have already established good practice in relation to the use of dispersal powers. For 
instance, in some forces, officers carry a pre-printed notepad to provide details of the direction, 
the consequences of a failure to comply, where to collect any confiscated items, and a map to 
clarify the area a person is excluded from. 

Dispersing young people: A police officer (or PCSO where designated) can give a direction to 
anyone who is, or appears to be, over the age of 10. If the officer reasonably believes the person 
given the direction to be under the age of 16, the officer can take them home or to another place 
of safety. Under the provisions of the Children Act 2004 the police have a duty to ‘safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children’. Police forces have safeguarding arrangements in place to ensure 
that children are not returned to unsafe homes or placed in potentially harmful situations.

Case law in relation to Part 4 of the Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 states that to ‘remove’ a person 
under 16 to their place of residence carries with it a power to use reasonable force if necessary 
to do so. See R (on the application of W by his parent and litigation friend PW) (Claimant) v (1) 
Commissioner of Police for the Metropolis, (2) Richmond-upon-Thames London Borough Council 
(Defendants) and the Secretary of State for the Home Department (Interested Party) [2006]. 

Putting victims first: If the dispersal power is used in response to a complaint from a member 
of the public, the officer should update them about what has been done in response to their 
complaint. Keeping victims updated on enforcement action can provide reassurance to the 
community and result in fewer follow up calls on the issue.

Restrictions: A direction cannot be given to someone engaged in peaceful picketing that is lawful 
under section 220 of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 or if they 
are taking part in a public procession as defined in section 11 of the Public Order Act 1986. In 
addition, the direction cannot restrict someone from having access to the place where they live or 
from attending a place where they:

•	 work, or are contracted to work for that period of time;

•	 are required to attend by a court or tribunal;

•	 are expected for education or training, or to receive medical treatment during the period of time 
that the direction applies. 

Providing information to the public: Where use of the dispersal power has been authorised in 
advance, the police force may wish to consider providing information to those who may be affected. 

Surrender of property: The police officer or PCSO can require the person given the direction to 
hand over items causing or likely to cause anti-social behaviour. This could be any item but typical 
examples are alcohol, fireworks or spray paint. 

The officer does not have the power to seize the item; therefore the person’s consent is required to 
take the item. However, it is an offence for the person not to hand over the item if asked to do so.

Surrendered items will be held at the police station and can be collected after the period of the 
direction has expired. If the item is not collected within 28 days it can be destroyed or disposed 
of. If the individual is under the age of 16 they can be required to be accompanied by a parent or 
other responsible adult to collect the item; this will mean that the adult can be made aware of the 
young person’s behaviour and will help encourage parental responsibility.

Page 75



36 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Recording information and publishing data: The officer giving the direction must record:

•	 the individual to whom the direction is given;

•	 the time at which the direction is given; and

•	 the terms of the direction (including the area to which it relates and the exclusion period). 

If a direction is varied or withdrawn the officer must record the time this was done and the terms 
of the variation. 

Police forces may wish to publish data on the use of the dispersal power to be transparent about 
their use of it. Police and Crime Commissioners will have an important role in holding forces to 
account to ensure that officers are using the power proportionately. Publication of data locally will 
help highlight any 'hotspot' areas that may need a longer-term solution, such 
as diversionary activities for young people or security measures in pubs and clubs to prevent 
alcohol-related anti-social behaviour in town centres.

Penalty on breach

Failure to comply with the direction is a summary only criminal offence which will be dealt with 
in the magistrates’ court or youth court for people under the age of 18. On conviction it carries 
a maximum penalty of a level 4 fine and/or three months imprisonment, although those people 
under the age of 18 cannot be imprisoned. Failure to surrender items is also a criminal offence 
with a maximum penalty of a level 2 fine. 

Appeals

A person who is given a direction and feels they have been incorrectly dealt with should speak 
to the duty inspector at the local police station. Details should be given to the person on the 
written notice.

A more effective power

The new dispersal power is a more flexible tool available to uniformed police officers and 
designated PCSOs to deal with individuals engaging in anti-social behaviour, crime and disorder 
not only when they have occurred or are occurring, but when they are likely to occur and in any 
locality. This extends the capability of the police to prevent incidents of anti-social behaviour, crime 
and disorder before they take place. The new dispersal power replaces those available under 
section 27 of the Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 and section 30 of the Anti-social Behaviour 
Act 2003. 

Important features of the new power are that:

•	 PCSOs will be able to use the power to enable them to take swift action to prevent anti-social 
behaviour or to stop its escalation; 

•	 There is no longer a requirement for the pre-designation of a “dispersal zone” in which the 
power can be used therefore it can be used in any locality immediately; 

•	 The power is also available to disperse individuals without a requirement that two or more 
people be engaged in the offending behaviour;

•	 The new power can be used across the spectrum of anti-social behaviour, crime and disorder; 
not just in dealing with anti-social behaviour and disorder associated with the night-time economy 
and problem licensed premises;

Page 76



37Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

•	 There is an additional power to confiscate items associated with the behaviour of the person 
being directed to disperse, for example alcohol, offensive material, noisy equipment or eggs and 
other missiles used for Halloween “tricks”;

•	 The period of a person’s exclusion from a specified area has been extended to a maximum of 
48 hours;

•	 There is no longer a requirement for the police officer or PCSO to definitively establish the 
person’s age as the new power is available if the person appears to be aged 10 or over;

•	 Authorisation from a senior officer is a safeguard to ensure that the power is used fairly and 
proportionately and only in circumstances in which it is necessary. In many cases, the pre-
authorisation will fit into current operational processes. For example, many current section 27 
directions are given during Friday and Saturday nights while policing the night time economy. In 
this situation, pre-authorisation could be given during the pre-brief before officers begin;

•	 The requirement to keep a written record of when the power is used enables effective 
enforcement of any breach and will be evidentially important for prosecution of breaches.

Page 77



38 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

2.5	 Community protection notice 

Purpose To stop a person aged 16 or over, business or organisation committing anti-social 
behaviour which spoils the community’s quality of life. 

Who can issue a CPN •	 Council officers;

•	 Police officers;

•	 Police community support officers (PCSOs) if designated; and

•	 Social landlords (if designated by the council).

Test Behaviour has to:

•	 have a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality; 

•	 be of a persistent or continuing nature; and

•	 be unreasonable. 

Details •	 Written warning issued informing the perpetrator of problem behaviour, requesting 
them to stop, and the consequences of continuing.

•	 Community protection notice (CPN) issued including requirement to stop things, do 
things or take reasonable steps to avoid further anti-social behaviour.

•	 Can allow council to carry out works in default on behalf of a perpetrator.

Penalty on breach •	 Breach is a criminal offence.

•	 A fixed penalty notice can be issued of up to £100 if appropriate.

•	 A fine of up to level 4 (for individuals), or £20,000 for businesses.

Appeals •	 Terms of a CPN can be appealed by the perpetrator within 21 days of issue.

•	 The cost of works undertaken on behalf of the perpetrator by the council can be 
challenged by the perpetrator if they think they are disproportionate.

Important changes/
differences

•	 The CPN can deal with a wider range of behaviours for instance, it can deal with 
noise nuisance and litter on private land not open to the air.

•	 The CPN can be used against a wider range of perpetrators.

•	 The CPN can include requirements to ensure that problems are rectified and that 
steps are taken to prevent the anti-social behaviour occurring again.

Page 78



39Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Purpose

The community protection notice (CPN) is intended to deal with particular, ongoing problems or 
nuisances which negatively affect the community’s quality of life by targeting those responsible. 

Who can issue a CPN

In many areas, councils already take the lead in dealing with these kinds of issues and they will 
continue to be able to issue the new notice. However, the move towards neighbourhood policing 
and community safety teams in recent years has seen the police take a more active role in dealing 
with these issues, working with councils, and so police officers and police community support 
officers will also be able to issue CPNs.

In addition, there is a formal role for social landlords. Social landlords in England and Wales 
manage over four million dwellings and deal with hundreds of thousands of complaints of anti-
social behaviour every year. Where it is appropriate, local councils can designate social landlords 
in their area to issue CPNs.

Test

The test is designed to be broad and focus on the impact anti-social behaviour is having on 
victims and communities. A CPN can be issued by one of the bodies above if they are satisfied 
on reasonable grounds that the conduct of the individual, business or organisation:

•	 is having a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality;

•	 is persistent or continuing in nature; and 

•	 is unreasonable.

Warning 
issued

Notice 
issued

Sanction

‘Unreasonable’ 
behaviour 
affecting  
community’s 
quality of life.

Police, council 
or social 
landlord issue 
warning to 
individual or 
business.

Behaviour 
continues.

Notice issued, 
explains what 
must be done 
to stop affecting 
community’s 
quality of life.

Behaviour 
continues 
– notice is 
breached 
(a criminal 
offence).

Possible 
sanctions 
include: a 
fixed penalty 
notice; up to 
a level 4 fine 
(on conviction); 
paying for 
remedial work; 
forfeiture of 
items.

Community protection notice

Graffiti

Rubbish

Noise

Graffiti

Rubbish

Noise

Graffiti

Rubbish

Noise

Page 79



40 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Putting victims first: In deciding whether the behaviour is having a detrimental effect on the 
quality of life of those in the locality, issuing officers should consider speaking to potential 
victims to understand the wider harm to individuals and the community. Not only will this 
ensure that victims feel that their problem is being taken seriously, but also add to the case 
against the alleged perpetrator. It will also ensure that officers do not use the notice to stop 
reasonable activities such as busking or other types of street entertainment which are not 
causing anti-social behaviour.

Decisions on whether behaviour is persistent should be taken on a case by case basis by 
issuing officers. Where an individual is storing rubbish in their garden for many months, proving 
persistence may be simple, but there may be cases where behaviour is continuing over a very 
short time period. An example could be where an individual is playing loud music in a park. If the 
officer had asked the individual to stop the music and they had refused, this could be considered 
continuing in nature and a CPN could be used.

The issuing officer must also make a judgement on whether the behaviour is unreasonable. For 
instance, a baby crying in the middle of the night may well be having a detrimental effect on those 
living next door and is likely to be persistent in nature. However, it would not be reasonable to issue 
the parents with a CPN as there is not a great deal they can do to control or affect the behaviour.

There is significant merit in involving the local council, which will have many years of experience in 
tackling environmental issues, when deciding whether or not to serve a CPN.

Details

Who can a CPN be issued to? A CPN can be issued against any person aged 16 or over or a 
body, including a business. Where a body is issued with a CPN, it should be issued to the most 
appropriate person. In the case of a small business, it could be the shop owner whereas in the 
case of a major supermarket it could be the store manager. The issuing officer will have to be able 
to prove that the person issued with the CPN can be reasonably expected to control or affect the 
behaviour. The CPN can be handed directly to the person in question or it could be posted to them. 
In circumstances where the owner or occupier cannot be determined, the issuing officer can post 
the CPN on the premises and it is considered as having been served at that point. In that scenario, 
the issuing officer would need to demonstrate that reasonable enquiries had been undertaken to 
ascertain the identity of the owner or occupier, for instance, checking with the Land Registry.

Page 80



41Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Box F: Considering statutory nuisance 

Issuing a community protection notice (CPN) does not discharge the council from its duty 
to issue an Abatement Notice where the behaviour constitutes a statutory nuisance for the 
purposes of Part 3 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. A statutory nuisance is one of 
the matters listed in section 79(1) of that Act that, given all the surrounding circumstances, is 
judged to be 'prejudicial to health or a nuisance'. For England and Wales, statutory nuisances 
are listed as: 

•	 the state of the premises;

•	 smoke emitted from premises;

•	 fumes or gases emitted from (domestic) premises;

•	 any dust, steam, smell or other effluvia arising on industrial, trade or business premises;

•	 any accumulation or deposit; 

•	 any animal kept in such a place or manner; 

•	 any insects emanating from relevant industrial, trade or business premises; 

•	 artificial light emitted from premises;

•	 noise emitted from premises;

•	 noise emitted from or caused by a vehicle, machinery or equipment in a street; 

•	 any other matter declared by any enactment to be a statutory nuisance.

Many of these terms have special meanings, either under the 1990 Act or following decisions 
of the courts. In particular, 'nuisance' means something different to 'bothersome' or an 
'annoyance'. The assessment of nuisance is an objective test, taking into account a range 
of factors and is based on what is reasonable for the ‘average’ person. 'Prejudicial to health' 
means 'injurious or likely to cause injury to health' under section 79(7) of the 1990 Act. While 
a CPN can be issued for behaviour that may constitute a statutory nuisance, the interaction 
between the two powers should be considered. It remains a principle of law that a specific 
power should be used in preference to a general one. 

As CPNs can only be issued for behaviours that are persistent or continuing and unreasonable, in 
most cases, social landlords or the police will have sufficient time to contact the relevant council 
team in advance of issuing a CPN if they believe the behaviour could be a statutory nuisance. If it 
could be a statutory nuisance, the issuing authority may wish to consider whether issuing a CPN 
is necessary given the powers afforded to council under the 1990 Act. If they do decide to issue 
a CPN in parallel, they should work with the relevant council team to ensure any restrictions or 
requirements complement those that may be included in any future Abatement Notice.

The written warning: In many cases, the behaviour in question will have been ongoing for some 
time. Informal interventions may well have been exhausted by the time the applicant decides to go 
down the formal route of issuing a CPN. However, before a CPN can be issued, a written warning 
must be issued to the person committing anti-social behaviour.

The written warning must make clear to the individual that if they do not stop the anti-social 
behaviour, they could be issued with a CPN. However, local agencies may wish to include other 
information in the written warning, for instance:

•	 outlining the behaviour that is considered anti-social as this will ensure there is little doubt over 
what needs to be done to avoid the CPN being issued;

Page 81



42 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

•	 outlining the time by which the behaviour is expected to have changed in order to give the 
alleged perpetrator a clear understanding of when the CPN might be served; 

•	 setting out the potential consequences of being issued with a CPN – namely the potential 
sanctions on breach which could act as an incentive for the individual to change their behaviour 
before a formal CPN is issued.

How this written warning is discharged is up to each agency. In cases where a problem has been 
continuing for a period of time, the written warning may be included in other correspondence. 
However, in cases where issue of a written warning is required more quickly, it could be a 
standard form of words, adaptable to any situation – for instance, a pre-agreed form of words that 
can be used by the officer on the spot.

Enough time should be left between the issue of a written warning and the issue of a CPN to allow 
the individual or body to deal with the matter. It will be for the issuing officer to decide how long 
is allowed on a case by case basis. For instance, in an example where a garden is to be cleared 
of waste, several days or weeks may be required to enable the individual to make arrangements. 
However, where an individual is playing loud music in a park, as outlined above, the officer could 
require the behaviour to stop immediately.

Putting victims first: Keeping victims and communities updated on enforcement action at 
important points can help them to deal with the impact of the behaviour. Victims may feel 
that their complaint has been ignored if they don’t see immediate changes to the behaviour. 
However, simply informing them of what is happening can make a huge difference and result 
in fewer follow up calls on the issue. If a CPN has been issued, the officer may wish to speak 
to those affected by the anti-social behaviour again to inform them of what steps have been 
taken, potential timescales and possible implications for the perpetrator.

Partnership working: In many cases, the issuing agency will have already had contact with 
other partners in dealing with a persistent issue. For instance, in a case dealing with a build-up 
of litter, the council may have spoken to the local neighbourhood policing team or social landlord. 
However, in situations that develop more quickly, the relevant officer will have to decide whether 
there are other individuals or bodies that should be informed. In particular, for matters that could 
amount to a statutory nuisance (see Box F) it will often be advisable to seek the expert view of 
council environmental health officers before issuing a CPN.

What to include in a CPN? A CPN can be drafted from scratch if necessary so that it is 
appropriate to the situation and can include any or all of the following:

•	 A requirement to stop doing specified things;

•	 A requirement to do specified things;

•	 A requirement to take reasonable steps to achieve specified results.

This means that not only can the relevant officer stop someone being anti-social, but they can also 
put steps in place to ensure the behaviour does not recur.

In deciding what should be included as a requirement in a CPN, issuing officers should consider 
what is reasonable to include in a notice of this type and any timescales they wish to add. CPNs 
are designed to deal with short or medium-term issues. While restrictions and requirements may 
be similar to those in a civil injunction (see part 2.2), more serious conditions, such as attendance 
at a drug rehabilitation course, would clearly be more appropriate to a court issued order.

Page 82



43Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Putting victims first: When the issuing officer has decided what to include as a requirement 
in the community protection notice they should consider the desired outcome for the 
community. Victims don’t just want the behaviour to stop; they also want it not to occur again. 
Consideration should be given to whether there are requirements that could ensure the anti-
social behaviour does not recur.

Penalty on breach

Failure to comply with a CPN is an offence. Where an individual, business or organisation fails to 
comply with the terms of a CPN, a number of options are available for the issuing authority and 
these are outlined in more detail below. 

Putting victims first: When deciding which sanction to choose on non-compliance with a 
CPN, the issuing authority should consider the potential wishes of the victim. While issuing a 
fixed penalty notice may be considered appropriate, if it does nothing to alleviate the impact on 
the community or leaves victims feeling ignored, this may not be the best course of action and 
may lead to further complaints and the requirement for more action.

Fixed penalty notices: Depending on the behaviour in question, the issuing officer could decide 
that a fixed penalty notice (FPN) would be the most appropriate sanction. The FPN can be issued 
by a police officer, PCSO, council officer or, if designated, a social landlord. In making the decision 
to issue a FPN, the officer should be mindful that if issued, payment of the FPN would discharge 
any liability to conviction for the offence. 

A FPN should not be more than £100 and can specify two amounts, for instance, a lower payment 
if settled early, say within 14 days. In order to allow the individual time to pay the FPN, no other 
associated proceedings can be taken until at least 14 days after the issue. The exact wording or 
design of a FPN can be determined locally to fit with local standards and protocols 
but must:

•	 give reasonably detailed particulars of the circumstances alleged to constitute the offence;

•	 state the period during which proceedings will not be taken for the offence;

•	 specify the amount or amounts payable;

•	 state the name and address of the person to whom the FPN should be paid; and

•	 specify permissible methods of payment (for example, cash, cheque, bank transfer).

Remedial action: If an individual or body fails to comply with a CPN issued by the council, the 
council may decide to take remedial action to address the issue. Where the CPN has been issued 
by the police or a social landlord, but they believe remedial action is an appropriate sanction, they 
should approach the council to discuss the best way to move forward. For instance, the social 
landlord could undertake the work on behalf of the council. 

If it is decided that remedial action is the best way forward, the council (or the other agency 
in discussion with the council) should establish what works are required to put the situation 
right. For instance, in a situation where the complaint relates to a significant build up of rubbish 
in someone’s front garden, remedial action could take the form of clearing the garden on the 
perpetrator’s behalf.

Page 83



44 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Putting victims first: Punishment of the perpetrator may not be top of the victim’s priority 
list; they may just want to see the situation fixed. If remedial action is chosen as the most 
appropriate action, it may help those affected by the behaviour to know when they can expect 
remedial works to be undertaken.

Where this work is to be undertaken on land ‘open to the air’, the council or their agent (for 
instance, a rubbish disposal contractor) can undertake these works without the consent of the 
owner or occupier. Where works are required indoors the permission of the owner or occupier 
is required. When it has been decided what works are required, the council has to specify to the 
perpetrator what work it intends to carry out and the estimated cost. Once the work has been 
completed, the council should give the perpetrator details of the work completed and the final 
amount payable. In determining a ‘reasonable’ charge, local authorities should ensure the costs 
are no more than is necessary to restore the land to the standard specified in the notice. Such 
costs may include officer time, use of cleaning equipment (unless of a specialised nature), and 
administration costs relating to the clearance itself. 

Remedial orders: On conviction for an offence of failing to comply with a CPN, the prosecuting 
authority may ask the court to impose a remedial order and/or a forfeiture order. This could be for 
a number of reasons, for instance:

•	 The matter may be deemed so serious that a court order is warranted;

•	 Works may be required to an area that requires the owner’s or occupier’s consent and this is 
not forthcoming; or

•	 The issuing authority may believe that forfeiture or seizure of one or more items is required as a 
result of the behaviour (for instance, sound making equipment).

A remedial order may require the defendant:

•	 to carry out specified work (this could set out the original CPN requirements); or

•	 to allow work to be carried out by, or on behalf of, a specified local authority.

Where works are required indoors, the defendant’s permission is still required. But this does not 
prevent a defendant who fails to give that consent from being in breach of the court’s order.

Forfeiture orders: Following conviction for an offence under section 45, the court may also order 
the forfeiture of any item that was used in the commission of the offence. This could be spray 
paints, sound making equipment or a poorly socialised dog where the court feels the individual 
is not able to manage the animal appropriately (re-homed in the case of a dog). Where items are 
forfeited, they can be destroyed or disposed of appropriately.

Seizure: In some circumstances, the court may issue a warrant authorising the seizure of items 
that have been used in the commission of the offence of failing to comply with a CPN. In these 
circumstances, an enforcement officer may use reasonable force, if necessary, to seize the item or 
items. 

Failure to comply with any of the requirements in the court order constitutes contempt of court 
and could lead to a custodial sentence. If an individual is convicted of an offence under section 
48, they may receive up to a level 4 fine (up to £20,000 in the case of a business or organisation).

Page 84



45Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Appeals

Anyone issued with a CPN has the opportunity to appeal it. Appeals are heard in a magistrates’ 
court and the CPN should provide details of the process and how an individual can appeal. As the 
legislation makes clear, an appeal can be made on the following grounds:

The test was not met if:
•	 the behaviour did not take place. In most cases, officers will have collected evidence to place 

beyond any reasonable doubt that the behaviour occurred. However, in cases where the officer 
has relied on witness statements alone, they should consider the potential for this appeal route 
and build their case accordingly.

•	 the behaviour has not had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the 
locality. Again, the importance of witness statements and any other evidence that the behaviour 
in question is having a negative impact on those nearby should be collected to ensure this 
defence is covered.

•	 the behaviour was not persistent or continuing. In some cases, judging persistence will 
be straightforward. However, in cases where a decision to issue a CPN is taken more quickly, 
officers should use their professional judgement to decide whether this test is met and may 
need to justify this on appeal.

•	 the behaviour is not unreasonable. In many cases, individuals, businesses or organisations 
that are presented with evidence of the detrimental impact of their behaviour will take steps 
to address it. Where they do not, they may argue that what they are doing is reasonable. In 
deciding whether behaviour is unreasonable, officers should consider the impact the behaviour 
is having on the victim, whether steps could be taken to alleviate this impact and whether the 
behaviour is necessary at all.

•	 the individual cannot reasonably be expected to control or affect the behaviour. In 
issuing the CPN, the officer must make a judgement as to whether the individual or business or 
organisation can reasonably be expected to do something to change the behaviour. The officer 
should be prepared to justify this decision in court if required.

Other reasons:
•	 Any of the requirements are unreasonable. Requirements in a CPN should either prevent the 

anti-social behaviour from continuing or recurring, or reduce the detrimental effect or reduce the 
risk of its continuance or recurrence. As such, it should be related to the behaviour in question.

•	 There is a material defect or error with the CPN. This ground for appeal could be used if 
there was a failure to comply with a requirement in the Act, such as a failure to provide a written 
warning before issuing a CPN.

•	 The CPN was issued to the wrong person. This could be grounds for appeal if the CPN was 
posted to the wrong address or the wrong person was identified in a business or organisation.

The person issued with the CPN must appeal within 21 days of issue. Where an appeal is made, 
any requirement included under section 43(3)(b) or (c), namely a requirement to do specified 
things or take reasonable steps to achieve specified results, is suspended until the outcome of the 
appeal. However, requirements stopping the individual or body from doing specified things under 
section 43(3)(a) continue to have effect. In addition, where remedial action is taken by a council 
under section 47 or 49 the individual has the opportunity to appeal on the grounds that the cost of 
the work being undertaken on their behalf is disproportionate.

Page 85



46 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

2.6	 Public spaces protection order

Purpose Designed to stop individuals or groups committing anti-social behaviour in a public space 

Who can make a PSPO •	 Councils issue a public spaces protection order (PSPO) after consultation with the 
police, Police and Crime Commissioner and other relevant bodies.

Test Behaviour being restricted has to:

•	 be having, or be likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in 
the locality; 

•	 be persistent or continuing nature; and

•	 be unreasonable.

Details •	 Restrictions and requirements set by the council.

•	 These can be blanket restrictions or requirements or can be targeted against 
certain behaviours by certain groups at certain times.

•	 Can restrict access to public spaces (including certain types of highway) where 
that route is being used to commit anti-social behaviour.

•	 Can be enforced by a police officer, police community support officers and 
council officers.

Penalty on breach •	 Breach is a criminal offence.

•	 Enforcement officers can issue a fixed penalty notice of up to £100 if appropriate.

•	 A fine of up to level 3 on prosecution.

Appeals •	 Anyone who lives in, or regularly works in or visits the area can appeal a PSPO in 
the High Court within six weeks of issue.

•	 Further appeal is available each time the PSPO is varied by the council.

Important changes/
differences

•	 More than one restriction can be added to the same PSPO, meaning that a single 
PSPO can deal with a wider range of behaviours than the orders it replaces.

Page 86



47Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Purpose

Public spaces protection orders (PSPOs) are intended to deal with a particular nuisance or 
problem in a particular area that is detrimental to the local community’s qualify of life, by 
imposing conditions on the use of that area which apply to everyone. They are designed to 
ensure the law-abiding majority can use and enjoy public spaces, safe from anti-social behaviour.

Who can make a PSPO?

Councils will be responsible for making the new PSPO although enforcement powers will be much 
broader. District councils will take the lead in England with county councils undertaking the role 
only where there is no district council. In London, borough councils will be able to make PSPOs, 
as will the Common Council of the City of London and the Council of the Isles of Scilly. In Wales, 
responsibility will fall to county councils or county borough councils. The new power is not available 
to parish councils and town councils in England, or community councils in Wales. Section 71 
ensures that bodies other than local authorities can make PSPOs in certain circumstances 
by order of the Secretary of State. This will allow the City of London Corporation to continue 
managing a number of public spaces with the permission of, and on behalf of, local authorities.

Test

The test is designed to be broad and focus on the impact anti-social behaviour is having on 
victims and communities. A PSPO can be made by the council if they are satisfied on reasonable 
grounds that the activities carried out, or likely to be carried out, in a public space:

•	 have had, or are likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality;

•	 is, or is likely to be, persistent or continuing in nature;

•	 is, or is likely to be, unreasonable; and

•	 justifies the restrictions imposed.

Behaviour 
occurs

Behaviour 
challenged

Formal 
sanction

Council put 
restrictions on 
an area where 
behaviour 
has, or is 
likely to have 
a detrimental 
effect on the 
local community.

Individual 
breaches 
conditions 
of an Order 
(eg. by walking 
a dog, playing 
music).

Police officer, 
PCSO or 
council officer 
witnesses 
behaviour.

Individual asked 
to leave the 
area, handover 
alcohol, put dog 
on leash.

If the individual 
does not 
comply, they 
commit an 
offence.

Possible 
sanctions 
include: a 
fixed penalty 
notice; up to a 
level 3 fine (on 
conviction); (or 
up to a level 2 
fine for breach 
of an alcohol 
prohibition).

Public spaces protection order

Park

Alleyway

Communal 
area

Alcohol

Dogs

Noise

Comply

FPN

Court

Page 87



48 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Putting victims first: In deciding to place restrictions on a particular public space, councils 
should consider the knock on effects of that decision. Introducing a blanket ban on a particular 
activity may simply displace the behaviour and create victims elsewhere.

Details

Where can it apply? The council can make a PSPO on any public space within its own area. 
The definition of public space is wide and includes any place to which the public or any section 
of the public has access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by virtue of express or implied 
permission, for example a shopping centre.

Working with partners: Before making a PSPO, the council must consult with the local police. 
This should be done formally through the chief officer of police and the Police and Crime 
Commissioner, but details could be agreed by working level leads. This is an opportunity for the 
police and council to share information about the area and the problems being caused as well 
as discuss the practicalities of enforcement. In addition, the owner or occupier of the land should 
be consulted. This should include the County Council (if the PSPO application is not being led by 
them) where they are the Highway Authority.

The council must also consult whatever community representatives they think appropriate. This 
could relate to a specific group, for instance the residents association, or an individual or group 
of individuals, for instance, regular users of a park or specific activities such as busking or other 
types of street entertainment. Before the PSPO is made, the council also has to publish the draft 
order in accordance with regulations published by the Secretary of State.

Box G: Land requiring special consideration

Before a council makes a PSPO, it should consider whether the land falls into any of the 
following categories:

•	 Registered common land: There are around 550,000 hectares of registered common 
land in England and Wales. Common land is mapped as open access land under the 
Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000 with a right of public access on foot. 
Some commons, particularly those in urban districts, also have additional access rights and 
these may include rights for equestrian use.

•	 Registered town or village green: Town and village greens developed under customary 
law as areas of land where local people indulged in lawful sports and pastimes. These might 
include organised or ad-hoc games, picnics, fetes and similar activities, such as dog walking.

•	 Open access land: Open access land covers mountain, moor, heath and down and 
registered common land, and also some voluntarily dedicated land, for example the Forestry 
Commission’s or Natural Resources Wales’ freehold estate. Open access land provides a 
right of open-air recreation on foot although the landowner can voluntarily extend the right to 
other forms of access, such as for cycling or horse-riding.

This can be done by contacting the Commons registration authority (county council in 
two-tier areas; unitary authority elsewhere). If the land in question is a registered common, 
the council will be able to find out what common land rights exist and the access rights of 
any users. Defra considers the model set out in 'A Common Purpose' to be good practice in 
consulting directly affected persons (including commoners) and the public about any type of 
potential change in the management of a common.

Page 88



49Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

If land is a registered green, it receives considerable statutory protection under the 'Victorian 
Statutes'. In terms of open access land, there are various national limitations on what activities 
are included within the access rights. It is possible for local restrictions on CROW rights to 
be put in place to meet wider land use needs, and this system is normally administered by 
Natural England. 

Where an authority is considering an order on one of these types of land, the council 
should consider discussing this with relevant forums and user groups (e.g. Local Access 
Forums, Ramblers or the British Horse Society) depending on the type of provision that is 
contemplated in the order. It could also be appropriate to hold a local public meeting when 
considering whether to make an order for an area of such land to ensure all affected persons 
are given the opportunity to raise concerns.

What to include in a PSPO? The PSPO can be drafted from scratch based on the individual issues 
being faced in a particular public space. A single PSPO can also include multiple restrictions and 
requirements in one order. It can prohibit certain activities, such as the drinking of alcohol, as well as 
placing requirements on individuals carrying out certain activities, for instance making sure that people 
walking their dogs keep them on a lead. However, activities are not limited to those covered by the 
orders being replaced and so the new PSPO can be used more flexibly to deal with local issues.

When deciding what to include, the council should consider scope. The PSPO is designed to 
make public spaces more welcoming to the majority of law abiding people and communities 
and not simply restrict access. Restrictions or requirements can be targeted at specific people, 
designed to apply only at certain times or apply only in certain circumstances. 

Putting victims first: Although it may not be viable in each case, discussing potential 
restrictions and requirements prior to issuing an order with those living or working nearby may 
help to ensure that the final PSPO better meets the needs of the local community and is less 
likely to be challenged.

In establishing which restrictions or requirements should be included, the council should ensure 
that the measures are necessary to prevent the detrimental effect on those in the locality or 
reduce the likelihood of the detrimental effect continuing, occurring or recurring.

When the final set of measures is agreed on, the PSPO should be published in accordance with 
regulations made by the Secretary of State and must:

•	 identify the activities having the detrimental effect;

•	 explain the potential sanctions available on breach; and

•	 specify the period for which the PSPO has effect.

Page 89



50 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Box H: Controlling the presence of dogs

When deciding whether to make requirements or restrictions on dogs and their owners, local 
councils will need to consider whether there are suitable alternatives for dogs to be exercised 
without restrictions. 

Under the Animal Welfare Act 2006, owners of dogs are required to provide for the welfare 
needs of their animals and this includes providing the necessary amount of exercise each day.  
Councils should be aware of the publicly accessible parks and other public places in their area 
which dog walkers can use to exercise their dogs without restrictions. Consideration should 
also be made on how any restrictions affect those who rely on assistance dogs.

In relation to dogs and their owners, a PSPO could, for example: 

•	 exclude dogs from designated areas (e.g. a children’s play area in a park); 

•	 require dog faeces to be picked up by owners;

•	 require dogs to be kept on leads;

•	 restrict the number of dogs that can be walked by one person at any one time; and

•	 put in place other restrictions or requirements to tackle or prevent any other activity that is 
considered to have a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, or is likely 
to have such an effect.

Restricting alcohol: A PSPO can be used to restrict the consumption of alcohol in a public 
space where the test has been met. However, as with the Designated Public Place Order which it 
replaces, there are a number of limitations on using the power for this end. 

A PSPO cannot be used to restrict the consumption of alcohol where the premises or its curtilage 
(a beer garden or pavement seating area) is licensed for the supply of alcohol. There are also 
limitations where either Part 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 or section 115E of the Highways Act 
1980 applies. This is because the licensing system already includes safeguards against premises 
becoming centres for anti-social behaviour. It would create confusion and duplication if PSPOs 
were introduced here.

Restricting access: In the past, Gating Orders have been used to close access to certain public 
rights of way where the behaviour of some has been anti-social. The PSPO can also be used to 
restrict access to a public right of way. However, when deciding on this approach, the council 
must consider a number of things.

•	 Can they restrict access? A number of rights of way may not be restricted due to their 
strategic value.

•	 What impact will the restriction have? For instance, is it a primary means of access between 
two places and is there a reasonably convenient alternative route?

•	 Are there any alternatives? Previously gating was the only option, but it may be possible under 
a PSPO to restrict the activities causing the anti-social behaviour rather than access in its totality.

There are also further consultation requirements where access is to be restricted to a public 
right of way. This includes notifying potentially affected persons of the possible restrictions. This 
could include people who regularly use the right of way in their day to day travel as well as those 
who live nearby. Interested persons should be informed about how they can view a copy of the 
proposed order, and be given details of how they can make representations and by when. The 
council should then consider these representations.

Page 90



51Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

It will be up to the council to decide how best to identify and consult with interested persons. 
In the past newspapers have been used. However in the digital age, other channels such as 
websites and social media may be more effective. Where issues are more localised, councils may 
prefer to deal with individual households. Alternatively, where appropriate, councils may decide 
to hold public meetings and discuss issues with regional or national bodies (such as the Local 
Access Forum) to gather views.

Duration of a PSPO: The maximum duration of a PSPO is three years but they can last for shorter 
periods of time where appropriate. Short-term PSPOs could be used where it is not certain that 
restrictions will have the desired effect, for instance, when closing a public right of way, councils 
may wish to make an initial PSPO for 12 months and then review the decision at that point.

At any point before expiry, the council can extend a PSPO by up to three years if they consider 
that it is necessary to prevent the original behaviour from occurring or recurring. They should also 
consult with the local police and any other community representatives they think appropriate. 

Changing the terms: The new PSPO can cover a number of different restrictions and 
requirements so there should be little need to have overlapping orders in a particular public 
space. However, if a new issue arises in an area where a PSPO is in force, the council can vary 
the terms of the order at any time. This can change the size of the restricted area or the specific 
requirements or restrictions. For instance, a PSPO may exist to ensure dogs are kept on their 
leads in a park but, after 12 months, groups start to congregate in the park drinking alcohol which 
is having a detrimental effect on those living nearby. As a result, the council could vary the PSPO 
to deal with both issues.

As well as varying the PSPO, a council can also seek to discharge it at any time. For instance 
when the problem has ceased to exist or the land ceases to be classified as a public space.

Penalty on breach

It is an offence for a person, without reasonable excuse, to:

•	 do anything that the person is prohibited from doing by a PSPO (other than consume alcohol – 
see below); or

•	 fail to comply with a requirement to which the person is subject under a PSPO.

A person does not commit an offence by failing to comply with a prohibition or requirement that 
the council did not have power to include in the PSPO. A person guilty of an offence is liable on 
summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale. 

It is not an offence to drink alcohol in a controlled drinking zone. However, it is an offence to fail to 
comply with a request to cease drinking or surrender alcohol in a controlled drinking zone. This is 
also liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale. If alcohol 
is confiscated, it can be disposed of by the person who confiscates it.

Depending on the behaviour in question, the enforcing officer could decide that a fixed penalty 
notice (FPN) would be the most appropriate sanction. The FPN can be issued by a police officer, 
PCSO, council officer or other person designated by the council. In making the decision to issue 
a FPN, the officer should consider that if issued, payment of the FPN would discharge any liability 
to conviction for the offence.  However, where the FPN is not paid within the required timescale, 
court proceedings can be initiated (prosecution for the offence of failing to comply with the PSPO).

Page 91



52 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Appeals

Any challenge to the PSPO must be made in the High Court by an interested person within six 
weeks of it being made. An interested person is someone who lives in, regularly works in, or visits 
the restricted area. This means that only those who are directly affected by the restrictions have 
the power to challenge. This right to challenge also exists where an order is varied by a council. 

Interested persons can challenge the validity of a PSPO on two grounds. They could argue 
that the council did not have power to make the order, or to include particular prohibitions or 
requirements. In addition, the interested person could argue that one of the requirements (for 
instance, consultation) had not been complied with.

When the application is made, the High Court can decide to suspend the operation of the PSPO 
pending the verdict in part or in totality. The High Court has the ability to uphold the PSPO, quash 
it, or vary it.

Enforcement

Although PSPOs are made by the council in an area, enforcement should be the responsibility of a 
wider group. Council officers will be able to enforce the restrictions and requirements, as will other 
groups that they designate, including officers accredited under the community safety accreditation 
scheme. In addition, police officers and PCSOs will have the ability to enforce the order. 

Transition

Where a designated public place order, gating order or dog control order is currently in force, this 
will continue to be valid for a period of three years following commencement of the new power. 
At this point it will be treated as a PSPO. However, councils need not wait for this to happen and 
could decide to review the need for their current orders ahead of that transition to simplify the 
enforcement landscape.

Page 92



53Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

2.7	 Closure power 

Purpose To allow the police or council to quickly close premises which are being used, or likely 
to be used, to commit nuisance or disorder.

Applicants •	 Local council.

•	 Police.

Test The following has occurred, or will occur, if the closure power is not used:

Closure notice (up to 48 hours):

•	 Nuisance to the public; or 

•	 Disorder near those premises. 

Closure order (up to six months):

•	 Disorderly, offensive or criminal behaviour; 

•	 Serious nuisance to the public; or

•	 Disorder near the premises.

Details •	 A closure notice is issued out of court in the first instance. Flowing from this the 
closure order can be applied for through the courts.

•	 Notice: can close a premises for up to 48 hrs out of court but cannot stop owner 
or those who habitually live there accessing the premises.

•	 Order: can close premises for up to six months and can restrict all access.

•	 Both the notice and the order can cover any land or any other place, whether 
enclosed or not including residential, business, non-business and licensed 
premises.

Penalty on breach Breach is a criminal offence.

•	 Notice: Up to three months in prison;

•	 Order: Up to six months in prison;

•	 Both: Up to an unlimited fine for residential and non-residential premises.

Who can appeal •	 Any person who the closure notice was served on;

•	 Any person who had not been served the closure notice but has an interest in 
the premises;

•	 The council (where closure order was not made and they issued the notice);

•	 The police (where closure order was not made and they issued the notice).

Important changes/
differences

•	 A single closure power covering a wider range of behaviour. Quick, flexible and can 
be used for up to 48 hours out of court.

Page 93



54 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Purpose

The closure power is a fast, flexible power that can be used to protect victims and communities by 
quickly closing premises that are causing nuisance or disorder.

Applicants

The power comes in two stages: the closure notice and the closure order which are intrinsically 
linked. The closure notice can be used by the council or the police out of court. Following the 
issuing of a closure notice, an application must be made to the magistrates’ court for a closure 
order, unless the closure notice has been cancelled.

The test

A closure notice can be issued for 24 hours if the council or police officer (of at least the rank of 
inspector) is satisfied on reasonable grounds:

•	 that the use of particular premises has resulted, or (if the notice is not issued) is likely soon to 
result, in nuisance to members of the public; or 

•	 that there has been, or (if the notice is not issued) is likely soon to be, disorder near those 
premises associated with the use of those premises, and that the notice is necessary to prevent 
the nuisance or disorder from continuing, recurring or occurring.

The closure notice can be issued in the first instance for 48 hours or extended from 24 hours 
up to a maximum of 48 hours by the council's chief executive officer (head of paid service) or 
designate thereof, or by a police superintendent.

Premises 
(including 
licensed 
premises, 
those enclosed 
or open, 
residential and 
business).

Approval: 

24 hours – 
inspector or 
council.

48 hours – 
superintendent 
or designate of 
council CEO.

Within 48 hrs, 
notice goes to 
magistrates’ 
court if a 
closure order 
of up to three 
months is 
required.

Above 
behaviour on or 
through use of 
premises likely 
to occur without 
closure order.

Magistrates’ 
court can 
extend closure 
order for a 
further three 
months – not 
to exceed six 
months in total.

Breach of 
a closure notice 
or order is a 
criminal offence, 
punishable 
by up to 
six months 
imprisonment 
or a unlimited 
fine.

Breach, 
if proven, 
is a criminal 
offence

Notice issued 
– premises 
closed for up 
to 48 hours

Closure powers

Magistrates 
Court

Magistrates 
Court

Nuisance – 
occurred or 

likely to occur

Disorder – 
occurred or 

likely to occur

Serious 
nuisance to 
members of 
the public

Disorderly, 
offensive 

or criminal 
behaviour

Page 94



55Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

A closure order can subsequently be issued if the court is satisfied:

•	 that a person has engaged, or (if the order is not made) is likely to engage, in disorderly, 
offensive or criminal behaviour on the premises; or

•	 that the use of the premises has resulted, or (if the order is not made) is likely to result, 
in serious nuisance to members of the public; or

•	 that there has been, or (if the order is not made) is likely to be, disorder near those premises 
associated with the use of those premises, and that the order is necessary to prevent the 
behaviour, nuisance or disorder from continuing, recurring or occurring.

A closure notice cannot prohibit access in respect of anyone who habitually lives on a premises. 
This means that the notice cannot prohibit those who routinely or regularly live at those premises. 
It is therefore unlikely to disallow access to, for example, students who live away from the family 
home for part of the year but routinely return to the family home or those who spend the majority 
of the week living at the pub in which they work.  However, a closure order, granted by the court, 
can prohibit access to those who routinely live at a premises.

In prohibiting access through a closure notice it will be important to consider who is responsible 
for the premises and who may need access to secure a premises. This might not always be the 
owner, for example an individual managing a premises on behalf of an owner who lives abroad 
may need to secure the premises on their behalf.

Putting victims first: In deciding the effect of the behaviour and courses of action the police 
and local council should speak to the victim to obtain their view on how the behaviour is 
affecting them and what outcome they would like to see.

Details

Approvals: The level or role of employee within the council who can issue a notice for up to 24 
hours has not been specified due to the different structures locally. In considering who should 
be authorised as designates of the chief executive officer for the issuing of the 48 hour notice, 
councils will also want to consider who is delegated to issue the closure notice for 24 hours and 
consider whether the extension to 48 hours should be authorised by an officer of greater seniority, 
as is the case for the police. This may take into consideration the need for the power to be used 
quickly, its flexible nature, and equivalent requirement for a police inspector to issue a closure 
notice for 24 hours.

Notifications: With every issue of a closure notice, an application must be made to the 
magistrates’ court for a closure order. Where the intention is to cancel the notice prior to the end 
of the 48 hour period because a closure order or a temporary order is not deemed necessary, this 
should be communicated to the court on application for a hearing for the closure order. 

The police and council will want to consider when the courts will be able to hear the application 
for the closure order. The courts are required to hear the application within 48 hours of the service 
of the closure notice. This 48 hour period for the courts excludes Christmas day. To avoid undue 
pressure on the courts to hear applications for closure orders within 48 hours of serving the 
closure notice, careful thought should be given as to exactly when to serve the closure notice. 
Where possible, it is advisable to liaise with the court’s listing office before serving the closure 
notice so that victims can be effectively protected at the earliest opportunity.

Page 95



56 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Putting victims first: The issuing body should undertake to inform the victim of the anti-social 
behaviour of the closure notice and to inform them of the details of the closure order hearing 
where possible and appropriate.

Temporary orders: Courts can consider giving an extension of the closure notice if required. This 
can be considered as an option by the magistrates’ court at the hearing for the closure order. The 
court can order a closure notice to stay in force for a further 48 hours if satisfied this meets the 
test required for a closure notice.

A court may also order that a closure notice continue in force for a period of not more than 14 
days in circumstances where the hearing is adjourned. A hearing can be adjourned for no more 
that 14 days to enable the occupier or anyone with an interest in the premises to show why a 
closure order should not be made. 

Partnership working: Consultation is required as part of the closure notice. Before issuing a 
notice the police or council must ensure that they consult with anyone they think appropriate. This 
should include the victim, but could also include other members of the public that may be affected 
positively or negatively by the closure, community representatives, other organisations and bodies, 
the police or local council (where not the issuing organisation) or others that regularly use the 
premises. There may also be people who use the premises as access to another premises that is 
not subject to the closure notice but may be impacted on by the closure.

The method of consultation will depend on the situation and urgency. The police or council will 
want to consider how to keep a record of those consulted in case challenged at a later date (for 
instance, as part of a court case).

What to include in a closure notice? The closure notice should:

•	 identify the premises;

•	 explain the effect of the notice;

•	 state that failure to comply with the notice is an offence;

•	 state that an application will be made for a closure order;

•	 specify when and where the application will be heard;

•	 explain the effect of the closure order; and

•	 give information about the names of, and means of contacting, persons and organisations in the 
area that provide advice about housing and legal matters.

Information should be displayed clearly in simple language, avoiding the use of jargon. 

Putting victims first: It is not necessary to include information about those consulted within 
an order so as to protect those who may have made a complaint from any retribution. 
However, the officer issuing the closure notice should keep a record of those consulted.

Access: There may be times where the closure of premises through a closure order has a wider 
impact. An item may have been left in the premises or access has become restricted to another 
premises. Where an item has been left on premises it is expected that the police and local council 
will use their discretion in either allowing access temporarily to enable the individual to retrieve their 
item or retrieving the item on their behalf. Where an individual accesses the premises themselves 
without communication to the police or council they commit an offence unless they have a 

Page 96



57Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

reasonable excuse. Therefore it is sensible for the police and council to have clear communication 
with individuals affected.

Where a closure order restricts access to another premises or part of a premises that is not 
subject to a closure order the individuals affected will be able to apply to the appropriate court 
to have the order considered. The court may make any order it thinks appropriate. This may 
be a variation order to vary the terms of the order or it could cancel the order if considered 
inappropriate for it to remain in place.

Penalty on breach

An offence is committed when a person, without reasonable excuse, remains on or enters a 
premises in contravention of a closure notice or a closure order.

Closure notice and temporary order: Breaching a closure notice or temporary order is a 
criminal offence carrying a penalty of either imprisonment for a period of up to three months or an 
unlimited fine or both.

Closure order: Breaching a closure order is a criminal offence carrying a penalty of either 
imprisonment for a period of up to six months or an unlimited fine, or both.

Obstruction: It is a criminal offence to obstruct a police officer or local council employee who is:

•	 serving a closure notice, cancellation notice or variation notice;

•	 entering the premises; or

•	 securing the premises.

This offence carries a penalty of either imprisonment for a period of up to three months or an 
unlimited fine, or both.

Who can appeal?

A closure notice cannot be appealed. A closure order can be appealed. Appeals are to the Crown 
Court and must be made within 21 days beginning with the date of the decision to which the 
appeal relates.

An appeal against the decision to issue the order may be made by:

•	 a person who was served the closure notice; or

•	 anyone who has an interest in the premises upon whom the notice was not served.

Where the court decides not to issue a closure order the following may appeal:

•	 the police may only appeal where they issued the closure notice; 

•	 the local council may only appeal where they issued the closure notice.

On appeal, the Crown Court may make whatever order it thinks appropriate. If the premises is 
licensed the court must inform the licensing authority. It should also be considered whether it is 
appropriate and possible to update the victim on the progress of the case.

Page 97



58 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

2.8	 New absolute ground for possession 

Overview The Act introduces a new absolute ground for possession of secure and assured 
tenancies where anti-social behaviour or criminality has already been proven by 
another court.

Purpose To expedite the eviction of landlords’ most anti-social tenants to bring faster relief 
to victims. 

Applicants / Who can 
use the new ground

•	 Social landlords (local authorities and housing associations).

•	 Private rented sector landlords.

Test The tenant, a member of the tenant’s household, or a person visiting the property has 
met one of the following conditions:

•	 convicted of a serious offence (specified in Schedule 2A to the Housing Act 1985);

•	 found by a court to have breached a civil injunction;

•	 convicted for breaching a criminal behaviour order (CBO);

•	 convicted for breaching a noise abatement notice; or

•	 the tenant’s property has been closed for more than 48 hours under a closure 
order for anti-social behaviour. 

Details •	 Offence/breach needs to have occurred in the locality of the property or 
affected a person with a right to live in the locality or affected the landlord or his 
or her staff/ contractors;

•	 Secure tenants of local housing authorities will have a statutory right to request a 
review of the landlord’s decision to seek possession. Private registered providers 
are encouraged to adopt a similar practice.

Result of action •	 If the above test is met, the court must grant a possession order (subject to any 
available human rights defence raised by the tenant, including proportionality) 
where the correct procedure has been followed.

Important changes/
differences

•	 Unlike the existing discretionary grounds for possession, the landlord will not be 
required to prove to the court that it is reasonable to grant possession. This means 
the court will be more likely to determine cases in a single, short hearing; 

•	 This will offer better protection and faster relief for victims and witnesses of anti-
social behaviour, save landlords costs, and free up court resources and time;

•	 It will provide new flexibility for landlords to obtain possession through this faster 
route for persistently anti-social tenants;

•	 The court will not be able to postpone possession to a date later than 14 days 
after the making of the order except in exceptional circumstances, and will not be 
able to postpone for later than six weeks in any event.

Page 98



59Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Overview

Prevention and early intervention should be at the heart of all landlords’ approaches to dealing 
with anti-social behaviour. The evidence shows this is the case with over 80% of anti-social 
behaviour complaints resolved by social landlords through early intervention and informal routes 
without resorting to formal tools. 

It is, however, a source of frustration for landlords and victims that in exceptional cases where anti-
social behaviour (or criminality) persists and it becomes necessary to seek possession, the existing 
process for evicting anti-social tenants is often very lengthy and expensive for landlords and the 
courts and, most importantly, prolongs the suffering of victims, witnesses and the community.

Purpose 

The purpose of the new absolute ground for possession is to speed up the possession process in 
cases where anti-social behaviour or criminality has been already been proven by another court. 

As the landlord will no longer need to prove that it is reasonable to grant possession, the court 
will be more likely to determine cases in a single, short hearing. This will strike a better balance 
between the rights of victims and perpetrators, and provide swifter relief for victims, witnesses and 
the community. The new absolute ground is intended for the most serious cases of anti-
social behaviour and landlords should ensure that the ground is used selectively. 

Court 
Consideration

Landlord 
applies to 

court

Decision 
upheld

Landlord 
serves Notice

Offences must 
have been 
committed in 
locality/affected 
other residents 
or landlord’s 
staff anywhere.

Generally 
four week or 
one month 
notice period 
(depending on 
tenancy type) 
before landlord 
applies to court.

Tenant requests 
review of 
decision 
(statutory right 
of review for 
local authority 
tenants only).

Standard period 
between issue 
of the claim 
form and the 
hearing is a 
maximum of 
eight weeks.

Court 
must grant 
possession 
subject to any 
available human 
rights defence 
provided set 
procedures have 
been followed.

Court’s 
discretion 
to suspend 
possession 
will be limited 
to no later 
than 14 days 
or six weeks 
in exceptional 
circumstances.

New absolute ground for possession

Landlord 
considers 

possession on 
absolute ground 

Review

Tenant/member 
of their household 

or visitor has 
met one of 

the following 
conditions:

1. Convicted for 
serious criminal 

offence 

2. Found by a 
court to have 

breached a civil 
injunction 

3. Convicted for 
breach of CBO 

4. Convicted 
for breach of 

Noise Abatement 
Notice OR

5.Tenant’s 
property closed 
under Closure 

Order

Court grants 
Outright 
Possession

Page 99



60 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Informing the tenant: Landlords should ensure that tenants are aware from the commencement 
of their tenancy that anti-social behaviour or criminality either by the tenant, people living with 
them, or their visitors could lead to a loss of their home under the new absolute ground.

Applicants

The new absolute ground will be available for secure and assured tenancies, and, therefore, will be 
able to be used by both social landlords and private rented sector landlords. 

In practice, it is likely that private rented sector landlords will generally use the 'no fault' ground for 
possession, in section 21 of the Housing Act 1988, where this is available. This does not require 
the tenant to be in breach of any of the terms of their tenancy and, therefore, does not require 
the landlord to show that it is reasonable to grant possession as long as the relevant notice has 
been served. However, the 'no fault' ground can only be used at the end of the fixed term of the 
tenancy, which must be at least six months from the initial inception of the tenancy. This often 
limits private landlords’ ability to seek possession where a tenant commits serious anti-social 
behaviour or criminality in the early stages of the tenancy. The new absolute ground should assist 
private rented sector landlords to end tenancies quickly in cases of serious anti-social behaviour or 
criminality that occur during the fixed term of an assured short-hold tenancy. 

Test

The court must grant possession (subject to any available human rights defence raised by the 
tenant, including proportionality) provided the landlord has followed the correct procedure and at 
least one of the following five conditions is met:

•	 the tenant, a member of the tenant’s household, or a person visiting the property has been 
convicted of a serious offence;

•	 the tenant, a member of the tenant’s household, or a person visiting the property has been 
found by a court to have breached a civil injunction;

•	 the tenant, a member of the tenant’s household, or a person visiting the property has been 
convicted for breaching a criminal behaviour order (CBO);

•	 the tenant’s property has been closed for more than 48 hours under a closure order for anti-
social behaviour; or

•	 the tenant, a member of the tenant’s household, or a person visiting the property has been 
convicted for breaching a noise abatement notice or order.

The offence or anti-social conduct must have been committed in, or in the locality of, the property, 
affected a person with a right to live in the locality of the property or affected the landlord or the 
landlord’s staff or contractors.

Serious offences for this purpose include, for example: violent and sexual offences and those 
relating to offensive weapons, drugs and damage to property. A list of the relevant offences is 
found in Schedule 2A to the Housing Act 1985.

Details

The new absolute ground is based on the existing process for ending introductory tenancies 
for local authority tenants set out in sections 127 to 129 of the Housing Act 1996, and existing 
mandatory grounds for possession for rent arrears for housing association tenants, which 
generally work well for landlords. 

Page 100



61Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

The new ground will be available to landlords in addition to the existing discretionary grounds for 
possession set out in Schedule 2 to the Housing Act 1985 for secure tenants and Schedule 2 
to the Housing Act 1988 for assured tenants. Landlords will be able to choose to use the new 
ground, in addition to, or instead of the existing discretionary grounds for anti-social behaviour 
where one or more of the five conditions are met.

Partnership working: Close working relationships with the police, local councils and other local 
agencies will be important to ensure that the landlord is always aware when one or more of the 
triggers for the new absolute ground has occurred.

Box I: Secured and Assured Tenancies

Secure tenants are generally tenants of local councils with a very high level of security of tenure. 
Apart from the new absolute ground, secure tenants can only be evicted from their property on 
the discretionary grounds for possession in Schedule 2 to the Housing Act 1985. 

Tenants of housing associations generally have non-shorthold assured tenancies giving them 
a high level of security of tenure (although not fully equivalent to that of secure tenants). They can 
already be evicted under mandatory grounds for possession provided for in Schedule 2 to the 
Housing Act 1988 (for example, for rent arrears) as well as discretionary grounds for possession.

Private rented sector tenants generally have assured shorthold tenancies giving them limited 
security of tenure. They can be evicted under existing grounds for possession in Schedule 2 to 
the Housing Act 1988 as well as the ‘no fault’ ground in section 21 of the Housing Act 1988. This 
simply requires the landlord to give the tenant the proper notice before seeking a court order 
(usually without a hearing).

Notice requirements: In order to seek possession under the new absolute ground, landlords will 
need to serve a notice of the proceedings on the tenant, either:

•	 within 12 months of the relevant conviction or finding of the court being relied on (or if there is an 
appeal against the finding or conviction within 12 months of the appeal being finally determined, 
abandoned or withdrawn); or

•	 within three months where the tenant’s property has been closed under a closure order (or if 
there is an appeal against the making of the closure order, within three months of the appeal 
being finally determined, abandoned or withdrawn).

The minimum notice period for periodic tenancies is four weeks, or the tenancy period (i.e. the rent 
period) if longer. In the case of a fixed term tenancy the minimum notice period is one month. The 
notice is valid for 12 months.

The notice must include the following information:

•	 the landlord’s intention to seek possession under the new absolute ground;

•	 the reasons why they are seeking possession;

•	 which of the five conditions for the absolute ground the landlord proposes to rely on; 

•	 the relevant conviction, finding of the court, or closure order the landlord proposes to rely on; 

•	 details of any right that the tenant may have to request a review of the landlord’s decision to 
seek possession, and the time within which the request must be made;

•	 where and how a tenant may seek advice on the notice; and

•	 the date after which possession proceedings may be begun.
Page 101



62 Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

If the landlord wishes to seek possession on one or more of the existing discretionary grounds as 
well, he or she must also specify and give details of the relevant discretionary ground/s in the notice.

The court has no power to dispense with service of a notice for possession under the new 
absolute ground. Therefore where a landlord decides to seek possession for anti-social behaviour 
on the new absolute ground alongside one or more of the discretionary grounds, the court will not 
be able to dispense of the notice as they would have been able to if the possession was sought 
solely on the discretionary ground.

Review procedure:
•	 Local council tenants will have a statutory right to request a review of the landlord’s decision to 

seek possession under the new absolute ground.

•	 The request for a review must be made in writing within seven days of the notice to seek 
possession being served on the tenant.

•	 The review must be carried out before the end of the notice. 

•	 The landlord must communicate the outcome of the review to the tenant in writing.

•	 If the decision is to confirm the original decision to seek possession, the landlord must also 
notify the tenant of the reasons for the decision.

•	 If the review upholds the original decision, the landlord will proceed by applying to the court for 
the possession order.

•	 The statutory review procedure will not apply to housing associations tenants. However, we 
would expect housing associations to offer a similar non-statutory review procedure (in the same 
way that they have done so for starter tenancies for example). 

Putting victims first: In preparation for the court process, landlords should consider:

•	 reassuring victims and witnesses by letting them know what they can expect to happen in 
court;

•	 using professional witnesses where possible; and

•	 taking necessary practical steps with court staff to reassure and protect vulnerable victims 
and witnesses in court (e.g. the provision of separate waiting areas and accompanying them 
to and from court).

Landlords should also consider providing support/protection for victims and witnesses out of 
court, at home, and beyond the end of the possession proceedings when necessary.

Court hearing and defences: 
•	 Tenants will be entitled to a court hearing.

•	 As with other grounds of possession, tenants of public authorities or landlords carrying out a 
public function will be able to raise any available human rights defence, including proportionality, 
against the possession proceedings.

•	 The court will consider whether such a defence meets the high threshold of being ‘seriously 
arguable’ established by the Supreme Court.

•	 Subject to any available human rights defence raised by the tenant, the court must grant an 
order for possession where the landlord has followed the correct procedure.

Page 102



63Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals

Suspension of possession order: The court may not postpone the giving up of possession to a 
date later than 14 days after the making of the order; unless exceptional hardship would result in 
which case it may be postponed for up to six weeks.

Important changes/differences

•	 Unlike with the existing discretionary grounds for possession, landlords will not need to prove to 
the court that it is reasonable to grant possession. This means that the court will be more likely 
to determine cases in a single hearing, thereby expediting the process.

•	 The new ground is an additional tool which will provide more flexibility for landlords but will be 
applicable only in limited circumstances – where a court has already found a tenant or member 
of their household guilty of anti-social behaviour or criminality in the locality of the property.

•	 The court has no power to dispense with service of a notice for possession under the new 
absolute ground as they can do under the discretionary ground for anti-social behaviour.

•	 Local council tenants will have a statutory right to request a review of the landlord’s decision to 
seek possession under the absolute ground. We would expect housing associations to make a 
similar non-statutory review procedure available to their tenants.

•	 The court will only have the discretion to suspend a possession order made under the new 
ground to a date no later than 14 days after the making of the order (unless it appears to the 
court that exceptional hardship would be caused, in which case it may be postponed to a date 
no later than six weeks after the making of the order.)

Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



ISBN: 978-1-78246-408-2

© Crown Copyright 2014 Page 106



 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

 

1.1 To provide Members with an updated forecast of the revenue and capital outturn position 

for the current financial year. 

 

1.2 This report will also be considered by Select Committees as part of their responsibility to, 

 
• assess whether effective budget monitoring is taking place, 
• monitor the extent to which budgets are spent in accordance with agreed budget and 

policy framework, 
• challenge the reasonableness of projected over or underspends, and  
• monitor the achievement of predicted efficiency gains or progress in relation to savings 

proposals. 
  

1.3 To provide an update on the financial impact of Covid-19 on the Council. 

   

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

2.1 That Cabinet recognises a forecast surplus of £2.182m at year-end on the Council’s core 

service delivery, a significant improvement in the forecast outturn position since month 6 of 

£4.122m. 

 

2.2 That Cabinet note that the improvement in the forecast outturn has arisen both through 

continuing budget recovery action and more significantly through the notification of 

substantial further and late specific grant funding to be received from Welsh Government 

before the year-end. 

 

2.3 That Cabinet recognises the importance of a positive outturn position being achieved for 

2021/22, in that it safeguards and now forecasts to contribute to limited one-off reserve 

headroom retained to assist with meeting the unpredictable financial challenges over the 

medium term, and where uncertainty still remains to the extent of future pressures and the 

funding available to meet these challenges. 

 

2.4 That Cabinet recognises that currently the overall net revenue forecast surplus at month 9 

is £310k, as this takes account of a further forecast deficit of £1.872m that is directly 

associated with the extraordinary financial pressures attached to Covid-19.  If, as expected 

the £1.872m is fully recovered from the WG Covid-19 hardship fund the overall surplus 

would be that on core service delivery of £2.182m. 

SUBJECT:  REVENUE & CAPITAL MONITORING 2021/22  

   FORECAST OUTTURN STATEMENT – MONTH 9 

MEETING:  CABINET 

DATE:   2nd March 2022 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: ALL 

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 5



 

2.5 That Cabinet can be reasonably assured based on commitments from Welsh Government, 

that all Covid-19 associated cost pressures and income losses that are eligible to be met 

by the Welsh Government Covid-19 Hardship fund will be funded to the end of March 

2022. 

 

2.6 That Cabinet note that there remains significant Covid-19 related cost pressures and 

income losses forecast after the end of March 2022 and that these have been assessed 

and incorporated where required into the final budget proposals for 2022/23. 

 

2.7 That Cabinet recognise that the current budget forecast allows for an estimated non-

teaching pay award for 2021/22 of 1.75%.  The outcome of pay negotiations is awaited 

and in the event that the agreed pay award is above this estimate, that this will present a 

further budgetary pressure.  Welsh Government have been clear that no compensating 

funding is anticipated and given that the Minister confirmed via the final settlement that this 

already took into account any subsequent pay awards. 

 

2.8 That Members note that the overall revenue outturn position continues to be subsidised by 

£2.2m of capital receipts which are being used to fund identified eligible expenditure under 

the flexible use of capital receipts directive. 

 

2.9 That Members note the forecast 93% delivery of the budgeted mandated savings as detailed 
in appendix 3 and as agreed by full Council previously and the implicit remedial 
action/savings included in the financial outturn to compensate for circa 7% savings (£309k) 
reported as delayed or unachievable by service managers. 
 

2.10 Cabinet notes the extent of forecast improvements in school balances contained in table 4 

and appendix 1 which is informed and driven by the extent to which significant and 

unprecedented late grant support provided by Welsh Government to schools at the end of 

2020/21 exceeded the impact of school investment plans, and notably further receipt of 

unbudgeted grant support notified since month 6 totalling £2.06m. 

 

2.11 Cabinet considers the forecast capital outturn spend of £31.5m as outlined in appendix 1 

that would result in forecast slippage of £54.3m, noting the continuing delays in 

progressing some of the key capital projects due to the ongoing challenging operating 

conditions and impact both internally and externally in relation to Covid-19. 

 

2.12 That Cabinet approve the Capital budget revisions as listed in appendix 4 to this report 

resulting from the notification of external capital grant awards to the value of £4.01m and 

draw on Section 106 balances of £971k. 

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 

3.1 Assessing the financial impact of the pandemic on the Council 

 

3.2 The 2021/22 budget was set against the backdrop of an unprecedented period of 

uncertainty, both in Local Government and in the wider context.  The Covid-19 pandemic 

continues to have a major impact on all local authorities and wider public services across 

Page 108



Wales. From a financial perspective, the response to the pandemic has required the 

Council to incur significant additional expenditure, for example, costs relating to infection 

control measures, safeguarding the public and employees and support for elderly and 

vulnerable residents. In addition, income losses have also been substantial, during the 

period where services either have been closed or have experienced significant reductions 

in demand or footfall due to restrictions in place. 

 

3.3 The Council has been given clear commitments of the proposed Welsh Government 

support to meet the Covid-19 pressures and significantly the announcement of further 

funding for local authorities via the Local Government Covid-19 hardship fund to the end of 

March 2022.  Cabinet can be reasonably assured that all such Covid-19 related pressures 

will be funded during this period. 

 

3.4 Table 1 below indicates a total forecast net under spend for the Council at year-end of 

£310k and how this variance is broken down into that relating to core service delivery and 

that relating directly to the response to the pandemic. 

 

Table 1: Council Fund 2021/22 Outturn Forecast as at Month 9 

   

Directorate 

Total 
forecast 

variance at 
Month 9 

Of which 
due to core 

service 
delivery: 

Of which 
due to 

Covid-19 
Expenditure 

Increase: 

Of which due 
to Covid-19 

Income Loss: 

Social Care, Health & Safeguarding 28 28 0 0 

Children & Young People 1,128 1,128 0 0 

Enterprise 47 (911) 261 697 

Monlife 430 (128) 0 558 

Chief Executives Unit (160) (160) 0 0 

People & Governance (179) (179) 0 0 

Resources 39 (217) 48 208 

Corporate Costs & Levies (693) (693) 0 0 

Appropriations (400) (400) 0 0 

Financing (550) (650) 100 0 

Total forecast Month 9 (310) (2,182) 409 1,463 

          

Total forecast Month 6 5,911 1,940 1,734 2,237 

Variance from Month 6 (6,221) (4,122) (1,325) (774) 

 

 

3.5 The overall forecast surplus of £310k comprises expected additional costs of £409k and 

income losses of £1.463m directly related to the impact of Covid-19 on the Council, 

alongside a forecast £2.182m surplus on core Council service delivery.  If, as expected, 

the £1.872m is fully recovered from the WG Covid-19 hardship fund the overall surplus 

would be £2.182m. 

 

Page 109



3.6 It is important to note that the combined forecast overspend of £1.872m (£409k and 

£1,463k in the table above) relating specifically to the Covid-19 impact is presented on a 

prudent basis in so much that is displays a worst case scenario that does not take into 

account any of the further Welsh Government Hardship funding anticipated to meet the 

additional costs or reimbursement of income losses that have equally resulted.  

 

3.7 The Council can be reasonably assured based on continued dialogue with Welsh 

Government and their current funding commitments, that all Covid-19 associated cost 

pressures and income losses eligible to be met by the Welsh Government Covid-19 

Hardship fund will be funded to the end of March 2022. 

 

3.8 Whilst the Council is grateful for the funding commitments made to date by Welsh 

Government through the Covid-19 Hardship fund, it is imperative that the Council looks to 

continue to make strong representations for further clarity on funding arrangements for the 

ongoing Covid-19 pressures post March 2022.  As Covid-19 restrictions continue to ease 

some of these pressures are expected to fall away quickly, others will take some time to 

unwind and stabilise, whilst others will be of a more permanent nature brought about by 

strategic policy change enacted by Welsh Government.    

 

3.9 The Council prudently set aside reserve funding at the end of 2019/20 and 2020/21 

totalling £2.6m for specific Covid-19 related pressures which were yet to materialise, and 

in the event that funding commitments from Welsh Government fall short of meeting the 

additional expenditure and income losses, and this reserve funding will be available to 

mitigate the impact.  Given the Councils comparatively low level of reserve cover, and the 

financial challenges over the medium term and beyond, recourse to this funding should be 

seen as an absolute last resort after exhausting all other alternative options.  Therefore, it 

remains of critical importance that services manage budgets and expenditure tightly and 

take all opportunities to maximise income generation and bear down on cost. It is vitally 

important that services do not become reliant upon WG support and develop strategies 

that allow them to emerge from the pandemic on a sustainable financial footing. 

 

3.10 Just as importantly as managing the direct impacts of the pandemic on the Council, the 

wider and longer lasting indirect impact on Council services need to be considered, 

particularly in the areas of Homelessness, Children’s services, Adult social care and 

Children’s additional learning needs.  There remains significant latent and complex 

demands in these areas as a result of the ongoing societal impacts of the Covid-19 

response and restrictions, and some of these impacts will take a significant period of time 

to unwind and the Council needs to engage in careful discussions with Welsh Government 

around the management of this in the medium term.  Alongside this Council services need 

to prepare to be adaptable and innovative in their response to these pressures 

materialising and not simply rely on traditional methods of mitigation or solely place 

reliance on further funding coming forward. 

 

3.11 Financial assessment of core service delivery 

 

3.12 As the Council continues to transition from the response phase of the pandemic it is 

important that Cabinet is kept informed as impacts are being assessed.  The Council had 

already faced significant financial challenges in setting a balanced budget for 2021/22 and 

Page 110



the pandemic has only accentuated the challenge.  The budget round saw £10.3m of 

budget pressures accommodated, notably: 

 

 In full, all pay and pension-related spending pressures in our schooling system; 

 The increasing demand placed on children’s social care services, adult social care 

and our children with additional learning needs budgets; 

 Significant service pressures within the passenger transport unit and within 

recycling and waste and that look to ensure that the Council supports and sustains 

key service delivery; 

 Investment that ensures that homeless people are provided adequate support, 

advice and accommodation in their time of need; 

 An ongoing commitment to recognise and value the contribution made by the 

workforce and ensuring that local government staff are paid no less than the 

minimum wage set by the Living Wage Foundation. And that as a result of the 

Cabinet decision in January 2021 is also extended to apprenticeship roles within the 

Council. 

 

3.13 Despite accommodating the above pressures into the 2021/22 budget, at month 9 there 

continues to be significant in year core service pressures forecast, with many of these 

pressures developing in the same key areas that have been provided additional support in 

the budget.  Critically as we have moved through the financial year we have been notified 

of significant unbudgeted grant funding which has helped offset these pressures. 

 

3.14 The principal pressures and savings are within the areas of: 

 

Pressure/Saving Month 9 
£000’s 

Month 6 
£000’s 

Description 

Children’s services 394 695 Despite stabilisation in Children looked after 
numbers, new children have required high cost 
residential placements, as opposed to those 
leaving which have been more in the lower 
cost fostering/kinship/family placements.  A 
recent legal case has also led to the need to 
pay kinship carers in line with foster carer 
rates, along with the increase in payment to 
foster carers due to increasing skills training.  
The pressure has been considerably offset 
since month 6 by £627k of unbudgeted WG 
winter pressure grant. 

Adults Services (253) 547 The pressure on this budget is largely as a 
result of additional carer recruitment to our in 
house care at home service, and increased 
care packages in the South of the County. This 
has been significantly offset since month 6 by 
£823k of unbudgeted grant in respect of winter 
pressures and the social care recovery fund. 

Additional Learning 
Needs 

1,065 982 Primarily due to a reduction in income from 
other LAs (£244k), additional support for pupils 

Page 111



attending our own schools (£278k), and 
placement costs outside of our own schools 
(£460k). 

Landlord services 181 401 Reduced income from recharges into capital 
schemes due to a lower level of activity in the 
capital programme, alongside an in-year 
adjustment to correct a control account in-
balance due to the mis-posting of income in 
previous years. 

Transport & 
Passenger Transport 
Unit (PTU) 

241 236 The cost of maintaining the authority’s fleet has 
exceeded available budget. 

Non-teaching pay 
award 

837 837 An allowance has been made within the 
forecast for the expected result of pay award 
negotiations over and above the 1% already 
budgeted for.  The estimate is based on an 
expected award of 1.75% with negotiations 
continuing between local government 
employer’s representatives and trade unions. 

Holiday pay in 
relation to 
regularised overtime 

493 0 A statutory change has meant that staff who 
work over their contracted hours as part of their 
normal working pattern, or casual staff who are 
given standard working hours, are entitled to 
accrued holidays.  This pressure reflects the 
backdated pressure of bringing staff in line with 
the revised regulations for both 2020/21 and 
2021/22. 

Council tax (650) (750) Out-performance of budgeted Council tax 
collection. 

Borrowing costs (571) (230) A reduction in net budgeted borrowing costs 
reflective of the continuing low interest rate 
environment and significant capital slippage. 

Staff vacancies (1,064) (540) Significant staff vacancies being carried in the 
establishment. 

Waste contract & 
recyclates 

(494) (157) The HWRC and transfer station contract 
savings have been realised since month 6 and 
a relatively buoyant recycling market in Quarter 
2 and Quarter 3 have reduced costs. Planned 
expenditure on new depot infrastructure in 
south of county has not materialised due to the 
lack of suitable site availability to house 
recycling and waste fleet. 

Unbudgeted grant 
income 

(3,469)  Additional £1.019m grant notified for 
reductions in Council tax income during the 
period, alongside £1m in further AEF 
distribution.  A further £1.25m notified in 
relation to Social care winter pressures, with a 
further allocation of £200k from the social care 
recovery fund.   
 
*£1.45m of this amount is shown above as 
already netting off the above pressures in 
relation to Children’s & Adults services. 

 

Page 112



 

3.15 Importantly the overall outturn position also continues to be supported by £2.2m of 

identified eligible expenditure to be funded from capital receipts under the flexible use of 

capital receipts directive.  Reliance on these mitigations is a short term measure only and 

is clearly not sustainable over the medium term. 

 

3.16 As the financial year progresses there will inevitably be further forecast budget pressures 

and savings identified and added to the budget forecast. Appendix 2 provides an analysis 

of both the significant forecast pressures and savings already identified at month 9. 

 

3.17 It is important to note that the majority of the savings identified during the year to assist the 

in-year budget recovery are one-off savings and will not bring any further benefit to future 

year’s budgets. Conversely, the majority of those pressures highlighted above are 

recurrent pressures and were considered as part of the wider budget process for 2022/23 

and beyond.  

 

3.18 Following the further funding commitments received from WG for Covid-19 related 

pressures, as we look to the remainder of the financial year the key financial focus and 

uncertainty continues to be in achieving a positive outturn position in the core service 

delivery.  To that end the ongoing budget recovery plan remains vital in ensuring that the 

Council ends the year in a robust financial position and without needing to deplete reserve 

balances which are at comparatively low levels despite the recent replenishment, and 

particularly in light of the challenging budgetary position leading into 2022/23. 

 

3.19 Progress against mandated savings 

 

3.20 The 2021/22 budget included mandated savings totalling £4.734m and the progress 

against these is summarised in table 3 below and in more detail in appendix 3. 

 

Table 3: Progress against mandated savings 

 
 

Directorate 2021/22 
Budgeted 
Savings 

Saving 
achieved 

Delayed 
Savings 

Savings 
Unachie-

vable 

% 
Achieved 

  £000 £000 £000 £000   

Children & Young People (1,510) (1,275) (235) 0 84% 

Social Care & Health (874) (874) 0 0 100% 

Enterprise (821) (821) 0 0 100% 

Monlife (100) (80) 0 (20) 80% 

Resources (165) (123) (42) 0 75% 

Chief Executives Unit (32) (20) (12) 0 63% 

Corporate Costs & Levies (1,508) (1,508) 0 0 100% 

Appropriations 275 275 0 0 100% 

Total (4,734) (4,426) (289) (20) 93% 

 

 

Page 113



3.21 It is pleasing to note the forecast 93% delivery of mandated savings, especially in light of 

the ongoing challenges faced by services in the current operating conditions.  Finance 

officers will continue to work with services to ensure that these savings are fully delivered 

as the year progresses and to look at options for delivering on savings indicated as 

delayed. 

 

3.22 School balances 

 

3.23 From a financial perspective, 2020/21 was an unprecedented year for schools who 

received several significant Welsh Government grants to support them and their pupils 

during a period of significant disruption to learning, and alongside this sustained periods of 

enforced closure during the financial year resulted in spending on core budgets being 

significantly curtailed.  This resulted in the majority of schools bringing forward significant 

surplus balances into the 2021/22 financial year. 

 

3.24 The Authority required schools carrying significant surplus balances that were above levels 

guided by Welsh Government (£50k for a Primary, £100k for a Secondary) to provide 

investment plans setting out how they intended to spend the significant balances being 

held.  These plans have subsequently been completed and assessed and has informed 

the budget monitoring process. 

 

3.25 At month 9, the forecast is a contribution to reserves of £686,954, resulting in a forecast 

surplus balance of £4,105,074.  The majority of the increase in reserve balances is due to 

further additional unbudgeted grants notified from Welsh Government during the year: 

  

 £1,089,288 to cover revenue maintenance  

 £117,306 Winter of Wellbeing  

 £184,076 ALN new system funding  

 £668,971 RRR’s funding.  

All schools are putting in place plans to ensure the most effective and beneficial use of 

these grants is made. 

  

Table 4: Forecast movement school balances for 2021/22 

 

Draft Council 
Fund Outturn 
2021/22 – School 
Balances 
Summary 
outturn position  
at Month 9 

 

(A)  
Opening 

 Reserves 
(Surplus) / 

Deficit 
Position 
 2021/22 

 
£000’s 

(B)  
Draw / 

(Contribution) 
from / (to) 
 School 

Balances 
 @ Month 2 

 
£’000 

(C)  
Draw / 

(Contribution) 
from / (to) 
 School 

Balances 
 @ Month 6  

 
£’000 

(D)  
Draw / 

(Contribution) 
from / (to) 
 School 

Balances 
 @ Month 9 

 
£’000 

(A+D) 
Forecast 
Reserve 
Balances 

at 
2021/22 
Outturn 

 
 

£’000 

Variance 
Draw on 
School 

Balances 
Month 6 to 

Month 9 

 

£’000 

Cluster       

Abergavenny (1,158) 309 426 (197) (1,355) (623) 

Caldicot (1,091) 539 372 (197) (1,288) (569) 

Page 114



Chepstow (349) 516 417 42 (307) (375) 

Monmouth (794) 457 354 (318) (1,113) (673) 

Special (26) (39) (11) (16) (42) (5) 

Total (3,418) 1,782 1,558 (687) (4,105) (2,245) 

 

 

3.26 Irrespective of the significant one-off funding given to schools at the end of 2020/21, and 

the further grants notified during 2021/22, it is clear that the inherent structural budget 

deficits that led to a significant number of schools being in deficit over the past few years 

remain and that these will require resolution regardless.  It is expected that the additional 

funding made available to those schools will allow a period of transition and as to allow 

those underlying budgetary issues to be rectified without impacting on educational 

standards.   

 

3.27 Capital outturn forecast 

 

3.28 The capital expenditure forecast outturn detailed in appendix 1 indicates no variance to 

budget at the present time.  This is not uncommon on capital projects at this stage of the 

year where projects are in progress and final consolidation of costs will not be undertaken 

until later in the year. 

 

3.29 The impact of Covid-19 on the programme has varied and is very much been dependent 

on the nature of the works being undertaken.  Following initial delays on schemes during 

periods of operating restrictions, contractors are adapting to Covid-19 work restrictions, 

although cost inflation and supply chain issues continue to represent a challenge to project 

delivery.  Some of the issues will be temporary, however it remains unclear whether 

increases in cost inflation will be sustained over the medium term. 

 

3.30 There is therefore a significant level of slippage forecast at month 9 of £54.35m (63% of 

total budget) where some of the Councils major schemes have been impacted by delays: 

 

 Abergavenny 3-19 School (£26.399m) where the original budget schedule for the 
project has changed considerably since the inception of the project due to external 
factors. 

 Asset Investment Fund (£18.092m) where further expenditure is dependent on 
appropriate schemes coming forward that meet the Authorities investment criteria. 

 Crick Road Care Home (£5.964m) where there have been delays in the building 
schedule. 

 Other notable slippages: £813k for a backlog in disabled facility grant 
implementations; £516k for modifications to County Hall ‘J’ block, delayed due to a 
‘SUDS’ consent being required; £489k for Match Funded Capital schemes and £280k 
on the Re-Fit programme.  

 

3.31 The forecast movement in capital receipts balances for the year is shown below.  Whilst 

overall balances on the face of it are healthy, there remains the risk that forecast receipts 

receivable for 2022/23 onwards are at comparatively low levels, and combined with the 

Page 115



fact that receipts are continuing to be used to subsidise the revenue budget through 

capitalisation direction means that the scope for further capital investment funded via 

receipts will be limited.  

 

Table 5: Forecast movement in capital receipt balances 

 

 
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Balance as at 1st April  9,581  13,503  11,108  10,311  8,714  

Capital receipts used for financing (3,582)  (2,311)  (1,294)  (1,194)  (1,094)  

Capital receipts used to support 
capitalisation direction 

(2,208)  (2,650)  (507)  (507)  (507)  

Capital receipts Received or Forecast 9,712 2,565 1,004 104 104 

Forecast Balance as at 31st March  13,503 11,108 10,311 8,714 7,217 

 

 

4 OPTIONS APPRAISAL 

 

4.1 This report provides an update on the current financial situation and the challenges facing 

the Council now and over the medium term.  It has been prepared at a time of great 

uncertainty as the Council still transitions from the emergency response phase of the 

Covid-19 pandemic towards a period of recovery. 

 

4.1 The outturn forecast that has been prepared for consideration is predicated on 

assumptions that have been independently assessed by budget holders and subsequently 

reviewed as part of the budget monitoring process.  These assumptions don’t look to 

represent a policy position that Cabinet is looking to take on when services are re-opening, 

either fully or in a more limited capacity, or how services are looking to respond to the 

changing demands.  Rather they represent a reasoned assessment of the impact on 

services in year based on known information, anticipated future changes and estimates. 

 

4.2 By far the greatest uncertainty that exists is the continued level of Welsh Government 

funding to be received to offset additional costs incurred in responding to the Covid-19 

emergency response and the significant income losses that have resulted where services 

have ceased as a result of the lockdown restrictions in place.  Current funding 

commitments from Welsh Government are due end in March 2022 in their current form 

and the council will continue to make strong representations for further clarity on funding 

for the ongoing Covid-19 pressures faced. 

 

5 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

 

5.1 This forecast outturn report represents an assessment of the forecast for the 2021/22 
financial year based on nine months of data.  More so than ever the combination of the 
impact of the Cvoid-19 pandemic on service operating conditions and the fact that it is only 
part way through the financial year, means that a level of risk uncertainty should be 
attributed to the forecast.    

 

Page 116



5.2 There is an increased level of comfort that Welsh Government funding will meet additional 
costs and income losses brought about by the response to and the impact of the pandemic 
to the end of the financial year.  However, this continues to represent a risk that will only 
be mitigated by monthly and quarterly submissions to Welsh Government being agreed.  
And furthermore and beyond those impacts resulting from Covid-19 there exists a number 
of significant cost pressures that need to be managed regardless. 
 

5.3 The Council has traditionally maintained formal reporting to Cabinet at month 2, month 5, 
month 9 and outturn, with more frequent budget monitoring information being undertaken 
at a departmental level and reported to management and the Strategic Leadership Team.  
More regular formal reporting to Cabinet is considered necessary only where 
circumstances necessitate it. 
 

5.4 Given the further funding commitments made by Welsh Government through to the end of 
the year to cover Covid-19 pressures, it is considered appropriate to maintain the 
traditional reporting frequency for the remainder of this financial year, with further reporting 
to take place at outturn.  

 
5.5 The update of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and the development of the 

budget proposals for 2022/23 have been finalised.  The Council has needed to consider 
the wider and longer lasting indirect Covid-19 impact on Council services, particularly in 
the areas of Homelessness, Children’s services, Adult social care and Children’s 
additional learning needs.  There remains significant latent and complex demands in these 
areas as a result of the ongoing societal impacts of the Covid-19 response and 
restrictions, and some of these impacts will take a significant period of time to unwind and 
the Council will therefore continue to engage in careful discussions with Welsh 
Government around the management of this in the medium term. 
 

6 REASONS: 
 

6.1 To provide Members with an updated forecast of the revenue and capital outturn position 

for the current financial year. 

 

6.2 To ensure that the gravity of the financial challenges facing the Council are understood 

and that reasonable actions are being taken to safeguard the ongoing financial 

sustainability of the Council. 

 

7 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

 

7.1 The resource implications of the current in-year forecast outturn are contained in this 

report and the attached appendices.  The forecast outturn exhibits an under spend of 

£310k.  However further Welsh Government Covid-19 hardship funding is expected to be 

received through the end of year of £1.709m which is not included in the current forecast. 

 

7.2 The financial challenges facing the Council and resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic are 

significant in the current year and will undoubtedly be a feature of the next 4 years of the 

MTFP.  Not just for this Council but all councils across Wales and the UK.  The Council is 

having to incur significant costs in its response effort and this will continue as it transitions 

towards recovery.  Furthermore and resulting from the restrictions that UK Government 

and Welsh Government have had to put in place to contain the spread of the virus we are 

Page 117



suffering significant shortfalls in our income levels.  Some of these will return more quickly 

than others as services are able to be safely turned back on. 

 

7.3 In terms of how the Council will respond to the challenges faced in the current year and 

over the medium term this will very much depend on the level of compensating funding 

received from Welsh Government and the flexibilities afforded to Welsh local authorities to 

spread the impact over more than one financial year. 

 

7.4 The more immediate focus has been in arresting the core service delivery deficit that was 

forecast earlier in the financial year.  To that end the ongoing budget recovery plan has 

been vital in ensuring that the Council ends the year in a positive position and without 

needing to deplete reserve balances which are at comparatively low levels despite the 

recent replenishment, and particularly in light of the challenging budgetary position it has 

had to overcome leading into 2022/23. 

 

8 EQUALITY AND FUTURE GENERATIONS EVALUATION (INCLUDES SOCIAL 

JUSTICE, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING): 

 

8.1 This report provides Members with information on the forecast revenue and capital outturn 

position of the Authority and carries no decisions.  There are therefore no equality of future 

generations’ implications directly arising from this report. 

 

8.2 Any such impacts will be fully considered subsequently when Council receives details the 

budget recovery plan and revised budget proposals. 

 

9 CONSULTEES: 

 

Senior Leadership Team 

Cabinet 

 

10 BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 

Appendix 1 – Detailed outturn statements and directorate commentaries 

Appendix 2 – Service variance analysis 

Appendix 3 – Progress against budgeted savings 

Appendix 4 – Capital external financing budget revisions 

  

11 AUTHORS: 

 

Peter Davies, Chief Officer for Resources (Section 151 officer) 

Tel: 01633 644294 / 07398 954828 

E-mail: peterdavies@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 

Jonathan Davies, Acting Assistant Head of Finance (Deputy S151 officer) 

Tel:  01633 644114 

 E-mail: jonathandavies2@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

Page 118

mailto:peterdavies@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:jonathandavies2@monmouthshire.gov.uk


Social Care, Health 

& Safeguarding Summary

Non

Covid-19 

Pressures

DIVISION

Net Service 

Pressures 

not related 

to Covid-19 

(£000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£000)

Total

Adult Services (4) 0 0 (4)

Children Services 396 0 0 0 396

Community Care (67) 0 0 0 (67)

Commissioning (155) 0 0 0 (155)

Partnerships 0 0 0 0 0

Public Protection (115) 0 0 0 (115)

Resources & Performance (27) 0 0 0 (27)

Total 28 0 0 0 28

Social Care, Health & Safeguarding Detailed
Non

Covid-19 

Pressures
Service 

Pressures 

not related 

to Covid-19 

(£000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£000)

Total

Adult Services

Reduced capacity to offer services (259) (259)

Bad debt provision 99 99

Additional care packages & recruitment 156 156

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

P
age 119



Total Adult Services (4) 0 0 0 (4)

Children Services

High cost residential placements as a result of increased complexity 832 832

Legal case relating to rate historically paid to kinship carers 273 273

Legal costs 213 213

Agency staff requirement 75 75

Winter pressures grant unbudgeted (627) (627)

Net reduction in staffing requirement over the period (104) (104)

Transport/Other grant funding (266) (266)

Total Children's Services 396 0 0 0 396

Community Care
A net underspend driven by lower referrals for drug & alcohol 

dependency and unbudgeted grant, offset by an increase in some car 

packages

(67) (67)

Total Community Care (67) 0 0 0 (67)

Commissioning

Other (22) (22)

Staff vacancy (99) (99)

Termination of the Usk Services contract (34) (34)

Total Commissioning (155) 0 0 0 (155)

Public Protection

Other (7) (7)

Staff vacancies (108) (108)

Total Public Protection (115) 0 0 0 (115)

Resources & Performance

Other 13 13

Staff vacancy (40) (40)

Total Resources & Performance (27) 0 0 0 (27)

Total 28 0 0 0 28

P
age 120



Children &

 Young People Summary

Non

Covid-19 

Pressures

DIVISION

Net Service 

Pressures 

not related 

to Covid-19 

(£000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£000)

Total

Individual Schools Budgets (29) 0 0 0 (29)

Resources 8 0 0 0 8

Standards 1,149 0 0 0 1,149

Total 1,128 0 0 0 1,128

Children & Young People Detailed

Non

Covid-19 

Pressures
Service 

Pressures 

not related 

to Covid-19 

(£000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£000)

Total

Individual Schools Budgets

Back pay due to school staff is less than anticipated (29) (29)

Total Individual Schools Budgets (29) 0 0 0 (29)

Resources

Additional support services staff 8 8

Total Resources 8 0 0 0 8

Standards

Additional learning needs - placements, recoupment, support 1,065 1,065

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

P
age 121



Breakfast club income 62 62

Additional staffing 22 22

Total Standards 1,149 0 0 0 1,149

Total 1,128 0 0 0 1,128

P
age 122



Enterprise Summary
Non

Covid-19 

Pressures

DIVISION

Service 

Pressures not 

related to Covid-

19 (£,000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable to 

Covid- 19  

(£,000)

Shortfall /Loss 

of Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£,000)

Costs 

incurred due 

to changes in 

service 

delivery 

(£,000)

Total

Enterprise & Community Animation (197) 0 433 0 236

Facilities & Fleet (28) 25 0 0 (3)

Neighbourhood Services (604) 236 0 0 (368)

Placemaking, Highways & Flood (82) 0 264 0 182

Total (911) 261 697 0 47

Enterprise Detailed
Non

Covid-19 

Pressures
Service 

Pressures not 

related to Covid-

19 (£,000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable to 

Covid- 19  

(£,000)

Shortfall /Loss 

of Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£,000)

Costs 

incurred due 

to changes in 

service 

delivery 

(£,000)

Total

Enterprise & Community Animation

Communications - Increase in Software Costs offset by increased income
6 6

Community & Pships - savings on course fees and mileage - staff costs to 

capitalisation (£29k) (33) (33)

Enterprise Mgt - Staff vacancy savings (12)

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

P
age 123



Homelessness - Increase in B&B costs, security costs due to Covid
(79) 433

Sewage Treatment Costs - Shirenewton waste removal to avoid leaks.
24

Housing Grant - Staff costs no longer covered by grant T&Cs 63

Shared Housing & Private Leasing - Improved rental figures (102)

Housing Associations - Mortgage costs 8 8

Careline - Reduction in equipment spend, improved income. (22) (22)

Strategic Services - Vacant post savings. (17) (17)

Procurement (33) (33)
Total Enterprise & Community Animation (197) 0 433 0 (91)

Facilities & Fleet

Building Cleaning - Essential equipment repair & replacement. 0 25 25

PTU Commissioning - Reduction in in contract costs, windfall in operator 

payments going monthly. £50k route optimisation software capitalised
(269)

Transport - Green car scheme loss £26k, increased repair costs £238k for 

additional vehicles taken on for covid & increased operations. Staff Cost 

to capitalisation £28k 241
Total Facilities & Fleet (28) 25 0 0 25

Neighbourhood Services

Highways & Streetlighting - Energy & maintenance savings (110) (110)

Waste/Grounds - Savings from recyclates and reduced waste mgt 

contract + Increased vehicles due to covid. (494) 236
Total Neighbourhood Services (604) 236 0 0 (110)

Placemaking, Highways & Flood

Planning - Lost Pre-app income 35 35

Building Control - Lost income 73

Car Parking & CPE  - Software, premises and transport overspend 49

Car Parking & CPE Income down 191

Highway Dev & Flooding - Staff uspend & improved income. (166)

P
age 124



Total Placemaking, Highways & Flood (82) 0 264 0 35

Total (911) 261 697 0 (141)

P
age 125



MonLife Summary
Non

Covid-19 

Pressures
DIVISION Service 

Pressures not 

related to Covid-

19 (£,000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable to 

Covid- 19  

(£,000)

Shortfall /Loss 

of Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£,000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£,000)

Total

Countryside & Culture 14 0 78 0 92

Finance & Business Development (145) 0 38 0 (107)

Leisure, Youth & Outdoor Adventure 3 0 442 0 445

Total (128) 0 558 0 430

Monlife Detailed
Non

Covid-19 

Pressures
Service 

Pressures not 

related to Covid-

19 (£,000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable to 

Covid- 19  

(£,000)

Shortfall /Loss 

of Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£,000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£,000)

Total

Countryside & Culture

Countryside & Culture - Income Loss, contribution to Living Levels 14 78 92

Total Countryside & Culture 14 0 78 0 92

Finance & Business Development

Finance & Business Development - Income Loss (£38k), Staff Vacancy 

savings (£145k) (145) 38 (107)

Total Finance & Business Development (145) 0 38 0 (107)

Leisure, Youth & Outdoor Adventure

Leisure, Youth & Outdoor Adventure - Loss of leisure centre & outdoor 

adventure income 3 442 445

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

P
age 126



Total Leisure, Youth & Outdoor Adventure 3 0 442 0 445

Total (128) 0 558 0 430

P
age 127



Resources Summary
Non

Covid-19 

Pressures

DIVISION

Service 

Pressures 

not related 

to Covid-19 

(£,000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£,000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£,000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£,000)

Total

Commercial, Corporate & landlord Services 181 48 157 0 386

Finance (376) 0 51 0 (325)

Future Monmouthshire 0 0 0 0 0

Information Communication Technology (22) 0 0 0 (22)

Total (217) 48 208 0 39

Resources Detailed
Non

Covid-19 

Pressures

Service 

Pressures 

not related 

to Covid-19 

(£,000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£,000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£,000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£,000)

Total

Commercial, Corporate & landlord Services
Estates - Income loss from vacant office space in magor and loss of 

service charge, offset by staff savings (96) 37 (59)

Solar Farm - Improved ROC income (40) (40)

Commercial Investments - income shortfall NLP (74) 66 (8)

Commercial Investments - Castlegate - Control account mis-post 250 250

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

P
age 128



County Farms - Increase in fees, and a reduction in tenant income.
21 21

Property Services - Reduction on project fee income 43 43

Central Accommodation - Pru borrowing hit for J block - increase in 

repair costs.  Additional cleaning costs (£48k) 42 48 90

MCC Markets - Income Loss due to 50% charge due tot refurb, £78k due 

to covid rules. £35k over on Refuse. 35 54 89
Total Commercial, Corporate & landlord Services 181 48 157 0 386

Finance

Benefits - B&B HB claims increasing due to Covid, not all can be claimed 

against Housing benefit subsidy so pressure on budget.  
42

42

Council Tax & NNDR - Shortfall in Summons income due to courts being 

closed and decision to halt recovery of Unpaid Council Tax & Business 

Rates.  Salary overspend as budget moved as part of restructure that 

has not taken place yet. 57 51 108

Charity Relief - Business Grants admin grant payment (132) (132)

Debtors - Vacant post (4) (4)

Finance & Imp - Senior staff vacancy saving (243) (243)

Payroll - Staff vacancy savings (60) (60)

Innovation - Staff Costs 0

Audit - Staff Savings (15) (15)

Systems & Exchequer - Security carrier savings, system dev 

postponement savings. (21) (21)

Total Finance (376) 0 51 0 (325)

ICT

SRS - Contribution savings (22) (22)
Total ICT (22) 0 0 0 (22)

Total (217) 48 208 0 39

P
age 129



Chief Executive Summary
Non

Covid-19 

Pressures

DIVISION

Service 

Pressures not 

related to 

Covid-19 

(£,000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£,000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£,000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£,000)

Total

Policy, Scrutiny & Customer Service (160) 0 0 0 (160)

Total (160) 0 0 0 (160)

Chief Executive Detailed
Non

Covid-19 

Pressures
Service 

Pressures not 

related to 

Covid-19 

(£,000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£,000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£,000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£,000)

Total

Policy, Scrutiny & Customer Service

Community Hubs - Unachievable income budget. 29 29
Community Education - Grant Windfall from 20-21. (159) (159)

Contact Centre - Increased staff costs offset by savings due to delay in new telephony system. (65) (65)
Corporate CEO - Inability to meet vacancy factor and increase in licensing fees 9 9
Scrutiny - Unachievable Staff vacancy savings 1 1
Policy & Partnerships - Welsh Language Overspend due to covid, reduction in third party 

contributions. 25 25
Total Policy, Scrutiny & Customer Service (160) 0 0 0 (160)

Total (160) 0 0 0 (160)

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

P
age 130



People & Governance Summary
Non

Covid-19 

Pressures

DIVISION

Service 

Pressures 

not related 

to Covid-19 

(£,000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£,000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£,000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£,000)

Total

People & Governance (179) 0 0 0 (179)

Total (179) 0 0 0 (179)

People & Governance Detailed
Non

Covid-19 

Pressures
Service 

Pressures 

not related 

to Covid-19 

(£,000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£,000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£,000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£,000)

Total

People & Governance

Innovation - Staff re-grading, no budget 8 8

Members - IT Equipment saving and mileage/allowance due to less 

travel for meetings (50) (50)

Elections - Reduced canvassing costs offset by increased salary. 0 0

Committee Section - Increased staff hours 18 18

Legal - Staff savings through delay in employing lawyer. (24) (24)

Land Charges - Vacant Post & improved search income (37) (37)

People Services - Senior staff vacancy savings (£80K) and reduce 

demand in occ health. (£11k), Training Staff vacancy (£3k) (94) (94)
Total People & Governance (179) 0 0 0 (179)

Total (179) 0 0 0 (179)

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

P
age 131



Corporate Summary

Non

Covid-19 

Pressures

DIVISION

Service 

Pressures 

not related 

to Covid-19 

(£000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£000)

Total

Precepts & Levies 13 0 0 0 13

Corporate Management (94) 0 0 0 (94)

Non Distributed Costs (NDC) 62 0 0 0 62

Strategic Initiatives (677) 0 0 0 (677)

Insurance 3 0 0 0 3

Total (693) 0 0 0 (693)

Corporate Detailed
Non

Covid-19 

Pressures
Service 

Pressures 

not related 

to Covid-19 

(£000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£000)

Total

Precepts & Levies

National parks levy 13 13

Total Precepts & Levies 13 0 0 0 13

Corporate Management

Bad debt provision reversal (86) (86)

Other (8) (8)

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

P
age 132



Total Corporate management (94) 0 0 0 (94)

Non Distributed Costs (NDC)

Pension strain costs 62 62

Total Non Distributed Costs (NDC) 62 0 0 0 62

Strategic Initiatives

Other 12

Holiday pay in relation to regularised overtime 493

Unbudgeted grant - Council tax losses (1,019)

Additional AEF notified (1,000)

Pay award pressure over and above 1% budgeted 837 837

Total Strategic Initiatives (677) 0 0 0 837

Insurance

Premium (40) (40)

Fees (34) (34)

Usk trust payment, offset by lower forecast Self insured costs 77 77

Total Insurance 3 0 0 0 3

Total (693) 0 0 0 821

P
age 133



Appropriations Summary

Non

Covid-19 

Pressures

DIVISION

Net Service 

Pressures 

not related 

to Covid-19 

(£000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£000)

Total

Fixed Asset Disposal Costs 171 0 0 0 171

Interest & Investment Income (72) 0 0 0 (72)

Interest Payable & Similar Charges (403) 0 0 0 (403)

Charges Required under Regulation (11) 0 0 0 (11)

Borrowing cost recoupment (85) 0 0 0 (85)

Total (400) 0 0 0 (400)

Appropriations Detailed
Non

Covid-19 

Pressures
Service 

Pressures 

not related 

to Covid-19 

(£000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£000)

Total

Fixed Asset Disposal Costs

Unbudgeted security costs 171 171

Total Fixed Asset Disposal Costs 171 0 0 0 171

Interest & Investment Income
Returns higher than budgeted due to increase in rates and additional 

unbudgeted recoupment
(72) (72)

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

P
age 134



Total Interest & Investment Income (72) 0 0 0 (72)

Interest Payable & Similar Charges

Temporary borrowing costs remaining very low (403) (403)

Total Interest Payable & Similar Charges (403) 0 0 0 (403)

Charges Required under Regulation

Due to capital slippage in 20/21 (11) (11)

Total Charges Required under Regulation (11) 0 0 0 (11)

Unbudgeted recoupment from service (85) (85)

Borrowing cost recoupment (85) 0 0 0 (85)

Total (400) 0 0 0 (400)

P
age 135



Financing Summary

Non

Covid-19 

Pressures

DIVISION

Net Service 

Pressures 

not related 

to Covid-19 

(£000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£000)

Total

Council Tax (650) 0 0 0 (650)

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 0 100 0 0 100

Total (650) 100 0 0 (550)

Financing Detailed
Non

Covid-19 

Pressures
Service 

Pressures 

not related 

to Covid-19 

(£000)

Expenditure 

directly 

attributable 

to Covid- 19  

(£000)

Shortfall 

/Loss of 

Income due 

to Covid-19  

(£000)

Costs incurred 

due to changes 

in service 

delivery (£000)

Total

Council Tax

Increase in base, reductions in exemptions, collection rate remaining 

healthy
(650) (650)

Total Council Tax (650) 0 0 0 (650)

Council Tax Reduction Scheme

CTRS 100 100

Total Council Tax Reduction Scheme 0 100 0 0 100

Total (650) 100 0 0 (550)

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

COVID- 19 Specific PRESSURES

P
age 136



Savings matrix 2021-22

(SELECT) REF. Disinvestment 2021-22
2021/22

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 6

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 9

Value of Saving

achieved at 

Outturn

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

YTD

% Forecast M6

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Children & Young People (1,510) (1,313) (1,266) (1,275) 0 (235) 0 83.9%

Social Care & Health (874) (874) (874) (874) 0 0 0 100.0%

Enterprise (821) (821) (821) (821) 0 0 0 99.9%

MonLife (100) (80) (80) (80) 0 0 (20) 80.0%

Resources (165) (165) (117) (123) 0 (42) 0 70.9%

Chief Executives Units (32) (20) (20) (20) 0 (12) 0 62.5%

Corporate Costs & Levies (1,508) (1,508) (1,508) (1,508) 0 0 0 100.0%

Appropriations 275 275 275 275 0 0 0 100.0%

Totals Disinvestments by Directorate (4,734) (4,506) (4,411) (4,426) 0 (289) (20) 93.2%

Children & Young People Select Committee (1,510) (1,313) (1,266) (1,275) 0 (235) 0 83.9%

Adult Select Committee (874) (874) (874) (874) 0 0 0 100.0%

Economic & Development Select Committee (162) (142) (142) (142) 0 0 (20) 87.5%

Strong Communities Select Committee (2,189) (2,177) (2,129) (2,135) 0 (54) 0 97.3%

Totals Disinvestments by Select (4,734) (4,506) (4,411) (4,426) 0 (289) (20) 93.2%

Children & Young People

2021/22

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 6

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 9

Value of 

Saving

achieved at 

Outturn

Delayed

Savings

Savings 

deemed

Unachievable

Traffic Light 

based Risk 

Assessment

ASSESSMENT of

Progress

Risk of current forecast 

saving NOT being 

achieved ( High / 

Medium / Low )

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

CYP CYP 1 Mounton House closure impact on ISB (1,258) (1,258) (1,258) (1,258) 0 0 0 Achieved Low

CYP CYP 2 Additional recoupment income - mainstream (252) (55) (8) (17) 0 (235) 0

Unlikely to achieve saving, as several pupils 

have moved into Monmouthshire, meaning 

we can no longer recoup from other LA's
High

Total Children & Young People (1,510) (1,313) (1,266) (1,275) 0 (235) 0

Social Care & Health

ADULT SCH 1 Fees & Charges 2021/22 (79) (79) (79) (79) 0 0 0 Achieved Low

ADULT SCH 2 Increase in Social Care Workforce Development  (SCWD) grant (247) (247) (247) (247) 0 0 0 Achieved Low

ADULT SCH 3 Removal of TWUD base budget (548) (548) (548) (548) 0 0 0 Achieved Low

Total Social Care & Health (874) (874) (874) (874) 0 0 0

Enterprise

E&D ENT
PLANHOUS - Staff Saving - 20-21 Staff Restructure Savings (£11,950) + 

£50k LDP senior officer saving, frozen until 23/24.
(62) (62) (62) (62) 0 0 0

Achieved
Low

Page 1 of 2

P
age 137



Savings matrix 2021-22

SCOMM ENT NEIGHBOURHOOD - Waste - Service Savings (685) (685) (685) (685) 0 0 0 Achieved Low

SCOMM ENT
NEIGHBOURHOOD - Grounds Maintenance - Remove Sweeper & Staff 

savings
(65) (65) (65) (65) 0 0 0

Achieved
Low

SCOMM ENT Increase in discretionary Fees & Charges (9) (9) (9) (9) 0 0 0 Achieved Low

Total Enterprise (821) (821) (821) (821) 0 0 0

MonLife

E&D MonLife MONLIFE - Removal of Events Co-ordinator Post (25) (25) (25) (25) 0 0 0 Achieved post has not been filled. Low

E&D MonLife MONLIFE - Introduce Car Parking Charges at Caldicot Castle (20) 0 0 0 0 0 (20)
Will not be achieved this financial year as 

charges are not being introduced. 
High

E&D MonLife Increase in discretionary Fees & Charges (55) (55) (55) (55) 0 0 0

Increase has been implemented, any 

shortfall will be claimed from WG loss of 

income claims. 

Low

Total MonLife (100) (80) (80) (80) 0 0 (20)

Chief Executive's Unit

SCOMM CEO GOVDEMSUP - Members Supplies & Services (15) (15) (15) (15) 0 0 0 Achieved Low

SCOMM CEO GOVDEMSUP - Staff Vacancy Saving (17) (5) (5) (5) 0 (12) 0
Increased staff hours have partly offset 

saving
High

Total Chief Executive's Unit (32) (20) (20) (20) 0 (12) 0

Resources

SCOMM RES CORPLLORD - Property Accommodation Savings. (50) (50) (2) (8) 0 (42) 0

Will not be achieved in full in 21-22, 

maintenance costs have increased across 

our office sites this year.

Low

SCOMM RES FUTUREMON - Mileage Savings (71) (71) (71) (71) 0 0 0 Achieved Low

SCOMM RES FUTUREMON - Staff Secondment Savings (44) (44) (44) (44) 0 0 0 Achieved Low

Total Resources (165) (165) (117) (123) 0 (42) 0

Corporate Costs & Levies

SCOMM COL001 Capitalisation directive (1,508) (1,508) (1,508) (1,508) 0 0 0 Likely to be taken in full Low

Total Corporate Costs & Levies (1,508) (1,508) (1,508) (1,508) 0 0 0

Appropriations

SCOMM APP001
Net Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) increase based on additional 

activity
275 275 275 275 0 0 0

Included in overall MRP charge for year
Low

Total Appropriations 275 275 275 275 0 0 0

Page 2 of 2

P
age 138



Council Fund 2021/22 SCOMM Select Month 9 Detailed Statement                       Appendix 5  

Overall Revenue Position  

Table 1: Council Fund 2021/22 Outturn Forecast Summary Statement at Month 9 

Service Area Original 
Budget 

2021/22 

Budget 
Adjust
ments 

Revised 
Annual 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
(Under) 

/ Over 
Spend @ 

M9 

Forecast 
(Under) 

/ Over 
Spend @ 

M6 

Forecast 
Variance 

M6 to 
M9 

 
‘000’s ‘000’s ‘000’s ‘000’s ‘000’s ‘000’s ‘000’s 

Social Care, Health 
& Safeguarding  

52,825 (182) 52,643 52,671 28 1,181 (1,153) 

Children & Young 
People 

56,527 48 56,575 57,703 1,128 1,262 (134) 

Enterprise 21,884 (468) 21,416 21,463 47 913 (866) 

MonLife 3,951 17 3,968 4,398 430 1,228 (798) 

Chief Executives 
Unit 

2,912 (100) 2,812 2,652 (160) (41) (119) 

People & 
Governance  

3,383 427 3,809 3,630 (179) (184) 5 

Resources  7,235 (849) 6,386 6,425 38 1,504 (1,466) 

Corporate Costs & 
Levies  

23,414 847 24,261 23,569 (693) 705 (1,398) 

Net Cost of Services 172,130 (261) 171,870 172,510 640 6,568 (5,928) 

Appropriations 5,836 261 6,097 5,697 (400) (93) (307) 

Expenditure to be 
Financed 

177,966 0 177,966 178,207 240 6,475 (6,235) 

Financing (177,966) 0 (177,966) (178,517) (550) (564) 14 

Net General Fund 
(Surplus) / Deficit 

(0) 0 0 (310) (310) 5,911 (6,221) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 139



Table 2: Council Fund 2021/22 Outturn Forecast Detailed Statement at Month 9 

Service Area Original 
Budget 

2021/22 

Budget 
Adjust
ments 

Revised 
Annual 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
(Under) / 

Over 
Spend @ 

M9 

Forecast 
(Under) 

/ Over 
Spend @ 

M6 

Forecast 
Variance 

M6 to M9 

 
‘000’s ‘000’s ‘000’s ‘000’s ‘000’s ‘000’s ‘000’s 

Adult Services 8,341 (81) 8,261 8,257 (4) 629 (633) 

Children Services 16,147 (85) 16,061 16,458 397 695 (298) 

Community Care 24,386 (43) 24,342 24,275 (67) 96 (163) 

Commissioning 1,431 (37) 1,394 1,239 (155) (162) 7 

Partnerships 436 0 436 436 (0) 0 (0) 

Public Protection 1,523 18 1,541 1,426 (115) (60) (55) 

Resources & 
Performance 

560 47 607 580 (27) (17) (10) 

Social Care, Health & 
Safeguarding 

52,825 (182) 52,643 52,671 28 1,181 (1,153) 

        

Individual Schools 
Budget 

46,488 43 46,531 46,502 (29) 166 (195) 

Resources 1,167 4 1,171 1,180 8 18 (10) 

Standards 8,871 1 8,872 10,021 1,149 1,078 71 

Children & Young 
People 

56,527 48 56,575 57,703 1,128 1,262 (134) 

        

Business Growth & 
Enterprise 

3,024 10 3,034 3,270 236 534 (298) 

Facilities & Fleet 
Management 

5,487 (54) 5,433 5,429 (4) 437 (441) 

Neighbourhood Services 11,233 (180) 11,053 10,685 (368) (185) (183) 

Placemaking, Highways 
& Flood 

2,140 (244) 1,896 2,079 183 127 56 

Enterprise 21,884 (468) 21,416 21,463 47 913 (866) 
        

Countryside & Culture  1,422 (0) 1,422 1,514 92 72 20 

Finance & Business 
Development  

1,735 23 1,758 1,651 (107) 8 (115) 

Leisure, Youth & 
Outdoor Adventure  

794 (6) 787 1,233 446 1,148 (702) 

MonLife 3,951 17 3,968 4,398 430 1,228 (798) 
        

Policy, Scrutiny & 
Customer Service 

2,912 (100) 2,812 2,652 (160) (41) (119) 

Chief Executives 2,912 (100) 2,812 2,652 (160) (41) (119) 
        

Democratic Services 2,424 (82) 2,342 2,257 (85) (114) 29 

Emergency Planning 152 0 152 152 (0) 0 (0) 

People 807 508 1,315 1,221 (94) (62) (32) Page 140



Service Area Original 
Budget 

2021/22 

Budget 
Adjust
ments 

Revised 
Annual 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
(Under) / 

Over 
Spend @ 

M9 

Forecast 
(Under) 

/ Over 
Spend @ 

M6 

Forecast 
Variance 

M6 to M9 

People & Governance 3,383 427 3,809 3,630 (179) (176) (3) 
        

Finance 3,339 (475) 2,864 2,539 (325) 760 (1,085) 
Information, 
Communication 
Technology 

3,029 (367) 2,662 2,641 (21) (17) (3) 

Commercial & Corporate 
Landlord  

868 (7) 860 1,245 384 754 (370) 

Resources 7,235 (849) 6,386 6,425 38 1,496 (1,458) 
        

Precepts & Levies 21,362 0 21,362 21,375 13 13 (0) 

Coroner’s  147 0 147 147 (0) 0 (0) 

Archives  182 0 182 182 (0) 0 (0) 

Corporate Management 339 0 339 245 (94) (68) (26) 

Non Distributed Costs 
(NDC) 

643 0 643 705 62 62 0 

Strategic Initiatives (836) 823 (13) (689) (676) 837 (1,513) 

Insurance 1,578 24 1,601 1,604 3 (140) 143 

Corporate Costs & 
Levies 

23,414 847 24,261 23,569 (693) 705 (1,398) 

Net Cost of Services 172,130 (261) 171,870 172,510 640 6,568 (5,928) 
        

Fixed Asset Disposal 
Costs 

30 0 30 201 171 136 35 

Interest & Investment 
Income 

(134) 0 (134) (203) (69) 11 (80) 

Interest Payable & 
Similar Charges 

3,736 0 3,736 3,333 (403) (230) (173) 

Charges Required under 
Regulation 

6,404 0 6,404 6,393 (11) (10) (1) 

Other Investment 
Income 

0 0 0 (2) (2) 0 (2) 

Borrowing Cost 
Recoupment 

(3,619) 0 (3,619) (3,704) (85) 0 (85) 

Contributions to 
Reserves 

195 0 195 195 (0) 0 (0) 

Contributions from 
reserves 

(777) 261 (516) (516) (0) (0) 0 

Appropriations 5,836 261 6,097 5,697 (400) (93) (307) 

Expenditure to be 
Financed 

177,966 0 177,966 178,207 240 6,475 (6,235) 

        

General Government 
Grants 

(69,465) 0 (69,465) (69,465) 0 0 (0) 
Page 141



Service Area Original 
Budget 

2021/22 

Budget 
Adjust
ments 

Revised 
Annual 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
(Under) / 

Over 
Spend @ 

M9 

Forecast 
(Under) 

/ Over 
Spend @ 

M6 

Forecast 
Variance 

M6 to M9 

Non Domestic Rates (32,018) 0 (32,018) (32,018) 0 (0) 0 

Council tax (83,636) 0 (83,636) (84,286) (650) (750) 100 

Council Tax Benefit 
Support 

7,152 0 7,152 7,253 100 186 (86) 

Financing (177,966) 0 (177,966) (178,517) (550) (564) 14 

Net General Fund 
(Surplus) / Deficit 

(0) 0 0 (310) (310) 5,911 (6,221) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 142



DIRECTORATE – DIVISION VARIANCE COMMENTS  

ENTERPRISE Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 2,470 913 47 0 

 
ENTERPRISE DIRECTOR’S COMMENTARY: 
 
The Enterprise Directorate is forecasting a £47k overspend at month 9.  

The impacts of COVID-19 are still affecting services provided within Enterprise, WG Covid-19 funding 

has been guaranteed for the remainder of the year so any shortfall caused by Covid-19 will not impact 

the directorates outturn position at year end.  We have continued to submit Covid-19 claims through the 

year and the receipt of funding since Qtr2 is the main reason for the £866k improvement from Month 6. 

The current £47k overspend projection can be broken down between: 

 Covid-19 Related Pressures of £958k – these are mainly found in Homelessness (B&B and 

Security costs), Car Parking (loss of P&D and PCN income) and Waste (Staff cover and 

vehicles).  As mentioned above we are anticipating that all these costs will be covered. 

 Non-Covid-19 Related underspend of £911k – main savings can be found in Waste (Contract & 

Recyclate savings), Streetlighting (Energy savings), PTU (Contractor savings) and staff vacancy 

savings across whole directorate.  

Each service area sets out the detail behind these projections within the next sections of the report and 

the key financial issues, risks and implications are described.  

Across all service areas we are looking to ensure that all eligible additional costs and income losses will 

be claimed against any Welsh Government funding being made available.    

FACILITIES & FLEET MANAGEMENT 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 551 437 (4) 0 

 
Facilities & Fleet management are forecasting a £4k underspend, due to: 
 

 Schools Catering – Break-Even – It is forecast that the anticipated uptake in meals between 
now and year end will be sufficient to bring the service in on budget.  All shortfalls caused by 
Covid-19 in the earlier parts of the year have been covered by the WG Covid-19 grant.  
 

 Building Cleaning - £25k overspend – due to increased staffing costs to cover Covid-19 
related absences, this will be reclaimed from the WG Covid-19 funding so won’t impact on 
year end outturn.  
 

 Passenger Transport – £269k underspend: 
 

o Home to School Transport – Break-even - employee savings have offset external 
vehicle maintenance costs.   
 

o External Commissioning - The section is forecasting to underspend by £269k, this 
is due underspends in contractor payments and staff vacancies totalling £219k and a 
£50k saving from the capitalisation of route optimisation software costs. 

 
o Private Hire – Break-even – All losses anticipated in Private Hire have been covered 

off by the WG Covid-19 fund. 
 

Page 143



 Fleet Maintenance - £240k overspend – The cost of maintaining the authority’s fleet has 
exceeded available budget, current forecasts predict a £219k shortfall.  In addition, the 
number of members of the car salary sacrifice scheme have reduced meaning savings are 
below budgeted levels by £22k.   

 
The outturn position has improved by £441k from month 6 and this is mainly down to the receipt of 
Covid-19 funding in Catering and PTU and an improving position regarding the overall impact of Covid-
19 on services.  
 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 346 (185) (367) 0 

Neighbourhood Services are forecasting to underspend by £367k, this is due to: 

 Highways, SWTRA & Streetlighting – £109k underspend - This is due to Streetlighting, the 
LED replacement programme is now complete and the resultant reduction in KWH output 
means our energy costs have reduced below budget.  We are also seeing a saving in our 
maintenance budget as our ‘Hazard’ monitoring costs have gone down.  Highways 
Operations and SWTRA & External Clients are both forecasting a break-even budget. 
 

 Waste & Street Scene - £257k underspend – this can be broken down between: 
 

a. Covid-19 Related - £236k overspend – this is for additional staff and vehicles to 
cover Covid-19-19 related absences and distancing guidelines, these costs will be 
recovered from the WG Covid-19 fund and will not impact on year end. 
 

b. Non-Covid-19 Related - £494k underspend - as we move through the year we are 
getting a better understanding of the potential outturn position for Waste & Street 
Scene, the HWRC and transfer station contract savings were still being worked 
through in Month 6 and a relatively buoyant recycling market in Quarter 2 and 
Quarter 3 have reduced costs. Planned expenditure on new depot infrastructure in 
south of county has not materialised due to the lack of suitable site availability to 
house recycling and waste fleet. 

The £182k improvement from Month 6 is due to the receipt of Covid-19 funding and the improvement in 
the Waste position that was not fully known in September. 

PLACEMAKING, HIGHWAYS & FLOOD 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 430 127 182 0 

Placemaking, Highways & Flood is forecasting to overspend by £182k, this is because of: 

Car Parks - £240k overspend – Covid-19 restrictions have impacted on parking and enforcement 

income, we are seeing an improvement in Pay & Display levels but are still expecting to see a pressure 

of £191k this year - in addition there are overspends in expenditure primarily transport, premises & 

software costs (£49k).  We will be claiming back the lost income from the WG Covid-19 grant so impact 

on outturn will only be £49k by year end. 

Highways Management & Flooding - £166k underspend – Staffing underspend due to delays in filling 

vacant posts and improved income. 

The increase in overspend from Month 6 can be mainly attributed to the reduction in Building Control 

income that was not known in September, although this will be reclaimable via WG Covid-19 grant. 

 

 

Page 144



CHIEF EXECUTIVES 
UNIT 

Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit /(Surplus) £’000s 53 (41) (160)  

   
HEAD OF POLICY, PERFORMANCE AND SCRUTINY COMMENTARY:   

   

The Chief Executive’s department is currently forecasting a £160K under spend. The most significant 

factor is an increase in grant income because of a change in the national formula. This has not been 

fully utilised because of the impact of Covid-19 restrictions on service delivery. Provision had been 

made for partial repayment which we have been advised will not be required accounting for the shift on 

the month 6 position. 

 

The other main factor is a delay in the introduction of a new telephony system. This is part of a Wales-

wide framework contract which will not be implemented until the 2022-23 financial year. 

 

These have helped balance overspends in other service areas including an over-spend on Welsh 

language translation costs. 

 

POLICY, SCRUTINY & CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit /(Surplus) £’000s 53 (41) (160) 0 

 Policy, Scrutiny & Customer Experience is forecasting a £160k underspend at month 9, this is due to: 

 Community Education - £159k underspend – this is due to improved external partner income 

that have been carried forward from 2020-21 that has helped offset core service costs, these 

have been part offset by increased lecturer costs.    

 

 Contact Centre - £65k underspend – due to budget savings because of the delay in the 

implementation of a new telephony system.  This was not known at month 6 and is the reason 

for the positive swing. 

 

Offset by: 

 Community Hubs - £29k overspend – shortfall in library and room hire income due to 

unachievable income budgets. 

 

 Corporate CEO - £9k overspend – due to inability to meet staff vacancy factor saving and an 

increase in license costs. 

 

 Policy & Partnerships – £24k overspend - Net overspend mainly due to an increase in Welsh 

Language translation costs of £37k, offset by a saving of £4k in third party contributions and 

£7k in CCTV maintenance costs.  The volume of translation work has increased significantly in 

recent months and is the reason for the increase in overspend from Month 6. 

The improvement in underspend of £119k from Month 6 is mainly due to: 

 Community Education - £59k additional income that was not factored in at month 6. 

 Contact Centre - £83k reduced expenditure due to the delay in telephony system 

implementation. 

 Welsh language – Increased translation costs £37k not factored in at Month 6. 

 

Page 145



 

PEOPLE & GOVERNANCE Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit /(Surplus) £’000s (8) (176) (179)  

 
People & Governance DIRECTOR’S COMMENTARY: 
 
People & Governance is reporting a £179k under spend. It is a period of transition for this new 

Directorate and intentional restraint around vacancies and the overall structure of the team has led to 

the majority of the underspend. Planning for FY 2022/23 is advanced and resource allocation is likely to 

be a much more challenging prospect given the combination of several projects coming to fruition.  

Governance 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6 Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s (8) (122) (84) 0 

Democratic Services is forecasting to underspend by £84k, this is due to: 

 Organisational Development – overspending by £8k – increase in staff costs as a post has 
gone from part-time to full time.  
 

 Members Costs - underspending by £49k due to a reduction in IT replacement costs (£35k) 
and savings in mileage and allowance claims (£14k) due to more agile attendance of meetings. 
 

 Electoral Management – Break-Even – underspends resulting from a reduction in canvassing 
costs have been offset by increased postage & printing costs and a staff costs due to post re-
gradings.  The extent of postage and printing costs was not known earlier in the year and is the 
reason for the £30k reduction in underspend since Month 6. 
 

 Committee Section – overspending by £18k due to increased staff costs due to post re-
gradings, a small overspend on software costs and a reduction in WG grant. 
 

 Legal Services - £24k underspend – staff savings resulting from the delay of the employment 
lawyer 
.  

 Land Charges - £37k underspend – this is because of increased search income and savings 
from a staff vacancy. 
 

 

Emergency Planning 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’s 0 0 0 0 

Emergency Planning are forecasting a balanced budget. 

People 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 0 (62) (94) 0 

 

 People Services is forecasting to underspend by £94k due to senior staff vacancy savings of 
£80k and a £11k underspend in Occupational Health due to a reduction in demand.   Page 146



 

 Corporate Training – Forecasting a £3k underspend – due a small staff saving resulting from a 
delay in filling a post and an increase in external training income. 
 

The £32k improvement from Month 6 can be attributed to the delay in filling a senior post in People 
services.  

RESOURCES Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit /(Surplus) £’000s 1,107 1,504 38  

 
RESOURCES DIRECTOR’S COMMENTARY: 
 
The directorate has seen a considerable improvement in forecast since month 6 of £1,466k, of which 
£576k can be attributed to core service delivery, with a further £885k representing continued 
recoupment of Covid-19 related costs from the WG hardship fund. 
 
Of the total forecast, a £217k surplus relates to core service delivery, with much of this relating to 
continued staff vacancies which does not represent a sustainable position moving forward and will need 
further consideration as we move into 2022/23. 
 
The remaining £256k forecast pressure is specifically related to additional Covid related expenditure or 
income losses and is expected to be funded in full from the Welsh Government hardship fund during the 
course of the year.  Officers will continue to work with Welsh Government colleagues to ensure that 
legitimate costs and income losses are recovered where they are as a direct result of the impact of the 
pandemic on services. 
 
 

FINANCE 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 756 760 (325) 0 

 
Finance is forecasting to underspend by £325k, this is mainly due to: 
 

 Revenues - £13k overspend, this is due in the main to: 
 

o Housing Benefits - £42k overspend - The position has improved significantly for this 
budget following Welsh Government's decision to release hardship funding to support 
the lost Housing Benefit Subsidy resulting from temporary accommodation placements.  
The remaining £42,000 over-spend is a real cost to Monmouthshire and mainly reflects 
ongoing placements costs, which by their nature do not currently attract subsidy. 
 

o Council Tax - £108k over-spend – due to a £57k over-spend against salary costs, as the 
budget was vired to Finance as part of structure adjustments. Plus, a £51k estimated 
shortfall in summons income.  Courts have now started up again and full recovery is 
underway.  As a result, Summons Income has started to pick up and is the reason for the 
£29,000 reduction in the forecast over spend since month 6.  However, Summons 
Income is still behind normal levels and any shortfall at year end has the potential to be 
claimed back via the WG Covid-19 fund.  

 
o Debtors and Charity relief - £137k underspend – due to a combination of £3k 

anticipated savings against the discretionary relief budget, a net surplus of £3k admin 
grant funding from Welsh Government, a £5k saving against the debtors postage budget 
and a £126k under spend following the decision not to call on the NDR budget this year. 
 

 Finance - £243k underspend – This is a result of senior management vacancies. We are 
anticipating that these positions will now not be filled until the new financial year. 

 

Page 147



 Audit - £15k underspend – This is due to staff vacancy savings. 
 

 Systems & Cashiers – £21k underspend – The Cashiers budget includes a £20k staff saving, 
following the decision to remove cheques from the authority’s day-to-day business.  However, 
Covid-19 has delayed the full implementation of this decision resulting in a budget pressure.  In 
addition, we have seen an increase in card handling fees as more people are paying for 
services online.  Cash system costs have also increased as new functionality is developed 
resulting in a combined over-spend of £26k.  These pressures are offset by £10k security carrier 
savings and a £57k underspend in the Revenues & Systems Support team, due to staff 
vacancies and system development savings intentionally held back to fund the pressure within 
cashiers. 
 

  Payroll – £59k underspend – Staff savings due to the retirement of a senior post plus further 
savings from delays in filling vacant posts. 

 

The outturn position has improved by £1.085m from month 6 and this is mainly down to the receipt of 

Covid-19 funding in our Revenues section from September and an improving position regarding the 

overall impact of Covid-19 on services.  In addition, the position has also improved as staff vacancies 

have remained vacant longer than originally thought at Month 6. 

 

COMMERCIAL & CORPORATE LANDLORD 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 352 754 382 0 

Commercial & Corporate Landlord is forecasting to overspend by £382k: 

 Investment Properties - £242k overspend, due to: 
 

o Newport Leisure Park - £8k underspend – Although the site has seen losses in rental 
due to the Covid-19 pandemic these have been reclaimed from WG Covid-19 grant so 
budget for 2021-22 forecast to come in on target.  
 

o Castlegate Business Park - £249k overspend - Rental income forecasts for this year 
are still projecting to cover outgoings but a budget pressure has been caused by an in-
year adjustment to correct a control account in-balance due to the mis-posting of income 
in previous years. 
 

 Landlord Services - £59k underspend – due to staff vacancies of £122k caused by delays in 
filling vacant posts and rates savings on buildings (£21k), offset by an £85k net income shortfall 
from rental loss at Magor (£38k) plus a £65k loss of service charge, these have been offset by a 
small gain of £17k in commercial rents and estates fees. The improvement from month 06 is due 
to the receipt of Q2 Covid-19 funding of £20k, £58k further staff savings due to posts not filled 
(M6 assumed posts would be filled from Dec) and £20k less rates bill than anticipated.   
 

 County Farms - £21k overspend – due to additional consultant costs associated with 
dilapidation surveys and a reduction in rental income due to a reduction in tenants. 
 

 Solar Farm - £40k underspend – income is currently projected to be above budget; this is 
mainly due to improved ROC prices. 
 

 Markets - £89k overspend.  This is due to an estimated shortfall in income of £54k due to the 
disruption caused by Covid-19 and a net increase in spend of £35k mainly due to an overspend 
on waste disposal costs.  The rental income loss will be recovered from the WG Covid-19 grant 
so will not impact on final outturn figures. 
 

 Property Services - £131k overspend.  This can be split into 2 main areas: 
 Page 148



o Accommodation - £90k overspend due to an increase in repair and maintenance costs 
across council offices (£42k) and increase in cleaning costs due to additional 
requirements relating to Covid-19 (£48k).  It is anticipated that the cleaning costs can be 
recovered via the WG Covid-19 fund. 
 

o Property - £40k overspend. Mainly due to a reduction in fee income as the number (and 
size) of projects that staff can be recharged to have reduced this year, although position 
has improved by £135k since Month 6. The service will continue to address this shortfall 
between now and year end. 
   

The outturn position for the division has improved by £372k from month 6, this is mainly down to the 
receipt of Covid-19 funding in Estates, improved income projection within Property Services and 
increased staff savings across the services as posts have remained vacant longer than originally 
thought at Month 6. 

 

CORPORATE COSTS & LEVIES Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 21 705 (693)  

 

PRECEPTS & LEVIES  

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 13 13 13  

 
National parks levy notified after budget produced - increase in levy of circa 10% based on increased 
staff and project work required 
 
 

CORONERS SERVICES 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 0 0 0  

  
No variance at month 6 

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s (24) (68) (94)  

Primarily due to the release of a bad debt provision in relation to the SRS financial administration 
whereby it was originally estimated that there may be a bad debt burden upon transfer of the 
administration to TCBC, but which has not materialised. 
 

 

NON-DISTRIBUTED COSTS 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 32 62 62  

 
Additional pension strain costs notified since the budget has been set.  These costs reflect the 
additional payment the Council need to make to the pension fund when an employee is permitted to 
leave employment prior to their normal pensionable age and wishes to immediately draw on their 
pension 
 
 

STRATEGIC INITIATIVES Page 149



Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 0 837 (676)  

 
Primarily due to the allowance for an expected non-teaching pay award of £837k across services, which 
represents a forecast award of 1.75%, which is 0.75% above that already budgeted. 
 
Additionally there is a £493k overspend in relation to a Holiday Pay liability for the last two years due a 
change in case law for staff whose overtime is regular and consistent. 
 
This is offset by notification of an unbudgeted grant of £1.019m from Welsh Government in relation to 
the reduction in Council tax collection rates during the period and a further £1m in AEF notified by WG. 
 
 

INSURANCE 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 0 (140) 3  

 
Primarily due to savings in premium costs for the year of £35k, savings in professional fees of £34k, 
and the forecast saving in settlement expenditure based on current trends.  In terms of settlement 
expenditure it should be noted that this area of the business can be highly volatile and a significant 
number of, or complex claims can lead to high value settlements in terms of the excesses payable on 
our insurance policies.  This has been offset since month 6 by a forecast uninsured settlement of circa 
£200k in respect of a repairing obligation to the former Usk grammar school foundation trust for a 
former property owned by the trust and occupied by MCC. 
 
 

APPROPRIATIONS Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 0 (93) (400)  

The Appropriations under spend has increased by £307k to £400k at month 9. 
 
Interest & Investment Income has moved to an underspend of £69k due to backdated interest paid as 
part of the Broadway loan which was not received at Month 6.  
 
Interest Payable is underspent by £403k from £230k at month 6. This is due to authority locking in both 
short and long term borrowing before an increase in interest rates. Longer term borrowing costs are 
also less than expected due to an error found in previous calculations which has not been rectified.  
 
The underspend is offset slightly by an overspend on Fixed Asset Disposal costs of £171k. This 
overspend is due to unforeseen security costs at Hilston Park. 

 

FIXED ASSET DISPOSAL COSTS 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 0 136 171  

 
Overspend due to £190k of additional security costs related to the sale of the Hilston Park Site. This is 
offset by fully utilising the available capital fixed asset disposal budget.  
 
 

INTEREST & INVESTMENT INCOME 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 0 11 (69)  

 
The movement to surplus is due to interest from Broadway loan which wasn’t reported at month 6. 
There has also been an improvement in return from pooled funds since month 6. 

Page 150



 
 

INTEREST PAYABLE & SIMILAR CHARGES 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 0 (230) (403)  

 
Additional short-term borrowing costs were anticipated at M6 but did not materialise due to locking in 
longer term PWLB borrowing. Clarification of PWLB annuity loan costs also meant the total PWLB costs 
were less than previously anticipated. 
 
 

CHARGES REQUIRED UNDER REGULATION 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 0 (10) (11)  

 
11k underspend against MRP due reduced capital spend in the previous financial year than budgeted. 
 
 

OTHER INVESTMENT INCOME 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 0 0 (2)  

 
A small number of unbudgeted Wayleaves + Easements Income has been received since month 6. 
 

BORROWING COST RECOUPMENT 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 0 0 (85)  

 
Additional loan repayment has been made from services since Month 6. 
 
 
 
 

FINANCING Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s (130) (564) (550)   

COUNCIL TAX BENEFIT SUPPORT 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s 370 186 100  

This budget continues to be under pressure, as a direct result of Covid-19.  However, we continue to 
see some easing of demand since the year started.  We have still not received confirmation from Welsh 
Government at the writing of this report if they will provide any funding support that was put in place last 
year.   

 

COUNCIL TAX 

Outturn Forecast Month 2 Month 6  Month 9 Outturn 

Deficit / (Surplus) £’000s (500) (750) (650)  

Page 151



The latest council tax data shows a slight reduction in anticipated income for the year.  We continue to 

see new properties being added to the tax base however we have now also started to see an increase 

in the number of exemptions and discounts being requested and awarded 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CAPITAL OUTTURN 
 

The summary forecast Capital position at Month 9 is as follows: 
 

Forecast Capital Outturn Position 2021/22 at Month 9 
Select Portfolio Slippage 

B/F 
Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Adjustments 

Provisional 
Slippage 

Revised 
Budget 
2021/22 

Forecast Variance 

 £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 

Expenditure        

Children & Young 
People 

15,381 14,423 1,261 (27,478) 3,587 3,587 0 

Economic & 
Development 

19,244 546 606 (18,143) 2,253 2,253 0 

Adult 5,964 0 0 (5,964) 0 0 0 

Strong 
Communities 

8,554 11,545 8,349 (2,768) 25,680 25,680 0 

Total Expenditure 49,143 26,514 10,216 (54,353) 31,520 31,520 0 

Financing  
   

 
 

 

Supported 
Borrowing 

0 (2,431) 0 0 (2,431) (2,431) 0 

General Capital 
Grant 

0 (2,438) 0 0 (2,438) (2,438) 0 

Grants and 
Contributions 

(19,096) (13,160) (7,685) 29,132 (10,809) (10,809) 0 

S106 Contributions (711) 0 (331) 170 (872) (872) 0 

Unsupported 
Borrowing 

(27,031) (4,094) 0 23,686 (7,439) (7,439) 0 

Earmarked Reserve 
& Revenue Funding 

(241) 0 0 0 (241) (241) 0 

Capital Receipts (2,064) (2,891) (2,200) 1,365 (5,790) (5,790) 0 

Page 152



Leasing 0 (1,500) 0 0 (1,500) (1,500) 0 

Total Financing (49,143) (26,514) (10,216) 54,353 (31,520) (31,520) 0 

 
  

The capital expenditure forecast outturn at month 9 shows a balanced outturn position as 
capital budget holders are forecasting a full spend on schemes that are not being slipped. 

 

Forecast Capital Slippage at month 9 is £54.353m (£51.772m at Month 6) as major schemes 
are impacted by delays. 

 

 Abergavenny King Henry VIII replacement (£26.399m), where the original budget 
schedule for the project has changed considerably since the inception of the project. 

 Asset Investment Fund (£18.092m), on hold due to an asset investment priority review; 
 Crick Road Care Home (£5.964m), delays in building schedule; 
 £813k for a backlog in disabled facility grant implementations; 
 £516k for modifications to County Hall ‘J’ block, delayed due to a ‘SUDS’ consent being 

required; 
 £489k for Match Funded Capital schemes due to the dependency on external funding 

contributions; 
 £280k on the Highways Re-Fit programme 
 

Useable Capital Receipts Available  
 

In the table below, the effect of the changes to the forecast capital receipts on the useable 
capital receipts balances available to meet future capital commitments are illustrated.  

 

 
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Balance as at 1st April  9,581  13,503  11,108  10,311  8,714  

Capital receipts used for financing (3,582)  (2,311)  (1,294)  (1,194)  (1,094)  

Capital receipts used to support 
capitalisation direction 

(2,208)  (2,650)  (507)  (507)  (507)  

Capital receipts Received or 
Forecast 

9,712 2,565 1,004 104 104 

Forecast Balance as at 31st March  13,503 11,108 10,311 8,714 7,217 

 

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Monmouthshire Select Committee Minutes 
 

 

Meeting of Strong Communities Select Committee held at County Hall, Usk - Remote Attendance 
on Thursday, 10th February, 2022 at 10.00 am 

Councillors Present Officers in Attendance 

County Councillor S. Woodhouse (Chairman) 
County Councillor A. Webb (Vice Chairman) 
 
County Councillors: A. Easson, C.Edwards, 
R. Harris, V. Smith, J.Treharne and M. Powell 
 
 

Hazel Ilett, Scrutiny Manager 
Robert McGowan, Policy and Scrutiny Officer 
Alan Burkitt, Policy Officer Equalities and Welsh 
Language 

  
 
 

 
 

1. Declarations of Interest  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

2. Public Open Forum.  
 

No public submissions were received. 

 
3. Welsh Language  

 
Alan Burkitt presented the report, ran through the consultation responses, and answered the 

members’ questions. 

Challenge: 

There is a large number of Welsh speakers in the south of the county but north of the county is 

not as strong. However, Ysgol Y Fenni is doing well and Ysgol Y Ffin is struggling with numbers. 

Do we have any ideas as to why that’s the case? 

Yes, it is remarkable how many speakers are in the Caldicot area – mostly due to people having 

moved from elsewhere in Wales to work in the steel industry. But Abergavenny also has a lot of 

speakers, and several Welsh language societies. There is more of a network around the school 

there than is the case for Ysgol Y Ffin. Being a Welsh speaker doesn’t necessarily translate into 

numbers of people going to Welsh language events. A parent in Caldicot is less likely to put 

their child on a bus to go to Ysgol Gyfun Gwent Isgoed in Newport when they can go the local 

English language comprehensive. It could be that this affects Chepstow more: if a child goes 

from Chepstow to Ysgol Y Ffin they will then have to go to Gwent Isgoed for their secondary 

provision, which is a considerable distance. So, it is very difficult. The existing Welsh secondary 

provision outside the county is excellent but the geographical considerations are potentially 

prohibitive – when parents plan their children’s education they think about the whole journey, 

Public Document Pack

Page 155

Agenda Item 6



 

 

and the lack of secondary provision in the county therefore has a strong bearing on their 

decision as to which primary school to send their children to. 

If a child goes from Ysgol Y Ffin to Gwent Isgoed in Newport, they slip out of Monmouthshire’s 

responsibility. How can we integrate how the schools work across borders? 

If we had our own provision in the county we would perhaps look after them better, as we would 

know where they are, and we would simply continue our existing care and responsibility, but this 

is perhaps more of a question for CYP. 

It is important that we have a secondary school somewhere in Monmouthshire, as the existing 

distances are difficult for parents, and there will be numbers of children learning in primary 

school, for whom it then lapses. Hopefully there will be a good Welsh provision in the new 

school in Abergavenny. 

Yes, if someone wants their child to learn Welsh in Monmouthshire then they have to make a 

particular effort. The same can be said for religious education, e.g. to attend a Catholic school, 

pupils can only go to St. Albans in Torfaen. Again, this would be bettered addressed in CYP. 

With public engagement going forward, what would be required for someone to attend a 

committee, ask a question in Welsh, and have simultaneous translation? 

The person would have to give notice – the rule is five working days – so that a simultaneous 

translator can be arranged. The council chamber is now fully equipped for simultaneous 

translation, so any member of the public who wishes to attend and deliver their 

comment/question in Welsh can do so. 

 

Chair’s Summary: 

We have discussed the various means of learning Welsh this morning, which are excellent, and 

we need to continue as an authority to encourage people to learn, to support them financially 

and to allow them the opportunity to speak Welsh when possible. Regarding recruitment, we 

need to encourage Welsh-speaking candidates to apply, though it’s more difficult as a border 

authority. We have heard poignant examples of Monmouthshire residents with dementia who 

can no longer speak English, highlighting the need for more Welsh-speaking staff in the 

authority. 

We have touched on Welsh medium education: members felt strongly that there is a need for a 

Welsh-medium comprehensive in the county, as we are losing children to English medium, due 

to a lack of provision in the county and geographical challenges. Regarding the overlap here 

with CYP, there are interesting comments in the minutes from the meeting of CYP Select on 

14th October 2021, in which the Welsh Education Strategic Plan was scrutinised. 

We have discussed the possibility of Welsh-medium education being delivered in conjunction 

with neighbouring authorities, and the new immersion unit that helps children to get up to speed 

quickly. This is the first of its kind in the area, and something of which we should feel proud. We 

need to explore why more people aren’t choosing Welsh medium education. We have 

discussed how attendees to council or committees can submit their questions in Welsh. 

All of the responses received as part of the consultation will be sent to members and included 

as an appendix in the report when it goes to full council in March. 

Finally, the committee gives its sincerest best wishes to Alan Burkitt on his imminent retirement, 

and thanks him for his exemplary work over the years. 

 

Page 156



 

 

4. To confirm minutes of the previous meeting  
 

The minutes were confirmed and signed as an accurate record, proposed by Councillor Webb 

and seconded by Councillor Edwards. The minutes for 6th October were also confirmed, 

proposed by Councillor Treharne and seconded by Councillor Webb. 

 
5. Action list  

 
6. Strong Communities forward work programme  

 
We will meet as a new administration to work out the forward work programme, which might 

depend on proposed new scrutiny structures coming into effect. 

 
7. Cabinet & Council forward work programme  

 
8. Date and time of next meeting: 10th March 2022 at 2.00pm  

 
 

The meeting ended at 10.45 am  
 

 

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 158



Monmouthshire’s Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 2022 
 
 

Strong Communities Select Committee 

Meeting Date Subject Purpose of Scrutiny Responsibility Type of Scrutiny  

10th March 2022 
10th at 2pm 

Public Spaces Protection 
Order on Dog Controls 
 
 

To consider the findings of a 3 month public consultation 
on a Public Spaces Protection Order for Dog Controls 
(dog fouling, dog exemption areas, dogs on leads areas) 
and make recommendations to Cabinet. 

Huw Owen  
David Jones 

Policy Development 

Budget Monitoring Report To scrutinise the budget report for month 9. Jonathon Davies Budget Monitoring 

     

 Future Agreed Work Programme Items:  Dates to be determined 

 Update on the Modern Day Slavery Protocol implementation 
 Annual monitoring of Public Protection in May, a half year exception report, highlighting any gaps in service delivery, to be scheduled in 

November of each year.  
 Registrars Service ~ annual monitoring in May 
 Digital Solutions to improve access to rural transport 
 Air Pollution Monitoring Report  
 Social Justice Policy  
 Electric Vehicles and Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy ~ learning form Oxfordshire County Council 
 Open Space Review  
 Climate change and decarbonisation 
 County Lines ~ Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
 Report on the activities of CCTV  
 County Lines 

 
 

 

P
age 159

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Committee / 

Decision Maker

Meeting date / 

Decision due
Subject Purpose Author

Date item added to 

the planner

Date item originally 

scheduled for 

decision

Council 04/11//2021 Final Statement of Accounts Peter Davies 07/05/21

Council 01/12/2022

RLDP Deposit Plan for submission to WG for 

examination

Approval of Deposit Plan post-consultation for 

submission to WG for independent examination

Mark Hand / Craig O'Connor 30/07/21

Council 01/10/23

RLDP for Adoption

Mark Hand 23/01/20

Council 01/02/23

LDP submission for examination 

Mark Hand 23/01/20

ICMD 14/07/22

MonLife Heritage Strategy (or cabinet)

Matthew Lewis 10/02/22

Cabinet 07/07/22

MonLife Heritage Strategy (or ICMD)

Matthew Lewis 10/02/22

Cabinet 06/07/22

Monmouthshire Destination Management Plan 

Matthew Lewis 10/02/22

Cabinet 06/07/22

Play Sufficiency Assessment and Action Plan 22/23 

Matthew Lewis 10/02/22

Monmouthshire County Council is required to publish a forward plan of all key decisions to be taken. Council and Cabinet items will only be considered for decision if they have been included on the planner no later than the month 

preceding the meeting, unless the item is considered urgent.  

Cabinet, Council and Individual Cabinet Member Decisions (ICMD) Forward Plan

P
age 161

A
genda Item

 9



Council 01/07/22

RLDP Deposit Plan endorsement for consultation Endorsement of Deposit Plan

Mark Hand 23/01/20

ICMD 15/06/22 Non-Moving Orders (outside 20s tiles) Paul Keeble/Cllr J Pratt 21/01/22

ICMD 15/06/22
Non-moving Traffic Regulation Orders (Amendment 

No. 4) 
Paul Keeble/Cllr J Pratt 17/12/21

Cabinet 08/06/22
Review of Monmouthshire’s Destination Management 

Plan 2017-2020 

Purpose: to approve the revised Destination 

Development Plan 
Matthew Lewis 22/09/20

Council 07/06/22
RLDP Preferred Strategy endorsement post 

consultation 

Endorsement of preferred strategy to inform deposit 

plan
Mark Hand / Craig O'Connor 20/05/20

Council 19/05/22 SACRE Restructure
John Pearson/ Sharon Randall 

Smith
08/02/22

Cabinet 06/04/22

Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 9 held 

on 10th March 2022

Dave Jarrett 27/04/21

ICMD 09/03/22

Removal of Means Testsing for Small and Medium 

Sized DFGs

Ian Bakewell 21/02/22

ICMD 09/03/22

EAS CAM Arrangements  

Will Mclean 16/02/22

ICMD 09/03/22

PROPOSED MCC 20, 30, 40 &50 MPH SPEED 

LIMIT 

Paul Keeble/Cllr J Pratt 17/12/21

P
age 162



ICMD 09/03/22
Non-moving Traffic Regulation Orders (Amendment 

No. 3) 

DEFERRED TO 9/3/22

Paul Keeble/Cllr J Pratt 17/12/21

Council 23/06/22 21st Century Schools Band B Programme Cath Saunders 08/02/22

Council 03/03/22 Pay Policy Sally Thomas 08/02/22

Council 03/03/22 Standards Committee Report Matt Phillips 08/02/22

Council 03/03/22 SACRE - terms of reference John Pearson/ Sharon Randall Smith 07/02/22

Council 03/03/22

2022/23 Treasury Policy

Jon Davies 07/05/21

Council 03/03/22
2022/23 Capital Strategy & Treasury Management 

Strategy
Jon Davies 20/05/21

Council 03/03/22

2022/23 Final Budget sign off including Council Tax 

Resolution

Peter Davies 07/05/21

Council 03/03/22

Population Needs Assessment To seek approval of assessment of the care and 

support needs of the population carried out jointly by 

the Local Authority and Local Health Board as required 

by The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 

2014.

Jane Rodgers / Phil Diamond 07/12/21

Cabinet 02/03/22

Cardiff Capital Region Funding for housing 

development site SAH6- Land at Vinegar Hill, Undy

Craig O'Connor 07/02/22

P
age 163



Cabinet 02/03/22

EAS Business Plan

Joanne Hughes - EAS 15/02/22

Cabinet 02/03/22

•	UK Government Funding – including launch of 

Shared Prosperity Fund guidance, Levelling up white 

paper, CRF update and LUF round 2 Frances O'Brien 09/02/22

Cabinet 02/03/22

2021/2 Revenue and Capital Monitoring report - 

month 9

Jon Davies 27/04/21

Cabinet 02/03/22

Chepstow Astro and MUGA (multi use games area) 

Nick John / Ian Saunders 07/02/22

Cabinet 02/03/22

2022/23 Final Revenue and Capital Budget Proposals

Peter Davies 27/04/21

Cabinet 02/03/22

2022/23 WCF/Treasury Fund Investments

Dave Jarrett 27/04/21

Cabinet 02/03/22

Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 8 held 

on 27th January 2022

Dave Jarrett 27/04/21

Cabinet 02/03/22

Changes to the School Funding Formula for pupils 

with Additional Learning Needs

following a recommendation of the School Budget 

Forum a review has taken place with schools of the 

formula for pupils with additional learning needs.  This 

will be consulted on during January and February 2022 

with the final recommendations being presented to 

Cabinet in March with a recommendation to approve 

Nikki Wellington 16/12/21

Cabinet 02/03/22

Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 

Susan Hall 07/12/21

Cabinet 02/03/22 Active Travel Funding Overview Ian Saunders/Paul Sullivan 01/02/22

P
age 164



Cabinet 02/03/22
Castle Dell Playpark, Chepstow.

Mike Moran 25/01/22

Cabinet 02/03/22

	Abergavenny Velo Park CM

Mike Moran 14/10/20

ICMD 23/02/22
Non-moving Traffic Regulation Orders (Amendment 

No. 3) 

DEFERRED TO 9/3/22

Paul Keeble/Cllr J Pratt 17/12/21

Cabinet 16/02/22

Cabinet approval of the evidence based three year 

highway maintenance forward programme

Mark Hand 07/10/21

ICMD 09/02/22
20mph Speed Limit Traffic Regulation Order (Pilot) 

 (Amendment No. 1)
Deferred to 9/2/22 Paul Keeble/Cllr J Pratt 17/12/21

ICMD 09/02/22
20mph Speed Limits Traffic Regulation Order 

(Additional sites) (Amendment No. 2) 

DEFERRED TO 9/3/22

Paul Keeble/Cllr J Pratt 17/12/21

Council 27/01/22

Council Tax Reduction Scheme

Ruth Donovan 07/05/21

Council 27/01/22

Corporate Parenting Strategy

Jane Rodgers

Council 27/01/22

CJCs

Frances O'Brien 16/12/21

ICMD 26/01/22 Interim Pavement Café Policy Deferred from 26/1/21/moved to 9/2 Paul Keeble/Pratt 26/01/21

P
age 165



ICMD 26/01/22
20mph Speed Limit Traffic Regulation Order (Pilot) 

 (Amendment No. 1)
Deferred to 9/2/22 Paul Keeble/Cllr J Pratt 17/12/21

ICMD` 26/01/22
2022/23 Community Council and Police Precepts - 

final
Deferred from 12 Jan 2022 Jon Davies 07/05/21

 Cabinet 19/01/22

Draft Budget Proposals and Medium Term Financial 

Strategy

Jon Davies

Cabinet 19/01/22

UK COMMUNITY RENEWAL FUND 

OUTCOME/UPDATE ON THE RURAL 

DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME/FUTURE FUNDING 

OPPORTUNITIES
Cath Fallon 15/12/21

Cabinet 19/01/22

WESP

Sharon Randall Smith 23/12/21

Cabinet 19/01/22

Welsh Government Business Development Grant

Hannah Jones 23/11/21

Cabinet 19/01/22

Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 7 held 

on 16th December 2021

Dave Jarrett 27/04/21

Cabinet 19/01/22

Consultation on the proposals to establish an all-

through school, Abergavenny.

Cabinet to receive objection report and decide whether 

to proceed with the proposal.

Debbie Graves 26/05/21

ICMD 12/01/22 Interim Pavement café Policy

Deferred to 26th Jan

Paul Keeble/Cllr J Pratt 17/12/21

ICMD 12/01/22

Living Levels Partnership to consider continued involvement in the partnership as 

it enters a transition stage

Matthew Lewis Lisa Dymock 13/11/21

P
age 166



IMCD 12/01/22

2022/23 Community Council and Police Precepts - 

final

DEFERRED TO 26 JAN 2022

Jon Davies 07/05/21

ICMD 22/12/21

Play and Recreation S106 Capital Funded Schemes 

2021/22

Mike Moran

ICMD 22/12/21

MINOR AMENDMENT TO STREET NAMING AND 

NUMBERING POLICY REGARDING 

REPLACEMENT OR ADDITION STREETNAME 

SIGNS FOR EXISTING STREETS 
Mark Hand/Jane Pratt 03/12/21

ICMD 22/12/21

Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011

Alan Burkitt/Lisa Dymock 22/10/21

IMCD 08/12/21

2022/23 Community Council and Police Precepts 

draft

Jon Davies 07/05/21

IMCD 08/12/21

Council Tax Base and associated matters

Ruth Donovan 07/05/21

Cabinet 01/12/21

Cabinet approval of the methodology for prioritising 

highway resurfacing and maintenance projects Mark Hand 07/10/21

Cabinet 01/12/21

Regional approach to employability

Hannah Jones 04/11/21

Cabinet 01/12/21

CORONAVIRUS STRATEGY: PROGRESS AND 

NEXT STEPS

Matt Gatehouse

Cabinet 01/12/21
Welsh Church Fund Working group - meeting 6 held 

on 4th November 2021
Dave Jarrett 27/04/21

Didn't arrive

P
age 167



Cabinet 01/12/21
2021/22 Revenue and Capital Monitoring report - 

month 6
Peter Davies/Jon Davies 27/04/21

ICMD 24/11/21 SPG S106 Supplementary Planning Guidance  
Adoption of SPG clarifying how S106 contributions are 

calculated following consultation
Mark Hand / Phillip Thomas 26/04/21

ICMD 10/11/21 AWPOG Capital Funding for Fixed Play Provision Mike Moran

Council 04/11/21 Climate and Decarbonisation Strategy

To endorse an updated climate strategy and action 

plan which will introduce new programmes of activity to 

achieve the council’s clear policy commitment to 

reduce carbon emissions.

Matthew Gatehouse / Hazel 

Clatworthy
19/05/21

Council 04/11/21 Diversity and Democracy Declaration John Pearson 12/02/21

Council 04/11/21 Council Diary John Pearson 29/09/21

Council 04/11/21 Safeguarding Evaluative Report Jane Rodgers 20/07/21

Council 04/11/21 ISA260 - MCC Accounts Jon Davies

Council 04/11/21
Statement of Gambling Policy and Proposals for 

Casinos.  
Linda O'Gorman 21/09/21

Cabinet 03/11/21 Ombudsman’s annual letter Annette Evans 13/10/21

P
age 168



Cabinet 03/11/21

ICT Security and Resilience

Sian Hayward 07/10/21

Cabinet 03/11/21

Active Travel Network Maps

Paul Sullivan 13/11/20

ICMD 27/10/21 Museum object disposal Rachael Rogers 09/06/21

ICMD 27/10/21
LDP Annual Monitoring Report and Development 

Management Annual Performance Report 
Endorsements of reports for submission to WG Mark Hand / Craig O'Connor 26/04/21

Cabinet 06/10/21
Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 5 held 

on 23rd September 2021
Dave Jarrett 27/04/21

Cabinet 06/10/21
Consultation on the proposals to establish an all-

through school, Abergavenny.

Cabinet to receive the consultation report and consider 

recommendations on proposed way forward / whether 

to publish statutory notices.

Debbie Graves 26/05/21

Council 23/09/21

Director of Social Services Annual Report

Julie Boothroyd

Council 23/09/21 Borough Theatre Funding Proposal cath Fallon

Council 23/09/21 Corporate Plan Annual Report Emma Davies 17/08/21

Council 23/09/21

Audit Committee Annual Report

Phillip White 29/06/21

P
age 169



ICMD 22/09/21

Leave Averaging & Holiday Pay Deferred to 13th October

Katherine Cameron

Cabinet 15/09/21

Placemaking Charter

Council signs up to the Placemaking Charter Mark Hand / Craig O'Connor 28/04/21

Cabinet 15/09/21 Borough Theatre Funding Proposal

Needs to go 15
th
 Sept as won’t be ready for 1

st
 Sept – 

Cabinet want to endorse this before it goes to Council 

for funding to be secured on 23
rd

 Sept

Cath Fallon

Cabinet 15/09/21 Code of Corporate Governance Andrew Wathan 20//07/2021

Cabinet 15/09/21
Welsh Church Fund Working group - meeting 4 held 

on 22nd July 2021
Dave Jarrett 27/04/21

Cabinet 15/09/21

Regeneration projects and Placemaking grant 

submission To endorse the indicative Placemaking Grant 

submission for £791,429 made under the Welsh 

Government Transforming Towns funding

Mark Hand 29/07/21

Cabinet 15/09/21 Afghan National Relocation Scheme

To re-state Cabinet’s commitment to continued 

participation in the Home Office Afghan National 

Relocation scheme in line with the desire for 

Monmouthshire to be a county of sanctuary for those 

fleeing persecution.

Lisa Dymock/Matt Gatehouse8/16/2021 - amended 20/8/21

ICMD 08/09/21 Abergavenny Town Floodlights Mike Moran 26/06/21 23/06/21

ICMD 18/08/21

Consultation on the review of school places in 

Caldicot town

Matthew Jones 21/07/21

ICMD 18/08/21 SPG S106 Supplementary Planning Guidance  Matk Hand / Phillip Thomas 01/05/21

P
age 170



ICMD 18/08/21
Procurement of PaybyPhone as an additional 

payment service for our car parks (Jane Pratt)
Agree to procure PaybyPhone Mark Hand 29/07/21

ICMD 04/08/21
Planning Policy discretionary service charges (Bob 

Greenland)
Agree Candidate Site assessment charges Rachel Lewis 29/07/21

Cabinet 28/07/21

Securing resources for ICT resilience

To provide appropriate investment for security 

resilience in ICT systems
Sian Hayward 30/06/21

Cabinet 28/07/21

Regional Collaboration: Gwent Public Service Board

Richard Jones 14/07/21

Cabinet 28/07/21

2021/22 Revenue and Capital Monitoring report

Peter Davies/Jon Davies 27/04/21

Council 22/07/21

investments in Leisure Centres

Marie Bartlett / Ian Saunders

ICMD 14/07/21 Museum object Disposal Rachael Rogers/Lisa Dymock 19/05/21

Cabinet 07/07/21

Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 3 held 

on 24th June 2021

Dave Jarrett 27/04/21

Cabinet 07/07/21

Capital Slippage

Jon Davies 11/06/22

Cabinet 07/07/21

•	Mutual Delegation of Strategic Procurement Services

Cath Fallon

P
age 171



Council 24/06/21 Chief Officer's Report Will Mclean 19/05/21

Council 24/06/21 Shire Hall / Monmouth Museum Matthew lewis 24/05/21

Council 24/06/21

LDP Preferred Strategy endorsement for consultation 

Mark Hand 21/09/20

Cabinet 09/06/21

2020/21 Revenue and Capital Monitoring outturn The purpose of this report is to provide Members with 

information on the forecast outturn position of the 

Authority at end of month reporting for 2020/21 

financial year
Peter Davies/Jon Davies 27/04/21

Cabinet 09/06/21

Welsh Church Fund Working Group - meeting 1 held 

on 15th April 2021 and meeting 2 held on 13th May 

2021 Dave Jarrett 27/04/21

Cabinet 09/06/21

Digital and Data  To seek approval for the creation of a new Digital 

Design and Innovation Team, to strengthen our 

information governance arrangements and to broaden 

the remit of the existing performance team to include 

data analytics’.

Emma Jackson 13/05/21

Cabinet 09/06/21

Shire Hall / Monmouth Museum – to consider the 

outcome of the feasibility study

Matthew Lewis/Ian Saunders 05/02/21

Council 13/05/21

Outside Bodies

John Pearson

Council 13/05/21

Appointment to Committees

John Pearson

Council 13/05/21

Political Balance

Matt Phillips

P
age 172



Council 13/05/21

Freedom of the Borough

Joe Skidmore 22/04/21

Council 13/05/21

Climate and Decarbonisation Strategy and Action 

Plan 

Hazel Clatworthy 14/04/21

ICMD 12/05/21

A Nation of Sancturary - Asylum Dispersal Scheme - 

Moved to Cabinet

To provide Council with an progress update on the 

Climate and Decarbonisation Strategy and Action Plan 

which was developed following the passing of a motion 

to declare a climate emergency.
Matt Gatehouse 19/04/21

ICMD 12/05/21

Play Action Plan Cabinet Member Richard John Report originally on Cabinet Agenda

Matthew Lewis/Mike Moran/Ian Saunders 16/03/21

Cabinet 14/04/21

Leisure Centre Investments

Marie Bartlett 22/03/21

Cabinet 14/04/21

Statutory Consultation to establish 4-19 school in 

Abergavenny

Cath Saunders 03/03/21

Cabinet 14/04/21

Welsh Church Fund Working Group meeting

The purpose of this report is to make recommendations 

to Cabinet on the Schedule of Applications 2020/21 - 

meeting 6 held on 11th March 2021

Dave Jarrett 02/04/20

Cabinet 14/04/21

Whole Authority Strategic Risk Assessment

Richard Jones 02/03/21

ICMD 07/04/21

Strategic Procurement

Cath Fallon/P Murphy 09/03/21

ICMD 24/03/21 SPG S106 Supplementary Planning Guidance  

To Clarify how S106 contributions are 

calculated/deferred from 13/1/21 and 24/02/21 

deferred UFN

Phil Thomas/Mark Hand 01/05/19

P
age 173



Council 11/03/21

Appointments to outside bodies

To appoint a representative to the Wye Navigation 

Advisory Committee
Matt Gatehouse 08/02/21

Council 11/03/21

Council Tax Resolution Report

Ruth Donovan 02/04/20

P
age 174


	Agenda
	4 Public Spaces Protection Order on Dog Controls
	Appendix 1 Public Consultation + Results
	Appendix2, Dogs Trust Response 13.8.21
	Appendix 3, Future Generations Evaluation
	Background Paper, Report 12.3.20
	StatutoryGuidanceFrontline
	Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and  Policing Act 2014:  Reform of anti-social behaviour powers Statuto
	Contents
	Introduction
	Part 1: Putting victims first
	1.1 Community Trigger  
	1.2 Community Remedy  

	Part 2: More effective powers
	2.1 Early and informal interventions 
	2.2 Civil Injunction 
	2.3 Criminal behaviour order 
	2.4 Dispersal power 
	2.5 Community protection notice  
	2.6 Public spaces protection order 
	2.7 Closure power  
	2.8 New absolute ground for possession  



	5 Budget Monitoring
	20220310 SCOMM Select - Revenue Capital outturn forecast month 9 - Appendix 2 - Service variance analysis v2
	20220310 SCOMM Select - Revenue Capital outturn forecast month 9 - Appendix 3 - Overall Revenue Budget Savings Matrix 2021-22
	20220310 SCOMM Select - Revenue Capital outturn forecast month 9 - Appendix 5 - SCOMM select comment

	6 To confirm minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	8 Strong Communities forward work programme
	9 Cabinet & Council forward work programme

